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what’s inside the reports

Annual Review and Summary Annual Report Corporate Responsibility
Financial Statement and Financial Statements Review

Read a full review of our UK Read our full financial Read about our sccial,

and international business staternents and accounts. environmental and ethical

and a summary of our policies throughout our business.

financial statement.

These reports are available on-line at www.tesco.com/corporate

How to find out more on-line

Everyyear, more and more information is available
for our sharehotders, siaff and customers
on-line at www.tesco.comicorporate

Talking Tesco

Qur Talking Tesco website is helping us to lisien
to our custormers, suppliers and staff more easily.
If you would like to make a comment please log

on to www.tesco.comfialkingtesco
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the Tesco story

This is the story of an international business...

and how we strive every day to do the best
we can for our customers. ..
why ‘Every Little Helps' makes a difference

thanks to the staff we're so proud of...
why happy people means better customer service

working hard to make things better...
making things ‘better, simpler, cheaper’

offering an unbeatable range of products...
from Value to Finest, we try to cater for all tastes

helping you make the right choices for you and your family. ..

giving customers more information about our products

while building strength in non-food...
how we are offering a one-stop-shop, in-store and on-line

through stores designed and operated for customers. ..
how we tailor our stores for our customers

and tailored to the communities which they serve. ..
how we approach a new market

so you can shop from whereveryou like...
our home shopping service

making things simple...

simplifying complicated markets

while contributing to our local communities...
giving something back

with suppliers who understand their markets...
working together to meet our customers’ needs

and leading the way on the environment...
environmental commitments throughout the business

and benefiting all of our stakeholders.

The UKis our biggest market...

our expansion overseas includes six countries in Europe...

and 636 stores across Asia

Financial highlights
Chairman’s staterment

Chief Executive’s statement
The Board

Summary Directors’ Report
Summary Financial Statement
Investor information

Financial calendar
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This is the story of an
international business...

It is 60 years since Tesco was first listed on the London Stock
Exchange, as Tesco Stores (Holdings) Ltd, with a share price of
25 pence.

For the first 50 years, we worked hard to establish our brand
and build up a strong UK business, by ensuring that everything |
we did was driven by a never-ending ambition to improve our
customers’ shopping trips.

It was only ten years ago that we laid out a new strategy for
growth, a strategy which looked to find new customers, new
markets, new products and new opportunities.

This year, we have celebrated opening our one thousandth store
outside the UK, including our five hundredth store in Central
Europe and our one hundredth store in Hungary, one of our first
international markets.

QOver the last ten years we have built up a thriving international
business, accessing markets with over two billion people, and
enabling us to reach out to an increasing number of customers
all around the world.

More recently, in 2004, we announced our entry into China.
Last year, we announced our plans for an exciting new entry
into the United States, and we are currently looking at the
possibility of an entry to India.

This is the story of an international business — what makes
us tick, what brings us together, what sets us apart and what
drives us forward.

This is the story of an international business, and it is a story
which is only just beginning...
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in China we now

haV(:.‘ 47 stores. Su Wei, Zhenbei Hypermarkef, Shanghai, China



This year, we asked over 46,000
customers to tell us what we
could do to improve the
shopping trip for everyone.

Aydin Hypermarket, Turkey
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...and how we strive every day to do
the best we can for our customers...

The 2ssence of what it means
to be Tesco can be summed up

in three words: ‘Every Little Helps',

Our store managers, our buyers,
our ¢eneral assistants, our delivery
drivers, in fact anyone who works
for Tesco, can use these words to
help them understand why their
role is so important,

It is sometimes difficult to make
big changes straight away, but
‘Every Little Helps’ recognises that
small improvements help to make
the s1opping experience a little
bit better for customers, and we
shou d constantly seek to improve
everything we do.

There is nothing about being
Tescc that makes us automatically
bette- than anyone else at meeting
customers' neads. However, by
rmaking our siores a bit easier

to get around, having a little
more choice, being a bit cheaper,
saving a few minutes at the
checkout and making sure our
staff give the best possible service,
we czn make sure we are always
one step ahead.

Of course, being Tesco, we set
ourselves demanding targets
and it and when we hit them,
we ra se the bar to make sure
we never stand still. For example,
this year, we invested in a new
systern which times exactly how
leng customers have had to wait
at our checkouts. Using the data
this svstem provides, we have
been abte to improve our staff
scheduling, resulting in aver
350,000 more customers not
having to queue.

In total, we have achieved
efficiency savings of over £350
million this year through our Step
Change Programme, which brings
together many initiatives to make
our business better for customers,
simpler for our staff and cheaper
for Tesco. These savings have
helped us to cope well with
increased energy, rate and rent
costs, at the same time as
improving our offer for customers.

We have also recognised that

if we can collaborate with cur
suppliers effectively, we can
improve our understanding

of each other’s businesses. By
creating full-time jobs for the
staff of our suppliers — working
alongside our commercial teams,
both companies have an ideal
opportunity to share knowledge,
remove obstacles and defeat
problermns that can sometimes
occur. Ultimately this means
that we deliver more reliably

for customers and we and our

partners increase our sales.

We reduced the
lead time in our
supply chain for
over a hundred
suppliers of fresh
products. Later
orders mean more
accurate predictions
of exactly how
much fresh food
products we need
in a particular store.

Because of the

increased accuracy,
this has improved
our availability,

‘increased our sales

and helped us to
reduce waste.

<

Self-service checkouts

The introduction and roli-out of
self-service checkouts has also
helped us ta improve service

by speeding up transactions and
shortening gueues for customers.

These checkouts are now being
used in over 450 UK stores with
many more to come. Nearly three
million customers are now using
self-service checkouts and they
teil us that they do so because
they are quick and easy to use.
The stores where they have been
introduced, almost two-thirds —
have seen significant increases
in customers receiving our ‘one
in front’ checkout promise.

it pays to be green

Since the launch of our initiative to cut the
use of carrier bags, by rewarding customers
with Green Clubcard Points, we have saved

on average 13 million carrier bags each week.
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...thanks to the staff we're so proud of...

The Tesco team is made up of
over 400,000 people and it might
seem like an impossible job to
get everyone pulling in the same
direction, but we know that if we
look after our people, they will
look after our customers.

When we have talked to our staff
about what they want from their
job, they agree that they are
motivated by similar things:

* to be treated with respect
* a manager who helps me
+ an interesting job

* an opportunity to get on

These things form a key part

of Tesco's values and are essential
to the way we work. At Tesco, we
strive every day to treat people
how we wauld like to be treated.

As Tesco grows and develops,

so do our people, and one of
our challenges is to make sure
that we transfer the skills and
knowledge our pegple have around
the Group. We have created

an Internationa! Development
programme to make sure that
we are identifying talent in every
part of the world and providing
the support to enable those
people on the programme to
become future leaders within
the business.

This year, Ryszard Tomaszewski
returned to Poland to become
the Company?s first Polish Chief
Executive, after completing his
CEO development programme
in the UK, which included being
responsible for 250 superstores
in the north of England. Ryszard's
appointment is a great example
of our strategy to develop local
people in the countries where
we operate.

We are constantly striving to find
innovative ways o bring young
people who have great potential
into our business. In September
last year, we launched A-Level
Options, giving 100 young people
the opportunity to goonto a
scheme, which fast-tracks them
into management. We recognised
that there was a place for those
people who did not want to go
on to further education. We are
opening this scheme up to even
more young people in the year
ahead.

improving the qualifications of
our staff is a great way of keeping
them motivated whilst helping

.them to develop further. This

year, we will become the first
retailer in the UK to offer 40 of
our managers the opportunity
to gain a foundation degree
alongside their usual job.

O‘ur Shopping Lists

determine what we strive

to achieve every day.

In the UK alone,
we have appointed
over 3,000 managers
this year and have
over 5,500 staff
working towards
doing a bigger
job. Our Options
programme

gives our staff the
opportunity to
drive their own
development.

Sharing in Success

All of our staff in the UK, at

all levels, can share in Tesco's
success, through share schemes
and one of the best pension
schemes in the market.

In the UK, over 165,000 of our
staff have a personal stake in
Tesco’s future, through shares
and share incentive schemes.
Last May, we awarded a record
£77 million through our Shares
in Success scherne. 50,000

of our staff were also able to
benefit when our Save As You
Earn scheme matured in
February, giving them access
to shares worth £148 million,

Perhaps because of this, many
of our staff are very keen to
contribute their ideas on how
we could improve the way we
work. As well as our Tesco Week
in Store Together (TWIST)
programme, which involves over
3,000 senior managers spending
a weekwarking alongside
colleagues in store, we also have
a First Steps programme, which
means that anyone can feed in
their ideas about the business,
however big or small.




Our staff strivelevery
day to give the very best
in customer service.

AYOLS 03531 3HL

a Mott, Bar Hill Extra, Cambridge, UK



We now have self-service
checkouts in over 450 stores
in the UK.

Kgnsin?amn Superstore, London, UK



...working hard to make things better...

Every single one of our businesses
around the world operates in a
very competitive environment.
Competition is good for Teseo.

It keeps us on our toes and
ensures that we are always
improving and making our stares,
our service and our products even
better for our customers. However,
this can be quite hard work, so we
also have to make sure we keep
things simgle, and that we are
efficient. We look for ways to help
customers spend less by cutting
prices, so that they benefit from
the changes we make withcut
having to pay more,

Not only are we working hard

to make things better for our
customers, but we are also
waorking hard to make things
better for our staff. For example,
within distribution we have
introduced staff forums, Optians,
Team 5 and First Steps. We have
retrained our managers so that
they are now working on the
shop floor shoulder-to-shoulder
with our staff, which has had

a positive impact on morale.

It would be fair to say that
Tesco is full of people who have
a passion for making things
Better, Simpler and Cheaper.
It's not about Good, Simple and
Cheap - if it was, these people
would eventuslly decide they
had done enocugh and that the
job was finished. Instead, they
relentlessly look for the next
opportunity for improvement.

There are lots of examples of
this, many of which happen
behind the scenes.

One recent development is
shelf-ready packaging. This was
first brought in to make it easier
for our staff to fill the shelves.

It helped make sure that we
kept products in stock and freed
up time to help us to reinvest

in having more staff on our
checkouts.

Not being satisfied with that,
we have changed the design
of much of the packaging,

so that it looks more attractive
on the shelves, but perhaps
more importantly, uses far less
cardboard than traditional
packaging. We have also put
in place processes to make sure
we remove empty packaging
from the shelves so that
customers ¢an quickly see
what they are looking far. We
then recycle the cardboard
that we remove.

Qver the past year, we have
rolled out shelf-ready packaging
to a further 7,000 products.
Qver 600 of these were grocery
and househaold products, which
have been moved from a box to
a tray, giving a 50% reduction
in cardboard.

Plastic  Glass Metal

We have worked
with our suppliers
to redesign our
bread trays. Every
store now has only
one style of bread
tray rather than five,
This has simplified
our back door
operation and
because we have
used a very efficient
design, we have
saved over 400
tonnes of plastic.

recycle

Tesco in a Box

One of the most impartant
advances that helps us do things
more efficiently is information
technology. Tesco handles a

vast amount of data each and
every day, with transactions
taking place all around the world.

In 2001, we started a project
called ‘Tesco in a Box’ by
identifying the best practice
processes for all areas of the
business, and designing a
standard suite of systems that
we can roll out to each and every
market. This project has now
been enlarged to include all
aspects of our operating model,
it means that the systems in our
stores can talk to the systemns in
our distribution centres, our head
offices and even some of our
suppliers, helping us to do a
better, more effective job for
customers all around the world.

These best practice processes and
systems are being implemented
fully in our start-up operation in
the United States, allowing us

to focus on the customer offer
rather than reinventing the core
processes of the business,

We continue to adapt the model
to local markets and we plan to
introduce it to the Czech Republic,
Slovakia, Thailand and Malaysia.

We are investing £15 million in world-
leading automated recycling machines —
helping customers double the amount

they recycle.
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...offering an unbeatable range
of products...

We see it as our job not to dictate
what customers should buy, but to
make sure that we do everything
we can to give them the widest
possible choice of products.

Tesco has been serving customers
day in, day out, for over eighty
years, and this has helped us to
understand the kind of things
that customers are looking for.
But it doesn't make us experts

in knowing exactly what each
custormer wants at any given
morment of any given day. All
customers are individuals and
each wants to be able to make’
split-second choices about what
he or she wants to buy. Maybe
they want to save a bit of money,
buy locally farmed vegetables or
make sure that there’s something
healthy in the freezer for the kids.

Our new Tesco Ingredients range
is perfect for our customers who
love cooking, our Free From range
is invaluable to those with food
allergies and our Wholefoods
brand appeals to our customers
who have a growing appetite

for nutritious, healthy foods.

This year we have added over
250 Finest lines and over 1,000
premium products, giving
customers even more choice

for their weekly shop.

ranges

Qur new Tesco Ingredients range
now has over 50 lines, with another
20 due to be launched this year.

There are now over 50 Tesco

Kids products, including packs of
organic bananas and nutritionally-
balanced ready meals. These
products have been put together
with the help of over 650 children
between the ages of 7 and 11
and are designed with fun in
mind, whilst reassuring parents
that their children are not filling
themselves with lots of artificial
additives and preservatives.

Organics on the move

This year saw one of the
biggest developments sa far
in our Organics product range.

We used to display nearly all of
our organic products together

in one part of the store, so that
customers who particularly wanted
to follow an organic lifestyle could
readily identify the products they
wanted to buy.

As we continued to talk and listen
to our customers, we have learmt
that they were now keen to be
able to see organic and nen-
organic products side by side,

so that they could easily compare
the quality and prices before
deciding which to buy. As a result
of this, we made the decision to
incorporate every organic product
into the relevant category on our
shelves; since doing this, sales
have increased by almost 40%.

Cherokee and
Florence + Fred,
two of our acclaimed
clothing brands,
have now been
rolled out to our
four Central
European countries.
Our customers in
Hungary, Poland,
the Czech Republic
and Slovakia can
now buy great value
fashion simifar to
that available in

the UK.

Fresh in the Capital

Our customers in London have

a huge choice of sandwich bars —
where they can purchase freshly-
made sandwiches. We don’t have
the facilities to be able to produce
sandwiches in our stores, so we
worked with Bradgate Bakery to
develop a range of sandwiches
called ‘Fresh in the Capital’ that
are made during the night and
delivered direct (o stores first thing
in the morning. Every sandwich
that is made is on our shelves
within two and a half hours of
production.

tnitially launched ing ten stores

in May of last year, the customer
feedback has been so positive
that we have now rolled the range
out to a further 40 stores and
have plans to launch some great
new products this Spring.




In September 2006, we launched
our own-brand Legou Value
products In our stores in

AHQLS ODS313HL
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In just 12 months, the
proportion of our customers
buying Organics is up by 40%.




.helping you make the right choices
for you and your family...

-~

As we are all becoming even more
aware of the link between food
and our health, healthy eating
and a balanced diet are becoming
increasing priorities for cur
customers. The provenance and
origin of food is also becoming an
imgortant factor when custormers
are choosing what to buy. We all
like to make sure we know what
we're eating, where it came from
and how healthy it is.

We also all like to treat ourselves
from time-to-time. The thing is, |
we are all different: one person’s
idea of a treat would be a big slice
of chocolate cake, another’s may
be a restaurant-quality meal that
they can prepare in minutes; yet
anather's might be getting great
quality ingredients to cook up in
their own recipe.

As well as giving customers the
choice they have come to expect
from Tesce, we have invested a
lot of time and energy in trying

to give thern as much information
as possible, to help them make
that choice.

This year, we continued our roll
out of front-of-pack nutritional
labelling, to 6,600 own-label
products.

-
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This enables customers to see
at a glance the proportion of fat,
salt, sugar, calories and saturated
fatin a standard portion, so that
they can decide the best way

to put together a balanced diet
for their families. The best thing,
at least as far as some of our
customers are concerned, is that
we are helping them make
informed choices. If they fancy
that slice of chocolate cake, they
can perhaps choose something
heatthier for a main course —
we're not telling them what they
should and shouldn't eat.

Thanks to the unique insight

we have into what our customers
choose to buy, we have found
out that many of them, once
they have been given this extra
information, choose more healthy
products, For example, sales of
healthier ready meals have
increased, with a corresponding
decline in some of the less-
healthy products.

In response to this change, we
have put together teams of
chefs, nutritionists and tasters to
reformulate many of the recipes
for our prepared products, to help
make them maore healthy. Over
the last twelve months, we have
removed salt and hydrogenated
fat frorm over 1,300 lines.

TESCO R
E‘-‘ = l

Since we rolled out
nutritional labelling
to our sandwich
range, we saw

sales of our Healthy
Living salmaon and
cucumber sandwich
increase by 46%
and the standard
variety decrease

by 30%.

Willow Farm chicken

Willow Farm chicken was
launched this year to
complement our standard
chicken range. What makes
Willow Farm different is that the
chickens are & slower growing
breed that develop better flavour
and greater succulence and
texture, Willow Farm chickens
are fed a specially formulated
cereal-based vegetarian diet.
They are housed in spacious
barns with straw bales to perch
on and the barns have large
windows providing the birds .
with natural light.

We launched Willow Farm
chicken because we wanted to
produce an affordable product
with outstanding eating qualities,

appealing to a range of customers.

It has also helped us to improve
the welfare of a large number
of chickens.

Ourwork on Willow Farm is
the result of our collaboration
with the Foad Animal Initiative
(www.faifarms.co.uk) and

our suppliers.

Sales of lower-fat ready
meals increased when we

||||ﬂ[ introduced GDA labelling.
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...while building strength in non-food...

When we first started putting
non-food prodijcts into our stores,
our ambition was to be as strong
in non-feod as we are in food.
We now have built up a range of
products that is strong encugh to
attract customers in its own right,
but we are still keen to improve
and extend our offer.

Not only do we have great value
items, such as the Value DVD
player for £17.74 and the flat-
screen TV for £129.97 but we have
extended our range to include the
leading brands and high quality
products, such as digital cameras
and satellite navigation systems.

Over the last year, we have
extended 23 of our stores, adding
well over half a million sq ft of
non-food space. Many of these
extensions have been made
possible by adding in a mezzanine
floor, so that customers can enjoy
a completely different shopping
experience for clothing and
electrical items.

Even with this additional space,
less than one in ten people in
the UK ¢an easily get to one

of our large Extras.

Because of this, in September
2006 we started Tesco Direct,
a brand new on-line general
merchandise offer, with over
8,000 products, half of which
were brand new to Tesco and
couldn't be found in any of
our stores.

Tesco Direct

The range available in Tesco Direct
is equivalent to everyone in the
UK having easy access to one of
our 120,000 sq ft Extras.

The idea behind Tesco Direct was
simple: how could we help make
custormers’ lives less complicated?
We knew that they hated waiting
a long time for their products,

50 we made next day delivery
standard for small items, and

five to ten day delivery standard
for big items like furniture, which
often take weeks to order. Most
people also dislike having to wait
in for deliveries, so we frialled a
unique two-hour delivery window,
building on the success of our
grocery home shopbing business.

* Some of our customers told us

that they didn't want to be pinned
down to a particular time at all,

so we decided to offer a delivery
to store option, so that they could
pick up their order from their local
store whenever it suited them,

The custormer response so far

has been very encouraging. When
we launched the full offerin
March 2007, with a 1,000-page
catalogue and an increased range
of over 11,000 products on-line,
customer orders more than
trebled on previous weeks.

Find out more at
www.tesco.comidirect

QOur on-line DVD
rental service gives
our customers access
to almost 60,000
DVDs and games.
Customers have

the convenience of
simply going on-line,
selecting one of

the three packages
available and then’
having the DVD or
game of their choice
delivered to their
door. Last year, over
four million DVDs

and games were
rented in this way.

New products, new markets,
new challenges

It's not just our stores that make
up our averseas businesses - we
have a team of people all around
the world looking for great quatity
non-food products that we can
sell at the best possible prices.

This team includes staff working
in buying offices from Milan to
Bangladesh, as well as our Asian
sourcing hub in Hong Kong.

There are many challenges
working in such diverse markets,
not least the cultural and political
differences that exist between
countries. As well as having
teams of commercial experts

in each product category, we
employ teams of trading
standards experts who check
that our suppliers are operating
in a safe, ethical and legai way.




We have dedicated staff D
our customers make inf@med
choices in our electrical dep¥
all around the world.

AHOLS 09531 3HL

A 7.Augustowski, Katowice Hypermarket, Poland



Our Express stores provide
convenience for local
neighbourhoods, with great
quality, low-priced food.

Halland Park Express, London, UK




...through stores designed
and operated for customers...

We are only able to grow our
business if customers choose
to shop with us.

Whenever we look to open &

new store, our first priority is to
find out what it is that customers
want in their local store, how they
would like the store to look and

what kind of facilities they would .

like it to have. Is it likely to be busy
in the evenings, at the end of

the school day or s it more of

a weekend destination store?
Would customers like to have

a café so that they can catch

up over a spot of lunch cris

it more important to have a
bigger produce department?

Every store, in every part of every
country, undergoes an extensive
consultation with local customers,
local communities and local
autherities to ensure that it is
developed with them in mind.
It's part of being a responsible
company, but it’s also common
sense — if you want customers

to choose to shop with you,

ask them what it is that would
help them make that choice.

Of course, it’s not just in our

core UK market that this applies.

In 2006, we acquired 11
hypermarkets in the Czech
Republic from Carrefour, one
of our international competitors.

Before we started converting
them to Tesco hypermarkets
last year, we asked the local
customers what they weuld like
us to do. They told us that they
glready liked the stores, but that
they would love to see a bigger
produce and fresh meat
selection and a stronger and
more fashionable clothing offer.
We have invested considerable
time and effort in refreshing the
stores and making the changes
that customers had asked us for.
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Our service to you

a good listener

We try to engage with the
community to better understand
local issues and concerns.

Our stores are
designed not only

for our customers but
also the communities

that they serve.

Our regeneration
partnership stores
work with Job Centre
Plus to recruit a
significant number
of their staff from
the long-term
unemployed, single
parents and disabled
people. We offer
successful applicants

a training programme

with a guaranteed
job once itis
completed. So far,
we have opened
17 regeneration
stores and have
offered jobs to over
4,000 long-term
unemployed and
disadvantaged
people.

Producing a better display

it can be hard wark making sure
we always have enough fresh fruit
and vegetables in stock, as these
are some of our most popular
items — aimost 10% of our sales
come from these products and
demand can vary a lot — affected
by many factors including the
weather.

Because of this, our teams have
developed lots of innovative
ways of making it easier to keep
products in stock — merchandisable
units which can be wheeled
straight off our delivery trucks
and out an to the shop flocr, and
green trays which suppifiers fill up
with product that can go straight
on the shelf saving tonnes of
cardboard and lots of handling
for staff.

Over the last year, we began to
receive feedback from customers
that, while they understocd that
the things we had done made it
easier for them ta get the very
freshest produce, sometimes it
could be difficult to find what they
were iooking for as the green trays
looked quite similar,

Acting on this feedback, we have
made a number of changes to
the produce department. We've
changed the way the trays are
displayed, to make it easier to see
what’s inside, we've changed the
tray liners, so that customers can
readily identify Organic, British
and Finest products and we've
added in clearer signage to help
custemers find staple items like
potatoes, carrots and tomatoes.
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...and tailored to the communities
which they serve...

Later this year, we will open our
first stores in the United States of
America. Customers on the West
Coast - in Phoenix, Los Angeles,
San Diego and Las Vegas — will get
the opportunity to chogse one of
our Fresh & Easy Neighborhood
Market stores to pick up great
value, high guality products.

We have chosen to go to the
United States, one of the largest
and most exciting markets in the
world, as we believe that we have
learnt a lot from our ten years

of experience in other markets
outside of the UK, especially the
way in which we have been able
to tailor our stores to reflect the
needs of local customers,

But what does this mean? 1t's
not just about the name we
choose to put above the door,
it's about the very heart of the
business and how we get to
understand our customers.

This starts before we even decide
whether or not to enter a new
rmarket. We have been very
interested in the US for over

two decades. To start with, this
was because there were lots of
retailers doing lots of innovative
things which we thought might
help us improve our offer for
customners back home.

Qur Fresh & Easy Neighborhood Market

Recently, we felt that the skills

we had picked up overseas might
help us offer a better service to
American consumers than the ane
they were currently receiving. To
test this, we put together a team
of people, who lived on the West
Coast for almost a year. Some
lived in people’s homes, following
them around as they shopped
and even having a geod look
through what they kept in their
fridges and their cupboards.

We learnt that many American
consurmers find it quite frustrating
that they often have to shop in
several different stores to get what
they want, even if they just want
to pick up a fewitems.

We also found that fresh products
sometimes aren’t quite as fresh
as they should be, as they've
often had to travel great distances
before they end up on the shelf.
There are alseo lots of convenience
products, but very few healthy
choices for those who find that
they don’'t have much tume to
prepare their own food.

brand products will have no added trans
fats and no artificial colours or flavours. Neighborhood Market

We combined all of these things
with our learnings from running
Express stores across Europe and
Asia, to create a new way of
shopping for American consumers.
We thought it was a great
concept, but wanted to find out
whether lacal customers agreed
with us. Under the cover of making
a movie {one of the advantages
of starting in Californial}, we built
a store inside a warehouse and
filled it with the kind of products
we wanted to sell.

We invited a panel of over 200
Armerican consumers to watk
around the store and give us
their feedback. As always, we've,
taken it on board, adapted our
plans and got straight to work

on building what we think will

be a great business in the world’s
largest economy. And as always,
the customers will be the first

to judge how we've done, when

they get the chance to visit

one of our stores.

We recently announced the
installation of a solar panel roofing
systern, as part of the construgtion
of our distribution centre in
Riverside, California.

At 500,000 sqft, the $13 millien
project is the largest roof-mounted
solar instaltation in California.

Local Los Angeles company,
Solar Integrated, will install the
energy-saving device which will
produce over 2.6 kilowatt hours
per annum, providing nearly a
fifth of our chilled/frozen/grocery
distribution centre's power supply
and saving around 1,200 iennes
of CO, emissions each year.

All Fresh & Easy Neighborhood
Market stores will be equipped
with energy-efficient freezer
cabinets which will use LED rather
than fluorescent fighting and

will have madified refrigerators

1o cut epergy use by 10%.

Find out more at
www.freshandeasy.com



We will be creating over 2,500jobs-in our
Fresh & Easy Neighborhood Market stores.
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Our dotcom business in South
Korea offers customers a
choice of over 15,000 products
when they shop on-line.

“-,
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-

Jong Won Lee, Homeplus.com Seoul, South Korea



...S0 you can shop from wherever you like...

To make sure that our customers
get the same great choice as they
have come to expect when doing
their own shopping, tesco.com
operates by asking custormers to
send thefr orders in on-line and
then by picking their orders from
our existing stores.

Today the tesco.com model
operates in the UK, the Republic
of Ireland and South Korea. On-
line grocery sales have exceeded
£1 billion for the first time in the
UK alone, We have an active
customer base of 850,000 and
more than 250,000 orders are
now being completed each week.

In the UK, nearly 1,860 vans
operate out of 294 stores. In our
Newcastle store our service is so
popular that there are now 18
vans delivering to local customers.

Drivers deliver between 9am and
11pm, and our staff start picking
our customers' orders from bam.
A record-breaking 1.3 million
shoppers chose tesco.com to
deliver their presents and
groceries over Christrmas, and

to make sure that these were

all picked successfully, our staff
started picking even earlier,

at 4am.

To help us continue to deliver this
success, we have now opened our
first tesco.com only store. Some
peopte might call it a warehouse,
but we have been very careful to
make the distinction. By laying the
products out in the same way as
in a standard store and by filling
up the shelves in the same way,
we have been able to ensure that
the pickers choose customers’
shopping with the same care

and attention that they would

do if they were picking from

their local superstare,

Situated in Croyden, South
London, the tesco.com only store
helps us to meet the demand for
our home shopping service that
the Jocal stores were not able

to meet. Although these kind

of stores den't replace our normal
tesco.com maodel, there may be
a few more locations around the
country where they could help

us offer our service to more
customers.

tesco.com

Many people
associate our on-line
service exclusively
with grocery
products. However,
we are also a wine
merchant, with a
range of over 900
wines, including
150 that are only
available on our
on-line service. We
also offer customers
a beautiful range of
courier-delivered
bouquets, and
indoor and outdoor
plants through our
on-line flower shop.

We have over 9,000 staff picking our
customers’ on-line orders in our UK stores.

Green van men
take to the streets

Many people know the huge
difference that we can make by
delivering customers’ shopping
to their doors. Perhaps they don't
have a car, are recovering from
an operation and can’t leave

the house or perhaps they have
a young family and are short

on time.

Tesco.com has made a big
commitment to reduce CO,
emissions thraughout the
business. Because our dotcom
vans visit several different
households before returning

to stare, each van saves
thousands of car journeys per
year, thereby reducing pallution
and congestion on our roads.

We are, however, conscious that
there is more we can do, 50 in
May 2007 we introduced our first
fleet of fully electric, zera-emission
home delivery vans which aze both
quiet and pollution free.

Each of the zero-emission vans,
which are based at the newly-
opened environment store in
Shrewsbury and throughout
London, will save 21 tonnes

of CO, peryear — the equivalent
of driving 51,000 miles in a car.
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...making things simple...

Telecoms services

It has been a very successful
year for Tesco Telecoms, which
has approaching twe million
customiers using its mobile
network, home phone, internet
phone and internet access
services.

Tesco Mobile, the joint mobile
venture with 02, is the fastest
growing pay-as-you-go mobile
network in the UK, taking almost
30% market share of new
customers in 2006. The network
now has 1.4 million customers.

Tesco Mobile remains heavily
focused on excellent customer
service and ended 2006 as
number one mobile network
for overall custormer satisfaction
(TNS Prognostics Mobile
Satisfaction survey Q4 2006).

This year it has expanded its
service for customers with the
launch of famity-friendly services
such as a new information
download portal, enhanced
parental controls and My Tesco
Mobile on-line centre. These
services have wide appeal to
customers whao trust Tesco to
pravide simplicity, value and
excellent service.

Tesco home phone continues to
attract customers with its three

simple, great value tariffs and the

launch this year of whoiesale line
rental, which allows customers
to receive just one bill for their
home phone.

Tesco has became an increasingly
popular retail destination for
telecoms. Over the past year, Tesco
has grown its market share and

is now the second-largest retailer
of pay-as-you-go mobile phones
(GFK mobile retailing 2006).

It is the largest provider of mobile
top-up in Eurape. Airtime sales for
2006/07 totalled over £358 million.

We all live in a world increasingly
revolving arcund technology and
on-iine services, but often the
systems and processes can be
really confusing and complicated.

Web phoning technolegy used
to be a niche product that only
appealed to the technologically
minded. Our new internet phone
service is attracting the growing
number of customers choosing
to switch from landline services.
What we have strived foris a
service that is simple, easy to
use, convenient and great value.

We have made sure it feels just

like @ normal telephone and we
give our customers a telephone

number that they can take with

them if they move, plus calls are
free from one internet phone

1o the other.

tesco personal finance
With five million customer accounts and 22 products and services,
Tesco Personal Finance is the UK's largest and most successful supermarket bank.

Taking out a
mortgage on a
house can be very
daunting, but Tesco
Mortgages tries to
do all the hard work.
Our Tesco Mortgage
Finder searches the
whole market to
save our customers
time, energy and
money. Itis a
hassle-free service
as we apply for the
mortgage on behalf
of our customers,
and even deal

with their lender

to ensure that

the process is as
smooth as possible.

T e

s 1

-

e woreres

EE Tesc®
Fpé‘.h «oed

Tesco Personal Finance

Tesco Personal Finance, the
financial services arm of our
business, was launched in 1997
and offers a combination of
internet, supermarket and
telephone banking. Tesco Personal
Finance now has over five million
customer accounts. In partnership
with the Royal Bank of Scotland
we provide a range of 22 low-cost,
value for money financial services
covering general insurance,
lending and savings and
investments. Tesco Personal
Finance operates in the UK,
Republic of freland, Hungary

and Poland.

We are continuing to expand

our range of products. In 2006
we introduced the Bonus Credit
Card, which gives customers back
one manth’s interest every year,

a first in the UK.

Anather innovation in 2006 was
the introduction of Value Car
Insurance, this policy offers no
frills comprehensive cover at a low
cost. This product is the result

of months of investigation by
Tesco Personal Finance into

what matorists would most like
to see in a Value range. The result
is a simplified product that will
make comprehensive cover more
affordable for-a larger number

of drivers.

This year, we have introduced
our low-cost, quality private Tesco
Health Insurance. There are 250
private hospitals participating

in the scheme and customers
have 24-hour telephone access
to qualified and experienced
healthcare professionals,

365 days a year.




We continue to try and offer
convenience and choice for
customers. We now have six
telecoms centres across the
country.

AHOQLS 03531 IHL

Mobille p
tarifs

? accessorles Broadband

A -
ff.y;‘,_":.-‘,(

u"\-ﬁ? .

skinside for
‘?nare details




U Thanks to the enthusiasm of! ' :
| ""‘qlstéff%a d customers in théir

o rfuhdjr@?siﬁgg&tivities, we have . -
'. ‘been able toyEfovide mobility »
, agguipment forover 750 children.
L o}
MRS

PN

I 4

. tg?aangton,aged‘?
N 3
L

_EHIE




...while contributing to our
local communities...

Tesco already plays an important
role in local communities, but

the Community Plan which we
launched in 2006 is helping

us to do even mare. As well as
providing a great shopping trip,
customers want us to be a good
neighbour and behave responsibly,
fairly and honestly.

In 2006, our Charity of the

Year was Whizz-Kidz, With a
fundraising target of £1.5 million,
our aim was to clear their waiting
list of 391 children. In fact, we
have had a fantastic year, raising
more than double this target —
£3.4 million — the highest amount
raised in any Charity of the Year
partnership to date. This has
meant that we have been able

to help over 750 children hy
providing customised mobility
equipment such as a tricycle,
sports or powered wheelchair
and by giving them the freedom
to live their lives independently.

This year, we have teamed up with
the British Red Cross, to be our
Charity of the Year. The theme of
the year-long partnership is Crisis
Care in your Neighbourhood, and
we hope to have a major impact,
not only by increasing awareness
of the crucial work the British Red
Cross does in the UK, but also by
aiming to raise £2 million to help
fund three vital UK services, Care
in the Home, life-changing
emergency equipment and life-
saving skills.

Our national community schemes
in the UK are moving from
strength to strength with more
schools than ever benefiting

from our Computers for Schoals,
and Sport for Schools and

Clubs programmes. This year,

the Tesco Great School Run set
a Guinness World Record as the
largest simultaneous walk or run,
with 242,000 children taking
part. Three quartess of a million
women took part in Race for Life,
raising £53 million for Cancer
Research UK.

Little things can also make a big
difference, and Christmas came
early this year for over 3,000
children in Hertfordshire, as staff
from Tesco Head Office took to the
stage to perform a free pantomime
tour for disadvantaged children
and local community groups.

Over the next two years, Tesco
is teaming up with new youth
volunteering charity, V and
Community Service Volunteers
with the aim of recruiting
12,000 young volunteers to get
involved in community projects
such as setting up a youth club
or organising a party for socially
deprived children. We hope

to motivate these volunteers

to make a real difference in
their communities.

‘The support we get from

everyone at Tesco is crucial to the
emergency work of the Red Cross.
Tesco’s support saves lives. It's as
simple — and as fantastic — as that.’

Sir Nicholas Young,

Chief Executive British Red Cross.

We have been
touched by the way
employees right
throughout the
Company have
taken Whizz-Kidz

to their hearts. The
amazing sum of
money Tesco staff
and customers have
raised is a clear
reflection of, and
worthy testament
to, their enthusiasm
and determination
to change the lives
of disabled children
across the country.
I'd like to thank
every employee and
custormer that so
generously donated
their money and time
throughout 2006.

Ruth Owen, Chief
Executive, Whizz-Kidz

Whizz-fidz

move a life forward

BritishRedCross

Community Plan goes
International

This year, we are going to be
progressively launching the
Community Plan internationally,
initially throughout Europe,
Thaifand and South Korea, We
will focus on our environmental
impact, especially energy use,
helping our customers lead
healthy lives, our relationships
with our suppliers, and our
relationships with our neighbours
near to our stores,

By focusing on issues that are
important locally, we are able

to concentrate on delivering rea!
and measurable improvements
that are of most benefit to

each country. Examgles include -
introducing Charity of the Year

in Hungary, helping comrmunities
Get Active in South Korea or
supporting the Police with finding
missing children in Slovakia.

We currently operate 46 Culture
Centres in South Korea, with
450,000 members, In 2006,
Tesco Ireland raised £692,000 for
their Charity of the Year, Multiple
Sclerosis Ireland, This represents
the single largest corporate
donation to Multiple Sclerosis
Iretand in its 46-year history.

The money raised will go towards
a nationwide exercise and health
promoticn programme. We
intend 1o introduce many equally
successful schemes through

our local Community Plans
internationally.

Find out more at
www.tesco,comicorporate
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...with suppliers who understand

their markets...

We work with many suppliers
throughout the UK and
internationally to meet our
customers’ needs, We try and
create long-term sustainable
relationships with suppliers who
have simitar values to our own.
Working together we can deliver
the very best in quality and value
for money. '

Our partnership with MMUK who
supply us with the Jaffa citrus

fruit range has been ongoing for
over ten years. Together we have
produced a premium product that
our customers love as it is sweeter,
and of better quality. In the last
three years the brand has grown
over 41%. We have achieved this by
increasing the amount of lines in
the range, giving the products extra
space in our stores and offering
great promotions for our customers.

In November 2006, we teamed
up with Albert Bartlets —who
have over 50 years of experience
growing potatoes. Togetherwe
launched the Finest Rooster
Baking Potato. Nat only is this
the first loose product in the
Finest range, we are the only
retailer to stock the baking
version. The rooster potato is
popular amongst celebrity chefs
and our customers’ response
has been extremely positive.

local suppliers

We try to treat our suppliers

as we like to be treated: in a fair,
honest and responsible way, as
they are vital to our success.

For the past three years we have
conducted an anonymous and
completely confidential survey on
what it's like to work with Tesco.
Over 94% of suppliers have
reported that we are trustworthy,
reliable, helpful and fair.

QOur local sourcing programme

in the UK is already thriving

and we know that ‘local’ means
different things to different
custorners. Some of our custorners
want to buy British, while others
want to buy produce from farms
in their local community. As part
of the Community Plan, we want
to provide custorners with the best
local offer possible, and one of the
ways that we are doing this is by
setting up local Tesco roadshows.

They provide an opportunity for
small local suppliers 1o meet Tesco
buyers and Directors. Our first
roadshow took place in Padstow,
Cormwall, and as a result of it we
have added over 50 new Cornish
lines to our range. We have since
had roadshows on the Isle of
Wight and most recently in
Carmarthen, in Wales, which
was a huge success, and we

will soon be seeing new Welsh
beers, cheeses and sausages

on our shelves,

We are encouraging more smatil suppliers
by developing our network of regional
offices and making it easier for them

to access our distribution network.

We recently
announced a
number of new
measures to
support UK dairy
farmers and give
customers even
more choice when
buying milk. We are
raising the price
farmers receive to
around 22 pence per
litre, to try to reflect
the farmers’ costs
of production. We
are also launching
‘localchoice’ milk
which will be sourced
from local farms
and sold at Tesco
stores in or close

to their county.

Local, wherever local might be

Tesce has nearly 50 hypermarkets
across China, and in January this
year we opened our first Tesco
branded store in Bejjing. For the
first time, our Tesco logo is visible
next to the Chinese name Legou,
which means happy shopping.

The store has been designed with
eastern tastes in mind, as Chinese
consumers like to touch and feel
their produce before they buy,
whether they are choosing a

soft shell crab or live silkworms.

Almost alt of the goods on the
shelves are locally sourced and are
brands that Chinese customers
already know and trust, The store
does, however, self our new own-
label Legou Tesco products that
were launched in October last
year. We have developed a range
of over 500 Value products
through our Product Assessment
Centre at our hypermarket in
Guangxin, consisting of both food
and non-food lines such as fine
rice and noodfes.
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...and leading the way on
the environment...

Our customers tell us they want
our help to do more in the fight
against climate change, if only

we can make it easier and more
affordable.

Theywant us to take complicated
carbon calculations and make
thern easy to understand. So

we have begun the search to
develop a measure of the carbon
footprint to put on every product
we sell, Customers will be able to
compatre the carbon footprint of
a product in the same way that
they currently compare its price
or nutritional profile,

We will reduce the carbon
footprint of our existing stores
and distribution centres around
the world by 50% by 2020. We
will also ensure that all new stores
we build between now and 2020,
emit on average at least 50%
less carben than an equal store

in 2006.

Every Little Helps is the way

we do things at Tesco, and we
must show custorners now their
individual choices will make a
difference. By introducing Green
Clubcard points for customers
“who re-use carrier bags, we have
seen a reduction of, on average,
13 million plastic bags given
away every week since its launch,
totalling over 400 million so far.

In order to make environmental
choices affordable for all of

our customers, we are going to
promote and incentivise energy-
efficient proeducts through aur
Green Clubcard schemes.

We have already halved the price of
energy-efficient light bulbs and we are
going to offer more energy-efficient
products throughout our Value range.

At Tesco we always set ourselves
ambitious targets, so we are
delighted to be reaching our
target to halve energy use in
aur buildings two years early.

By the end of May 2007, every
possible UK distribution centre
will be supplying cur transgort
fleet with a 50% biodiese! blend.
This is the highest percentage
biodiesel blend used by any
distribution fleet in the world.

In order to help our customers
make informed decisions,

any product that has been air
freighted to our stores will be
labelled with an aeroplane
symboi, and we have set our-
selves the target of restricting air
transport ta less than 1% of our
products. Delivering this target
must be done in a way that is
sensitive to the needs of some
of the poorest people on earth
whose lives are improved by the
ability 1o sell in our markets, So
we will source the majority of this
1% from developing countries.

Cver the next five years we will
spend more than £500 million on
technology to reduce our energy
use. Energy reduction is a top
pricrity throughout the business,
from the hoardroom to the
member of staff wha is ‘energy
champion’ in each of our stores.

We have worked
hard to reduce the
miles our products
travel within our
distribution
operations. Our
lorries now pick up
stock from suppliers
on their way back
from making a store
delivery. We have
also increased the
amount of double-
decker vehicles
transporting our
products and
introduced the

use of a train —
running regularly
from Daventry to
Scotland. These
three initiatives
have saved over

11 million miles

a year.

Store for the future

In December 2006, we opened
what we considered to be Britain’s
greenest supermarket in Wick

in the north of Scotland, setting

a new benchmark for green
technology and construction

in retail.

The 50,000 sq fi store has a 50%
smaller carbon footprint than a
conventional supermarket of the
same size, and with its timber
frame and (environmentally-
friendly) building methods,

the censtruction process for the
store also has a carbon footprint
20% smaller than fora
canventional store.

When it opened, the Wick store
was the only Tesco store to have
a wooden exterior, which was
made from sustainable timber.
Five micro wind turbines and
solar cells help to power the
store and over one million litres
of rainwater will be harvested
each year-and used where
possible in the store’s operations.

We reduced the height of the
roof by over a metre, to minimise
the volume of air that requires
heating.

in May this year, we operied an
environmental store in Shrewsbury
with a carbon footprint 60%
smaller than a conventional store,
and over the next year we will also
build new ervironmental stores
throughout Europe and Asia.

Find out more at
www, tesco.com/icorporate
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...and benefiting all
of our stakeholders.

Tesco’s success means that we are fortunate enough to be in
a position where we can make a big difference to all of our
stakeholders.

The lessons we have teamt over the last 80 years have
enabled us to find ways that open up even more opportunities
for long-term growth, benefiting our shareholders.

This growth can only be achieved by aiming to constantly improve
the job we do for customers, so that every time they visit one of
our stores, or try one of our services, they get a slightly better
experience.

Our staff don'’t just contribute to, but benefit from the performance
of the business, through our share schemes and our award-
winning pension scheme, which helps to offer them a financially
secure future.

As they grow alongside us, our suppliers benefit from being able
to bring their products to more customers, both in the UK and
excitingly in many different markets all around the world.

The communities which we form a part of also benefit from our
success. Our staff are largely drawn from the areas surrounding

the stores they work in and so have a natural desire to make things
better for both themselves and their friends and neighbours.

It has become increasingly apparent in recent years that the
things we all do in our everyday lives are having a lasting and
potentially damaging impact on the environment, with particular
consequences for climate change.

Tesco has the ability and the ambition, through the efforts of
our staff, our customers and all of our stakeholders, to lead the
way on making a lasting difference to our long-term future.
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The UK is our biggest market
and the core of our business...

United Kingdom
Nurmber of stores 1,988

27.8m sq ft
1924

Sales area
Year of entry

Mew stores opened 106

Planned
cpenings 2007/08 142

Number of staff 270,417

Clubcard enables
us to thank our
customers.
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We work hard to create value for customers, to earn their
lifetime loyalty. We try to deliver what customers want and we
treat people — customers and our team — as we like to be treated.

UK

We made further good progress
in the UK; coping well with
recovering competitors by
delivering an improved shopping
trip for customers.

UK sales grew 9.0% to £35.6 billion
(last year £32.7 billion), with like-
for-like growth of 5.6% (including
volume of 5.0%) and 3.4% from
net new stares. Excluding petrol,
like-for-like sales grew by 5.6%.

tn our stores, we saw modest
inflation of 0.2%, as our continued
investment in lowering prices for
custormers was more than offset
by the strength of seasonal fresh-
food prices. Increased productivity
and good expense control have
enabled us to absorb significant
external cost increases in the

year, arising mainly from higher
oil-related costs and increases

in local business taxes.

Formats

We have developed the basic
maodel of our stores into four
different formats: Express, which
brings great food at low prices

to local neighbourhoods; Metro,
which offers convenience io
customers who live or workin

city centres; in our Superstores
customers can find everything
they need for their weekly shop;
and in our Extra stores customers
can find our full range of food
and also a comprehensive range
of general merchandise including
clothing, electricals and telecoms.

Every Little Helps

Every Little Helps represents
everything we stand for, it's not
just a catchphrase or marketing
slogan. As we have grown, so has
the importance of Every Little
Helps: over time, the different
products and services we have
diversified into has been so great,
we ran the risk of losing our way.
We have relied on Every Little
Helps more and more over the
years, to act as a commaon
philosophy to bind us all together.
Every operational decision we
make in Tesco is judged against
what we call the ‘shopping lists'.
These lists determine what we
strive to achieve every day:

* that no-one tries harder
for customers

+ we treat people how
we like to be treated

» we are better for customers,
simpler for staff and cheaper
for Tesco.

Deceptively simple, but the key

to understanding Tesco is to see
that our obsession with delivering
these promises is what we are

all about. Unless it improves the
basics of the customers’ shopping
trip, we're not interested.

Clubcard

Tesco Clubcard enables us to
thank our customers for shepping
with us and is a world-leading
loyalty programme which allows
us to better understand what our
customers want. it is an integral
part of how we run our business

as it helps us to listen to our
customers and try and respond
to their changing needs.

Last year nearly one million new
customers signed up to Tesco
Clubcard, and we gave away
over £340 million in Clubcard
vouchers, in order to thank our
customers for shopping with us.
For them to make the most of
their vouchers, each customer’s
mailings are tailored to meet
their individual needs.

Customers can also make the most
of their vouchers by exchanging
them for Clubcard deals which

are worth four times the value.

Qur most popular deals are days
out at attractions such as Alton
Towers and Legoland, and we are
now partnering up with theme
parks in France and Germany for
even more adventurous days out.

In February 2007, we launched

a partnership with the Open
University so custormers can

now use their Clubcard vouchers
to fund their learing, from a
beginners course in writing family
history to a hurnanities degree.

This year we started to reward

our customers for shopping in

an environmentally friendly way
with our Green Clubcard points.
Customers receive pgints when
they reuse carrier bags, and also
when they recycle old mobile
phone and inkjet printer cartridges.
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our expansion overseas includes
six countries in Europe...

Our rate of expansion in European markets stepped up
significantly in the year with 4.7m sq ft of new space added -
representing almost 30% growth.

Czech Republic

In the Czech Republic, our
business has grown by almost
two-thirds in the year and is now
one of the leaders in the market,
We again delivered strong profit
growth despite competitive
market conditions and the
challenges of integrating the
Carrefour and Edeka acquisitions.
Conversion of the 11 Carrefour
stores is almost complete, we
have a strong organic store
opening programme which will
add some 13% to our space in
the current year and we have
begun remedelling our department
stores — with the first, at Brno,
performing well,

Hungary

We continued to make progress
in Hungary, but although overail
sales grew, profit performance,
was below budget. The effects of
Government austerity measures
last August on an already difficuit
economic and retail environment
have been severe. Consumer
spending levels are significantly
down, with non-food categories
particularly affected, Despite these
challenges we have a strong
market position which we have
continued to strengthen by
lowering prices, expanding our
store netwark and developing our
infrastructure. We opened 14 new
stores during the year, including
10 hypermarkets, and we plan

to add 15% to our total space

in the current year,

Poland

Against the background of

an improving economy and a
consolidating retail industry in
Poland, we are making very good
progress, with rising sales, profits
and returns. Sales growth has
continued to be strong, driven by
sustained improvernent in existing
store performance and a growing
contribution from new space. The
development of our 1k {around
10,000 sq ft), 2k and 3k store
formats, as part of an enlarged
apening programme, is going
well, The acquisition of the Leader
Price stores from Casino, which
was announced last July and
completed in Decemnber has
accelerated our 1k format
expansion and contributed to*

a 37% overall space increase in
Poland. Leader Price stores are
being converted rapidly to Tesco

with, on average, 25% sales uplifts.

Republic of lreland

Tesco Ireland delivered another
excellent performance with
impraved profits and another year
of strong sales growth in existing
stares. Qur new store ppening
programme will be substantially
bigger this year — with 240,000
sq ft, representing growth of
over 10%, planned. The new
740,000 sq ft distribution centre
at Donabate, in north Dublin,
opened in April 2007. Qur
competitive position is also -
strong and we're investing more
for customers — for example, our
largest ever pragramme of price
cuts in Ireland, which started last
summer, has been well-received.

Slovakia

In Slovakia, the success of our
compact hypermarket format
and a sirong econorny have
underpinned good growth in
sales, profits and returns. We now
have 25 such stares, approaching
half of our total space, with more
planned. We introduced our 1k
farmat this year — opening the
first store at Vrable and we now
have six trading with nine more
planned this year. Qur organic
expansion will add around 15%
to our space this year.

Turkey

Qur Kipa business in Turkey,
continues to grow stiongly

and profitably and now has

the capability and resources

to becorne a national business.
We now have 15 hypermarkets
trading, with the majority

now outside our base in lzmir,
including our first stare in Thrace,
with 24 more planned for the
current year, The early introduction
of Express in Turkey has also gone
well, with 15 stores now trading,
including three in Antalya. We
have invested in creating the
infrastructure for a business of
scale — initially in management
and systems — and alsa in supply
chain, with our first major
distribution centre (at Yasibasi)
covering 400,000 sq ft, planned
to open this month.,

Czech R'epubllic
Number‘of stofes 84

Sales are §.1m sq ft
Year of eIlry 1996

New stores open‘ed 49

Planned

openings} 2007/08 24
Nurnber ?f staff

11,786

Hungar)'f
Number of stares 101

Sales area ?.Sm sq ft
Year of erjtry 1994
New storgs opened 14
Planned |

openings|2007/08 24
Number c*f staff . 17,727

Poland |‘
Number bf stores 280

Sales ared 6.5m sq ft
Year of entry 1995
New swores opened 176

Planned !

openings F007108 54
Number o‘f staff | 21,491

Republic of Ireland
i \

Number of stares 95
Sales area 2.3msqft
Year of entry 1997
New stores opened 7
Planned

openings PO0TI08 9
Number o|f staff 11,087

Slovakia}
Number qf stores 48

Sales area‘ 2.5msqft
Yearofenlry ' 1996
New store opengd 11
Planned

openings I00‘.’4’08‘ 17
Number o{ staff 8,061

Turkey
Number of stores 30

Sales area’ 1.1m sq ft
Year of entry 2003

New stores opened 22
Planned |
openings a‘mwoal 49

Number of|siaff | 3,469
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...with over eight million customers every
week shopping in 636 stores across Asia.

China
Number of stores 47

Sales area 4.2m sq ft

Year of entry 2004

New stores opened 8
Planned

openings 2007/08 10
Number of staff 17,419

Japan
Mumber of stores 109

Sales area 0.3m sq ft
Year of entry 2003
New stores opened 7
Planned

openings 2007/08 35
Number of staff 3,405

Malaysia
Number of stores 19

Sales area 1.9m sq ft
Year of entry 2001
New stores opened )

Planned
openings 2007/08 7
Number of staff 5,820

South Korea
Number of stores 91

Sales area S.Amsq ft
Year of entry 1999
New stores opened E{]
Planned

openings 2007/08 51
Number of staff 11,932

Thailand
Number of stores 370

Sales area 7.5m sq ft
Year of entry 1998

New stores opened 151
Planned
openings 2007/08 162

Number of staff 29,538

We have delivered a strong performance in Asia, despite
challenging conditions in our two largest markets — South Korea

and Thailand.

China

In China, we trade from 47
hypermarkets, mainly in Shanghai,
and the first stores in China’s
other large regional markets —
Guangzhou, Shenzhen and
Beijing (our first Tesco-fascia store)
- have opened well. Our new
range of over 1,000 Tesco own-
brand lines have been well-received
by customers. Hymall's sales have
cantinued to grow strongly — up
overall by 19% in the year, with
strengthening like-for-like sales

as the year progressed. As a result
of carrying higher overheads as
we invest to equip the business

to grow faster, it made a small
loss after tax and interest, of
which our share was £6 million.

Japan

In a still subdued retail market

in Japan we made progress, with
modest overall sales growth but a
stronger like-for-like performance.
Our focus in the year has been
on refining and developing the
trial Express-type stores into a
profitable, expandable format
and implementing our Tesco in
a Box' suite of operating systems
successfully, We now plan to push
on with a much larger opening
programme of up to 35 new
stores this year.

Malaysia

Tesco Malaysia has made
excellent progress, moving
strongly through to profitability

in the year, delivering another year
of strong (over 50%) sales growth,
and achieving a near-doubling

of space helped by the Makro
acquisition in January. Substantial
refits to the Makro stores have
now begun, taking eight to nine
weeks per store to complete and
invalving significant changes

to layouts and ranges. We are
developing a very good market
position in Malaysia with a new
store programme in place for

this year which will add a further

22% of space to our network.

South Korea

In South Korea, Homeplus
continued to do well, with solid
sales and very strong profit growth
in more challenging market
¢onditions than in recent years.
During the year, we opened

29 new stores and, including
extensions, almost 1m sq fi of
space. Most of our new selling
area came from large
hypermarkets, but our
develppment programme is now
broadly-based with nearly 20%
coming from store extensions,
21% from compact hypers and
the remainder from the roll-out of
our successful Express convenience
format, which now has almost 40
stores trading. We have a strong
forward pipeline of new space,
including plans to double the

size of the Express business.

Thailand

Palitical uncertainty in Thailand
during the second half of the
year produced an unhelpful
business climate. Nevertheless,
Tesco Lotus, which has a strong
market position, again performed
well, delivering good growth in
sales and profit. The successful
development and roll-out of new
small formats continues and to
date, we have 370 stores trading
acrass four formats, including

75 hypermarkets (of which

17 are Value stores). We also
have 266 Express stores and 29
supermarkets which are proving
very popular with customers.




AdO1S 03531 JHL

BClstomers, local supply chains
. a-nd local regulations. Dacheng E. store, Beijing, ChiEn




financial highlights growth on 2006*

10.9% 13.2% 20.3%

Group profit before tax

Group sales Underlying Group
(including VAT) profit before tax

11.6% 18.5% 11.7%

Dividend per share

Underlying diluted Diluted earnings
earnings per share’ per share

2007

2006

2006

Qn a continuing operations basis 52 weeks 60 weeks 52 weeks
Group sales (Em) (including value added tax) 46,611 43137 42,016
Group revenue (£m) (excluding value added tax) 42,641 39,454 38,443
Underlying Group profit before tax! {Em) 2,545 2,277 2,248
Group profit before tax (Em) 2,653 2,235 2,206
Underlying diluted earnings per share' (p) 22.36 2030 20.04
Diluted earnings per share (p) 23.31 19.92 19.67
Dividend per share {p} 9.64 8.63 -
Group enterprise value (Em)

{market capitalisation plus net debt) 40,469 30,841 -
Retuen on capital employed 12.6%* 12.7% 12.5%

Adjusted for IAS 32, 1AS 39, the net difference between the IAS 19 income statement charge and ‘normal’ cash
contributions for pensions, the Pensions Adjustment - Finance Act 2006 and impairment of the Gerrards Cross site.

*Restated for the year ended 25 February 2006 including 52 weeks for the UK and ROI and a comparable
12 months {March — February) for the majority of the remaining international businesses.

*Including the one-off gain from Pensions A-Day, ROCE was 13.6%.




We are delighted
to be able to report
strong results in
what has been a
challenging year.
Sales have increased
by 10.9% to

£46.6 billion, Group
profit before tax

is up by 20.3%.
Underlying profit
has grown by
13.2% to

£2,545 million.
Underlying diluted
earnings per share
are up 11.6%

and the full year
dividend, which
now benefits from
our rising flow of
property profits,
is up 11.7%.

Chairman’s statement

As always, our results this year
have been produced by a clear,
consistent, weli executed strategy.
Tesce is a growth company and
the strategy is designed to deliver
good growth and performance,
while maintaining focus on
investing for the future.

UK sales are up 9.0%, including
strong like-for-like growth of
5.6%, with good profit progress.

At actual rates, international sales
are up 17.9% and trading profits
hefore integration costs have
increased by 20.9%. Qur in-market
acquisitions in the Czech Republic,
Poland and Malaysia have added
to an already large organic store
opening programme.

Our non-food sales continue to
grow throughout the Group, with
worldwide sales of £10.4 billion,
and there is mare to come, as we
develop our ranges, stores, and
new channels.

Our retailing services are
increasingly popular with
customers. Dotcom has
performed very well ihis year,
moving sales threugh the billion
pound mark. Tesco Personal
Finance continues to expand its
range of products, and telecoms
is seeing good growth in its
customer base.

Our property funding programme
of £5 billion over five years, is well
underway, with the two recent
joint ventures delivering £1 billion
of proceeds. So far, we have used
almost £470 million to buy back
and cancel our pwn shares. We
now plan to enlarge the property
funding programme beyond the
original £5 billion target and this
will fund a deubling of our share
buy-back to £3 billion,

As always, our peopi2 are working
hard every day ta do the very best
they can for customers and | am
pleased to say that during the
next year we are planning to
create over 25,000 new jabs
worldwide. | would like to thank
every single one of our staff for
their hard work over the year.

Through share ownership and
share incentive schermnes, over
165,000 of cur people have a
personal stake in Tesco. | am
delighted that they were awarded
shares worth a record £77 million
last May under our Shares in
Success Scheme. 50,000 staff
were able to benefit when Save
As You Earn schemes matured

in February, giving them access
to shares worth £148 miltion.

I would like to take this
opportunity to welcorne Lucy
Neville-Rolfe, as Executive Director
of Corporate and Legal Affairs,

to the Board.

This time last year we launched
our Community Plan. As a
responsible company we want to
play our part in tackling important
social and environmental
challenges, and the Community
Plan has helped us channel the
energy of the business into the
right areas. I'm pleased to say
that wa've taken some major
new initiatives on milk pricing, on
carbon labelling, on regeneration
and on packaging. These
demanstrate the impetus this
pragramme now has in Tesco,

Through our regeneration
partnership stores we have

been able to offer jobs to almost
4,000 long-term unemployed
and disadvantaged people in
some of the most deprived areas
of Britain. We have committed
to reducing our packaging by
25% by 2010. We will also label
all our packaging accerding to
whether it can be reused, recycled
or composted; and if it cannot
we will label that too, The first
labelled products wiil be on

our shelves by 2008,

Our customers and staff continue
to support our chosen charities and
we are looking forward to working
with our Charity of the Year for
2007, the British Red Cross.

David Reid Chairman
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Chief Executive’s statement

Tesco is investing for the future and delivering today. These results demonstrate that
we have again made good progress across the Group, whilst making significant start-up
investment in new businesses and coping well with challenging conditions in some markets.

These results show that it has
been another successful year for
Tesco. The numbers are solid, the
growth is broadly based - coming
from all four parts of our strategy
- and we have delivered tangible
benefits for shareholders.

I’'m pleased about that because
these things are never easy. The
most encouraging thing about
this performance is that we've
coped well with the head-wind
from recavering competitors,
rising costs and tough conditions
in some markets. We've come
through in good shape and
we've done it by staying focused
on doing the right things for
our customers and at the same
time investing for future growth.

I'm a committed Tesco
shareholder. For me, the Tesco
investrment case is about three
things: strong, sustainable growth
through serving customers;
disciplined investment; and good
returns for the owners of the
business — now and in the lgng
term. We have a good track record
of delivery on these things -

and there's more to come.

Growth

We have laid solid foundations for
future growth. Our new businesses
are coming of age — they are
profitable, they have scale and
they are competitive. | believe
they can now provide us with

years of strang growth — because
in ten years, we've moved from
reliance on a market of 60 million
people to being able to access
markets with over two billion
people.

I’'m also an investor in Tesco
because | see the prospect of
rising returns — by that | mean
both return on capital employed —
and the return of income and
capital to sharehaolders.

Last year, we set a new return on
capital employed (ROCE) target —
to add another 200 basis paints.
ROCE grew in 2006/07, which is
a great result given the start-up
costs in Tesco Direct and the US
— plus almost £400 million of
investment in acquisitions, The
underlying progress on RQCE has
been even stronger — before the
effect of those factors it was up
50 basis points —and we're on
track to hit our target.

It has atso been a good year for
shareholder returns, which are
up 36%. Of course, our shares
are higher in buoyant markets
but we're also doing more to
contribute. Dividends are up

to appreaching £800 million,
driven by last year’s change in
policy, combined with the effect
of our rising flow of property
profits now ranking for dividend.
We have also bought back and
cancelled almost £470 million
worth of our own shares so far.

We know one of the reasens

for the strength of our shares is
property. As market yields have
fallen, property has become a
bigger element of the embedded
value in the business — and

we've played our part in raising
awareness of this ~ mainly by
selling some. The appetite for
property is 50 strong that our two
recent Joint Venture (JV) deals
achieved a premium o bookvalue
of almost 100%, on initial yields
under 4.5%. This suczess, and the
good experience we have had
operating our stores in the JV’,
has encouraged us te do more.
Our enlarged property funding
programme is behing the
doubling of the share buy-back.

That said, property is an integral
part of a retail businass —and it is
important that we strike the right
balance between returns today
and value tomorrow. 50 we will
retain the necessary long-term
strategic strength we see in
ownership by keeping at least
70% of our assets in

freehold,
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Throughout all our
businesses across the
world, we measure -
our performance
through the Steering
Wheel, whether we
work in distribution,
the office orin
stores. This helps
maintain focus and
balance in what
counts to run each
of our businesses
successfully, be

it wage costs or
whether customers
can get everything
they want.
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Chief Executive’s statement continued

To sum ug, our focus remains on
profitable growth - building on
the solid foundations we have
laid over the last ten years. At the
same time, we're always looking
to improve the way the owners
of the business benefit from

that growth.

As a company we are putting
increasing focus on ourwork

with communities and the
environment, We've built our
success on listening to customers
and these things are growing in
importance for them. That's why

| believe the battle to win their
loyalty will increasingly be fought
rot just on value for money, range
and convenience, but on being
goed neighbours, behaving
responsibly and seizing challenges
such as climate change.

| think these will be positives for
us. Customers want to do the
right thing - they're just not
always sure how — whether it's

a healthier diet or consuming

in a greener way. It’s a classic
consurner need - and one which

| believe Tesco is well placed to
meet. That's why we've made it
part of the Tesco Steering Wheel.

Right; Dacheng E. store,
Beijing, China

Far right: Selamattin Sicdaz,
Bornova Forum, Turkey

As investors, you need to know
that we see these things as
opportunities — so it is also
important that Tesco leads.

International

Our biggest opportunity for
growth and for improved returns
is International — and it underlines
the breadth of our business.

Qverall, we have produced a very
good performance — particularly
against the background of
poitical uncertainty and economic
problems in three of our largest
markets — Hungary, Thailand and
South Korea. This demonstrates
that International now has the
size and momentum to get
through these things and still
deliver.

Two years ago | began to lay out
how we had evolved a strategy
for international expansion from
a decade of experience. Today,

given how much retrenchment

is going on among retailers with
international ambitions, | think we
can claim that this has developed
inta one of the most successful =
if not the most successful -
approach to international retailing.

it is about being flexible; being
lacal; maintaining focus on a few
countries; using multi-formats

to reach the whole market;
developing capability; and finally,
- once you've put in the networks,
it’s about building the brand.

I know this approach is now

more familiar to you — but I'm
going to highlight the significant
developments of the past 12
months using some of these six
elerments — starting with focus.
Through a combination of organic
expansion and several good in-
market acquisitions, we've made
excellent progress in building

stronger positions in all of our

existing countries.

Across our 11 markets, we opened
8.2 million sq ft of space — four
times the amount added in the
UK and over 50% more than the
year before. We plan to add over
7.5 million sq ft more this year —
all of it organic, even without the
stores in the United States.

5%

increase in
international space

We have got much stronger in
Central Europe, through rapid
growth In new space and
acquisition. For example, sales
have increased by almost two-
thirds in the Czech Republic -
helped by the Carrefour and
Edeka stores — taking us into

the leading group of retailers in
the market. In Poland, sales were
up 22% with only a few weeks’
contribution from the Leader Price
stores. These are rapidly being
converted to our 1k format — with
sales uplifts so far averaging 25%.
Profits rose almost 50% in Poland.

Pushing on faster in these markets
is paying dividends. Not only are
returns improving — but as the
most profitable and rapidly
growing retailer we are able to
participate in consolidation from a
position of strength — and buy only
the right assets at the right price.




In Asia as well, having done the
groundwork in a couple of our
newer markets, we've used
acquisition to get on faster, The
eight Makro stores will double
our space in Malaysia when
converted. In China, we've taken
a controlling interest in Hymall,
which now has 47 hypermarkets,
including stores in Guangzhou
and Shenzhen, plus the first
Tesco branded store in Beijing

— all of which opened well. 90%
ownership will free the business
from capital constraints and
permit a faster rate of growth,
through freehold development.

Our progress with multi-format
has been very good, giving us
more options for expansion and

extending our reach into markets.

Our experience means that we
are able to calibrate formats
more quickly for local customers,
get to profitability and move
faster into roll-out.

Right: Pitsea Extra, UK

Far right: Carol Sargeant,
Pitsea Extra, UK

Our tkstores are popular with
customers and we now have
over 200 of them trading across
Central Europe. The universal
appeal of Express means that it
trades from almost a million sq ft
of our international space. Itis
well established in Thailand,
where we have a good forward

_programme and we will double

the number of Expresses in South
Korea this year - to 79 stores.
Our trials in Japan are going well
and we already have 15 Express
stores in Turkey. Qur first Central
European Express — in Prague —
will be opening soon.

The principles behind these
formats are common, but the
offer is local — designed by local
teams for local customers. We've
used this approach in putting
together our 10,000 sq ft Fresh &
Easy Neighborhood Market format
for the US. Preparations for the
taunch later this year are going
well. We have 3 strong team of
over 150 at El Segundo and the
construction of our 820,000 sq ft
distribution centre at Riverside

is on schedule.

We plan to open a significant
number of stores at launch —
across LA, Phoenix, l.as Vegas
and San Diego — and we've
made good progress in obtaining
quaiity real estate for them.

International returns are making
steady progress towards the mid-
teens numbers we require —
improving to 11.5% with a high
proportion of capital — over 70%
— less than five years old.

Looking at the significant changes
over the last 12 months for returns
by country — not surprisingly,
Hungary has slipped a bit —
because we've chosen to push

on with expansion in a very weak
economy. It will come back, South
Korea and Thailand have improved
but the really pleasing thing is
that Poland — which is our third
largest investment and the Czech
Republic — have both improved
compared with last year — to like-
for-like cash return on investment
(CROI) approaching 10%.

1,988

stores in the
United Kingdom

Not enly are returns still
improving, cash flows are strong
too. EBITDA in International was
over £800 million in 2006/07.
After working capital gains, this
means that International funded
more than 90% of its own CAPEX.

United Kingdom

At the start of the year, we set
out to make progress in an
environment with recovering
competitors and cautious
consumers feeling the full effect
of last year’s energy cost and
interest rate rises, Because we've
been on good form operationally,
we have coped well with those
things — delivering good sales —
and also strong profit growth, whilst
carrying more than £40 million
of start-up costs an Tesco Direct
and the United States.

Two factors have been driving
this. First, the real improvements
we've made ta the shopping trip
for customers. We can always get
better — but | want to highlight

a few things we've done this
year on price, service, range

and availability.
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Chief executive's statement continued

Our price check survey, which
compares 10,000 prices against
our leading competitors weekly,
shows that our position has
improved again during the year.

On service, the implementation
of new checkout technology
across our stores means that we
can now monitor and manage
the checkout service customers
receive much more precisely —
by customer, by store and by the
hour. As a result, over 350,000
more custormers a week benefit
from our ‘one-in-front’ checkout
queue promise.

We've also made significant
changes to our food ranges in
response to customer demand,
introducing more Organics,
free from, Healthy Living,
Wholefoods, Fairtrade and Kids
products, as well as over 1,000
mare premium lines — including
over 250 Finest.

Right and far right:
Chelmsford Homeplus, UK

On-shelf availability, which we
measure using our in-store picking
of tesco.com orders, has also
improved again and more
customers are able to buy
everything theywant. The most
marked increase has been
achieved in fresh foods, where

we have seen a fifth consecutive
year of improvement.

For decades, food has been

a falling proportion of total
consumer spending. As a business
we have contributed to this —

by cutting prices to help people
spend less. That won't ¢change —
but the long-term trend of
declining spend on food has
changed — it has stopped.

This is significant and | believe
we're seeing a fundamental shift
in the priority consumers place

on food. The link between diet
and health, interest in cooking,
provenance — including focal and
Fairtrade — it is more than simply
trading up. It is also not just about
affluent customers — it'’s everyone
and that means it could be a big
long term positive for our industry.

11,000

products available through
Tesco Direct

We can see these changes all
around the store — with healthy
foods growing nearly twice as fast
as the rest of the business. A good
example is Organics where sales
are growing four times faster. In
just 12 months the propartion of
our customers buying erganics is
up by over a third — to more than
40% — and the growth is fastest
arnong tess affluent customers.

Non-food has again made very
good progress, with sales growing
significantly faster than in our core
operations. It is now a £7.6 billion
business in the UK alone — and
well over £10 billion for the Group
as a whole.

UK non-food sales growth was
11.6% in the year and volume
growth was even higher, driven by
our ability to pass on lower prices
to custormers. Non-food price
deflation was over 3%, funded

by our growing scale and supply
chain efficiency and the benefits
of more direct sourcing in Asia.

Most of our established
categories, which benefit less
from new space, grew well. For
example, health and beauty sales
increased by 9% and so did news
and magazines. The exception
was entertainment, where we
saw market share gains but weak
sales driven by deflation and the
increase in downloading. We

are putting plans together to
build a strong position in the
digital market.

Our newer categaories again saw
excellent growth. Clothing sales
grew well —up by 16% —in a
tough market, which was partly
affected by unseasonal weather.
We made strong market share
gains byvolume and value. Some
product groups, to which we have
been able to allocate more space
in our larger Extra stores, did
particularly well. Consumer
electronics were up 35%, toys
and sport up 30%, DIY and
stationery were both up 23%.




Qur overall non-food market share
is 8%. With our relatively low
market shares in many categories,
the growing popularity of our offer
with customers, the scope to
expand our stores and also sell
more though direct channels,
there is a lot of growth to come.

Last September, we started Tesco
Direct in a low-key way to let
customers know about it, test
the systems and make sure the
logistics were ok. This went well,
s0 @ month ago we were able ©
go live on the full launch — with
11,000 items on our website,

7,000 of which are in our catalogue.

As well as great prices and
wider ranges, Tesco Direct offers
customers an unrivalled choice
of ordering and delivery options.
Two-hour home delivery slots
have proved very popular, So
has the option to pick-up from
stare —which is why we're going
to make it available in as many
stores as possible — starting
with 200 from this year, The
feedback on the launch has been
good - the catalogue has been
extremely well received and
volurnes are encouraging.

Right and far right:
Royston Extra, UK

Qur retailing services, another
indicator of the growing breadth
of the business, have made
further good progress — helped by
our position as a leading internet
retailer. Dotcom was on excellent
form, with sales up 29% and
profits — before the start-up costs
of Tesco Direct — increasing

nearly 50%.

Tesco Persona.l Finance (TPF)
hasn't been immune from the
effects of a difficult retail financial
services market. However, I'm
optimistic for the future. TPF is the
best business of its kind in the
market, it is high returning and
under the new team there, | think
it will get back to a faster rate of
growth, 50% of TPF's product
sales are now on-line, providing

a strong platform from which

10 build.

Telecoms passed an important
milestone in the year — when it
moved into profit during the
second half, Customer numbers
also rose strongly, attracted by
its combination of simple, great
value tariffs, good service and
innovative new products.

tesco.com orders each week

Summary
In summary:

¢ Tesco is about growth and we
are confident of sustaining
strong growth into the future

* We do this by following the
customer — and as they change,
we change

+ At the same time, we can deliver
improving returns and tangible
benefits for shareholders

* We are playing our part in
tackling some of the sacial
and environmental challenges
we all face

* We've delivered strong results

across the Group by making
shopping better for customers

Tesco is about investing for the
future and delivering today -
and I'm confident that the
business is well-placed to meet
the challenges which lie ahead.

Terry Leahy Chief Exacutive
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the Board




1. DAVID REID 60
Non-executive Chairman «

David Reid became Non-executive
Chairman on 2 April 2004. Prior to
his appointment he was Deputy
Chairman of Tesco PLC and has
served on the Tesco Board since
1985. David is a Non-executive
Director of Reed Elsevier Group PLC
and Chairman of Kwik-Fit Group.

2. RODNEY CHASE CBE 63

Deputy Chairman and
Senior Non-executive esa

Rodney Chase was appointed

a Non-executive Director on

1 July 2002. He is Non-executive
Chairman of Petrofac Limited

and a Non-executive Director of
Computer Sciences Corporation

in Los Angeles, Nalco Company

in Chicago and Tesoro Carparation
in San Antonio. He also serves as
Senior Advisor 1@ Lehman Brothers
both in the United States and
Europe.

3. SIRTERRY LEAHY 51

Chief Executive e -

lerry Leahy became Chief
Executive in 1997, Joining

Tesco in 1979, he held a number
of marketing and commercial
positions prior to being appointed
to the Board of Tesco PLC on

5 October 1892,

4. RICHARD BRASHER 45

Commercial and
UK Marketing Director

Richard Brasher was appointed
to the Board on 15 March 2004,
He joined Tesco in 1986. He has
hetd a number of marketing,
commercial and store operations
positions, most recently UK
marketing directing.

e  Member of the Audit Committee

* David Potts is also respensibfe for Tesco Ireland.

¢ Member of the Nominations Committee
a  Member of the Remuneration Committee

5. PHILIP CLARKE 47
International and IT Director
Philip Clarke was appointed to
the Board on 16 November 1998,
Prior to his appointment he

held a number of rotes in store
operations, commercial and
marketing. He is a Non-executive
Director of Whitbread PLC.

6. ANDREW HIGGINSON 49
Finance and Strategy Director
Andrew Higginson was appoinied
to the Board on 17 November
1997. He is a member of the
100 Group of Finance Directers,
Chairman of Tesco Personal
Finance and a Non-executive
Director of BSkyB PLC. He is
also respensible for retailing
services, including tesco.com,
Tesco Telecoms and Tesco Direct.

7. TIM MASON 49

President and Chief Executive
Officer Fresh & Easy
Neighborhood Market

Tim Mason was appointed to
the Board on 16 February 1995,
He joined Tesco in 1982 and
has been President of our US
operations since 2006.

8. LUCY NEVILLE-ROLFE CMG

54 Corporate and Legal
Affairs Director

Lucy Neville-Rolfe was appeinted
to the Board in December. She
joined Tesco in 1997 and was
Company Secretary from 2004-
2006. She is Deputy Chair of the
British Retail Consortium and

a member of the China Britain
Business Council and of the
Corporate Leaders Group on
Climate Change.

9. DAVID POTTS 50

Retail and Logisties Director”
David Potts was appeinted ©

the Board on 16 November 1998,
He joined Tesco in 1973, From
1997 he directed the integration
of our businesses in Northern
Ireland and the Republic of
Ireland before returning to the UK
in 2000 as Director responsible
for UK Retail Operations. From
2004, David’s responsibilities have
included the UK supply chain.

10. CHARLES ALLEN CBE 50
Non-executive Director sa
Charles Allen was appointed

a Non-executive Director on

19 February 19599. He was Chief
Executive of ITV PLC from 2004

to 2007. He is a Non-executive
Director of the London Organising
Commitiee of the Olympics and
Paralympics.

11. KAREN COOK 53
Non-executive Director ea

Karen Cock was appointed a Non-
executive Director on 1 October
2004. She is a Managing Director
of Gotdman Sachs International
and President of Geldrman Sachs,
Europe. She is also a member of
the firm's European Management
Committee and Partnership
Committee,

12. E MERVYN DAVIES CBE
54 Non-executive Director e a
Mervyn Davies was appointed

a Non-executive Director on

7 July 2003. He is Chairman

of Standard Chartered PLC.

13. DR HARALD EINSMANN
73 Non-executive Director ea
Dr Harald Einsmann was
appointed a Non-executive
Director an 1 Aprit 1999, He is
on the Board of Carlson Group
of Companies and Checkpoint
Systems Inc. and is on the Board
of Stora Enso Oy, part of the
Wallenberg Group, as well as
on the Board of Rezidor AB

in Sweden.

14. KEN HYDON 62
Non-executive Director ee

Ken Hydon was appointed

a Non-executive Director an

23 February 2004. He is also

a Non-executive Director of
Reckitt Benckiser PLC, The Royal
Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust
and Pearson PLC.

15. CAROLYN McCALL 45
MNon-executive Director e
Carolyn McCall was appointed

a Non-executive Director on

1 March 2005. She is Chief
Executive of the Guardian Media
Group PLC, which comprises
The Guardian and The Observer
newspapers and websites, a
regicnal media group, a radio

diviston and Trader Media Group.

She chairs Opportunity Now,
the UK's leading membership
organisation working towards
gender equality and diversity
in the workplace.

16. JONATHAN LLOYD 40
Company Secretary

Jonathan Lloyd was appointed
Company Secretary to the
Board in December 2006.

He joined Tesco as Deputy
Company Secretary and
Corporate Secretariat Director
in April 2005 from Freshfields
Bruckhaus Deringer.
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Summary Directors’ Report

Independent auditors’ statement to the
members of Tesco PLC

We have examined the summary financial statements
which comprises the Summary Censolidated Income
Staterment, Summary Consolidated Balance Sheet,
Summary Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the
Summary Directors’ Remuneration Report set out on
pages 48 to 52.

Respective responsibilities of Directors
and auditors The Directors are responsible for
preparing the summarised annual report in
accordance with United Kingdom law.

QOur responsibility is 1o report to you our opinion on
the consistency of the summary financial statement
within the summarised annual report with the full
annual financizl statements, the Directors’ Report
and the Directors' Remuneration Report, and its
compliance with the relevant requirements of section
251 of the Companies Act 1985 and the regulations
made thereunder.

We also read the other information contained in

the surnmarised annual report and consider the
implications for our statement if we become aware of
any apparent misatatements or material inconsistencies
with the summary financial staternent.

This statement, including the opinion, has been
prepared for and only for the Company’s members
as a body in accordance with section 251 of the
Companies Act 1985 and fer no other purpose.
We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this statement is shown or into
whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Basis of opinien We conducted our work in
accordance with Bulletin 199906, ‘The auditors’
statement on the summary financial statement”
issued by the Auditing Practices Board. Our reports
on the Company’s full annual financial statements
describe the basis of our audit opinicns on

those financial statements and the Directors’
Remuneration Report.

Opinion In our opinien the summary financial
statement is cansistent with the full annual financial
statements, the Directors’ Report and the Directors’
Remuneation Report of Tesco PLC for the year ended
24 February 2007 and complies with the applicable
requirements of section 251 of the Companies Act
1988, and the regulations made thereunder.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

16 April 2007

Principal activity and business review The principal activity of the Group is retailing and
associated activities in the UK, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, the Republic of Ireland,
Slovakia, Turkey, China, Japan, Malaysia, Seuth Korea, and Thailand. We have also announced
our plans to open in the United States. The summary financial statement and Operating and
Financial Review is on pages 50 to 52,

Dividends The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 6.83p per ordinary
share to be paid on 6 July 2007 to members on the Register at the close of business an

27 April 2007, Together with the interim dividend of 2.81p per ordinary share paid in
December 2006, the total dividend for the year will be 9.64p, compared with 8.63p for the
previous year, an increase of 11.7%.

Directors Details of the current members of the Board are shown on pages 46 and 47.
Mr E M Davies, Dr H Einsmann, Mr K J Hydon, Mr D T Potts and Mr D E Reid retire from the
Board by rotation and, being eligible offer themselves for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting (AGM). Miss L Neville-Rolfe joined the Board in December 2006, and as required
by the Articles of Association, will offer herself for election at the AGM.

Corporate governance Tesco PLC is cammitted to the highest standards of corporate
governance, The Board considers that Tesco PLC complied in all respects with the Combined
Code Principles of Good Governance and Code of Best Practice for the year ended 24 February
2007. A full corporate governance statement is contained in the Annual Report and Financial
Statements 2007.

Summary report of the Directors on remuneration

Directors’ remuneration policy it is the role of the Remuneration Committee to determine
and recommend to the Board the remuneration policy for the Chairman and Executive
Directors. Tesca has a policy of rewarding talent and experience and seeks to provide incentives
for delivering high growth and high returns for shareholders. The current remuneration strategy
is tailored to reward the detivery of strong year-on-year earnings growth as well as sustained
performance in the longer term.

Compliance The Remuneration Commitiee has been constituted and operated throughout
the year in accordance with the principles outlined in the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority derived from Schedule A and B of the 2003 Revised Combined Code. In framing the
remuneration policy, full consideration is given to best practice. The Remuneration Report
complies with the disclosures required by the Director Remuneration Report Regulations 2002,

A summary of Directors' emofuments and interests is set out on page 49. The full
Remuneration Report is provided in the Annuat Report and Finandial Statements 2007.




Directors’ emoluments

Fixed ernoluments Performance-related emoluments
Share Snort-term
Incentive Deferrad Total Total
Salary Allowances Benefits (b} Plan Shart-term Shares Long-term {c) 2006/07 2005/06
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £QGO E£000 £000
Executive Directors
SirTeryleahy 1,202 - a9 3 1,240 1,240 © g4 4618 3979
MrR Brasher 622 - 59 3 650 660 - 2000 1622
Mr P A Clarke e - 92 3 708 708 434 2631 2.219
MrATHigginson 686 - 88 3 708 703 268 2681 2300
MeT J R Mason (a} 686 542 354 3 1,005 708 467 1765 2,256
Miss LNeville-Rolfe () 20 o 15 - &7 67 - 239 -
MrD T Potts ' 686 - 33 T 708 S 708 4% 2574 2219
Non-Executive Direciors
M C LAllen T 69 - - - T oo 65 58
MrRF Chase 109 - '- Z - - - 109 100
Mrs K Cook - 62 T - - - - - 62 55
MriEM Davies ) o 70 - - ~ T l - . 70 i 60
DrJ:| Eihsmann o ' 62 s - - _ - - — 62 55
MrKJHydon 69 - I - Z L e 69 58
Ms C McCall o 62 - - - - - - 62 53
Mr D E Reid (Chairman) 536 - 7 - - - - 612 586
Total 5,697 542 816 18 5,096 4,799 2,639 19,607 15,620

{a) MrTJR Masan relocated to the US during the year. Benefits and allewances were paid to MrT J R Mason in line with the Tesco approach to expatriate transfers including
one-off payments for relocation, and travel and localisation costs including schooling. For future years this will be reduced to a non-pensicnable salary supplement and a
more focussed package of benefits which recognises ongoing expatriate costs including travel, medicat and tax-related vosts and services. Mr T J R Masen's shert-term cash
bopus includes cash compensation payments in respect of accumulated share rights from existing plans paid in cash as a result of his move to the US.

{b) With the exception of Mr T J R Mason, benefits are made up of car benefits, chauffeurs, disability and health insurance, staff discount and gym#eisure club membership,

{c) The long-term bonus figures shown i table 1 relate to the additional 12.5% enhancements allocated in May 2006 on short-term and long-term awards under the old
bonus scheme, The long-term ponuses awarded on 20 July 2006 under the Performance Share Plan were awarded in the form of nil cost options with the exception of
Mr T J R Mason who received an unfunded promise to defiver shares. Details of this award are shown in table &.

(d) Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appointed on 14 December 2006. The figures in table 1 are calculated from the date of her appoiniment,

Disclosable interests of the Directors, including family interests

Number of shares

Value

Options Options Exercise price realisable Crdinary

held at held at  of outstanding during shares at

25 February 24 February options 2006107 24 February

2006 (a) Granted Exercised 2007 {a) (pence} £000 2007 (&)

Executive Directors

Sir Terry L;eahy 5,745,347 1,436,920 1,671 7,180,596 0.00-318.6 4 6,161,039

Mr R Brasher ) 1,763,401 715619 347,564 2,131,456 0.00-3186 469 165,483

Mr P A Clarke ' 2,185,101 820,688 831,122 2,174,667 0.00- 3186 1,050 1,491,104

Mr A T Higginson 2,585,673 820,688 1,231,694 2,174,667 0.00-3186 2,270 1,674,052

MrTJRMason 2,585,005 416,540 872725 21128820 000-3186 1,025 1963153

Miss L Neville-Rolfe (0 ) " 360,012 - - 350,012 159.0- 3186 - 255883

MrD T Potts 1,856,91 6 820,688 502,937 2,1'?;1,667 0.00-3186 824 1,843,088
Non-Executive Directors 5]
Mr C L Allen ) ' - - - - - - - S
Mr R F Chase - - - - - - 52,653 2
Mrs K Cook - - - - - - - =
Mr E M Davies _ - - ’ - - - - 2,400 g
Dr H Einsmann - - - - - - 209,353‘ ;
Mr K J Hydon - - - - - - 30,093 [a}
Ms C McCall - - - - - . 6,408 F
Mr D E Reid (Chairman) - - . - _ - 193347 4
(@) Op[iops to acquire ordinary shares shown above comprise optlons.held unde'-r the Executive Share Qption schemes, Discretionary Share Option Plan, Save As You Earn scherne, g
and nil cost options under the Performance Share Plan and Executive Incentive Plan. . m
(b} Ordinary shares shown in this table include shares held under incentive plans and shares awarded to Mr T J R Mason under the Performance Share Plan in 2006 in the form E‘

of a promise to deliver shares.
(€} Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appainted te the Board on 14 December 2006. No options have been granted ar exercised since the date of her appointment.




Summary Financial Statement and Operating and Financial Review

Income statement Group sales, including VAT, increased by 8.1%

to £46.6 billion {2006 — £43.1 billion) and by 10.9% on a comparable
52-week basis. At constant exchange rates, sales grew by 7.9% and
10.8% respectively. Group profit before tax increased by 18.7% to
£2,653 million (2006 — £2,235 million) and by 20.3% on 2 comparable
52-week basis. Underlying profit before tax (excluding IAS 32 and IAS 39
and the non-cash elements of 1AS 19, which are replaced by the normal
cash contributions) increased to £2,545 million, up by 11.8% (13.2%
on a comparabie 52-week basis), Underlying diluted eamnings per share
grew by 10.1% (11.6% on a comparable 52-week basis) to 22.36p and
dituted earnings per share increased by 17.0% (18.5% on a comparable
52-week basis) to 23.31p.

A final dividend of 6.83p per ordinary share (2006 - 6.10p} is proposed.
Togetherwith the interim dividend of 2.81p (2006 — 2.53p) already paid,
this brings the full year dividend to 9.64p {2006 — 8.63p} an increase of
11.7% on last year.

UK sales increased by 9.0% to £35.6 billion with like-for-like growth
of 5.6% {including volume of 5.0%) and 3.4% from net new stores.
Inflation overall was a modest 0.2%, as our cantinued investment in
lowering prices for customers was more than offset by the strength
of seasonal fresh food prices.

Increased productivity and good cost control have enabled us 1o
absorb significant external cost increases in the year, arising mainly
from higher oil-related costs and increases in local business taxes.
Consequently, UK operating profit was 16.5% higher at £2,083 million
(2006 - £1,788 million). Trading profit rose 9.2% o £1,914 million,
with trading margins simitar to last year at 5.9%.

Record efficiency savings of £350 million were delivered by our Step
Change programme, which bring together many initiatives to make
what we do better for customers, simpler for staff and cheaper for Tesco.

Total international sales grew by 5.3% to £11.0 billion. On a comparable
52-week basis, sales increased by 17.9% at actual rates. International
contributed £564 million to trading profit, up 10.8% at actual rates

(up 18.0% on a comparable 52-week basis).

In the rest of Europe, sales rose by 8,7% at actual rates to £6.3 billion
(2006 — £5.8 billion), and 18.7% on a comparable 52-week basis.
Trading profit increased to £318 million, up 17.3% on both a statutory
and comparable 52-week basis. In Asia, sales rose by 1% to £4.7 billien
{2006 — £4.7 billion), and 16.8% on a comparable 52-week basis.
Trading profit increased to £246 million, up 3.4% and 18.8% on

a comparable 52-week basis.

We have also announced our plans to open in the United States.
Total profit (net of tax and interest) from joint ventures and associates
for the year was £106 million compared to £82 million last year.

Tesco Personal Finance profit was £130 million, of which our share
was £65 million.

Net finance costs for the year were £126 million (2006 — £127 million).
Tax has been charged at an effective rate of 29.1% (2006 — 29.0%).




The summary financial statement on pages 51 and
52 and the summary Directors' report on pages 48
and 49 are a summary of information in the Annual
Report and Financial Statements 2007, This summary
financial statement does nat contain sufficient
infgrmation to allow for a full understanding of the
results of the Group and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group.

Fhe Directors’ report, the accounts and Auditors’ report
on those accounts, which is unqualified, are contained
in a separate publication entitled Annual Report and
Financial Statements 2007. Copies may be obtained
free of charge by writing to:

The Company Secretary,
Tesco PLC,

Tesco House,

Delamare Road,
Cheshunt,

Hertfordshire ENS 95L.

Telephone 01992 632222,

Shareholders wishing to receive the Annual Report and
Financial Staterments as well as the Annual Review and
Summary Financial Statement in future years should
write to this address,

The summary financial statement was
approved by the Board cn 16 April 2007.

Sir Terry Leahy
Andrew Higginsan
Directors

Summary Group Income Statement
Year ended 24 February 2007

2007 2006*
Em £m

Continuing operations
Revenue (sales excluding VAT) 412,641 39,454
Cost of sales (39,401) (36,426)
Pensions adjustment — Finance Act 2006 258 -
Impairment of the Gerrards Cross site 3%) -
Gross profit 3,463 3,028
Administrative expenses (907) (825)
Profit arising on property-related items 92 77
Operating profit 2,648 2,280
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates

{including £47 millien of property-related items (2005/06 — £nil)) 106 82
Profit on sale of invesiments in as;ociates 25 -
Finance income 90 114
Finance costs (216) (241)
Profit before tax 2,653 2,235
Taxation (772) (649)
Profit for the year for continuing operations 1,881 1,586
Discontinued operation
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operation 18 (10}
Profit for the year 1,899 1,576
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 1,892 1,570

Minority interests 7 &
1,899 1,576

Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations

Basic 23.84p 20.07p

Diluted 354 1999

Earnings per share from continuing operations

Basic 23.61p 20.20p

Diluted 23.31p 19.92p

Non-GAAP measure: underlying profit before tax £m £m

Profit before tax ' 2,653 2,235

Adjustments for:

IAS 32 and 1AS 39 ‘Financial instruments’

- Fair value remeasurements 4 9
Total IAS 19 Income Staternent charge for pensions 432 303
‘Normal' cash contributions for pensions (321) 270)
Exceptional items:

Pensions adjustment — Finance Act 2006 (258) -

Impairment of the Gerrards Crass site 35 -
Underlying profit before tax 2,545 2,277
Underlying diluted EPS 22.36p 20.30p

* Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 includes 52 weeks for the UK and Republic of Ireland and 14 months

for the majority of the remaining international businessas.
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Summary Financial Statement and Operating and Financial Review

continued

Summary Group balance sheet
24 February 2007

24 Feb 25 Feb
2007 2006
fm” Em
Non-current assets 20,231 18,644
Current assets fincluding assets held for sale) ’ 4,576 3,919
Current liabilities ' 8,152} (7,518)
Nat current liabilities (3,576) (3,599}
Total assets less current liabilities 16,655 15,045
Non-current liabilities (6,084) (5,601)
Net assets 10,571 9,444
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 10,506 9,380
Minority inierests ' 65 64
Total equity 10,571 9,444
Summary Group cash flow statement
Year ended 24 February 2007
2007 2006*
fm £m
Cash generated from operations 3,532 3,412
Interest paid (376) (364)
Corperation tax paid (545) (429
Net cash from operating activities 2,611 2,619
Net cash used in investing activities (2,343} (1,962)
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid @67 (441)
Qther net cash flows on financing activiti;_'s (66) 51
Net cash used in financing activities (533) (492)
Net (decrease)fincrease in cash and
cash equivalents {265) 165
Cash (inflow)/outflow from decrease from-.debt
and lease financing (268) 115
Net debt included within disposal group ‘ o - 55
QOther non-cash changes ’ 18 (357)
Increase in net debt in the year (515) (22)
Opening net debt at beginning of year (4,509) (4,487)
Closing net debt at end of year ‘ {5,024) (4,509)

Tesco
£170
£140 /
FTSE
£114 /

£50
Feb 01 Feb 02 Feb 03

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURM (TSR)
TSR is the notional return from a share orindex based
on share price movements and declared dividends

Feb 04 Feb 05 Feb 06 Feb 07

Balance sheet Net assets have increased by £1,127 million to
£10,571 miliion. Non-current assets increased by £1,587 million,
after charging depreciation and amortisation of £878 million.

Group capital expenditure was £3.0 billion, UK capital expenditure

was £1.9 billion, including £687 million on new stores and £295 million
on extensions and refits. Total international capital expenditure rose to
£1.1 billian, £0.4 billion in Asia and £0.7 billion in Europe. In the year
ahead we forecast Group capital expenditure to be around £3.5 billion.

Cash flow statement Overall, the Group generated a net cash outflow
of £265 miflion, leaving net debt of £5.0 billion at the year end,
£0.5 billian higher than last year, Gearing remained unchanged at 48%.

* Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 includes 52 weeks for the UK and Republic
of Ireland and 14 months for the majority of the remaining international businesses.

Performance graph The Group's total shareholder returmn performance
(ie. share price movements plus dividends reinvested) over the last five
financial years relative to the FTSE 100 index of companies is shown
here, This index has been selected to provide an established and
broad-based comparator group of retail and non-retail companies

of similar scale to Tesco, against which the Group’s TSR performance
can be measured.

There has also been a very strong perfarmance in TSR over the last
three and five years against a comparator group of our major retail
cormpetitors in the UK, Europe and the us.




Investor information

Summary five-year record

UK GAAP IFRS
2003 2004 2005 2008 2006' 2007
53 wks
Financial statistics
Group sales (including VAT) (£m) 28,280 33,557 37070 36957 £3,137 46,611
Revenue (excluding VAT} {(£€m)
UK ’ " 21,309 24,760 27146 27,146 29,990 32,665
Rest of Europe 2,664 3,385 3,818 3,818 5,095 5,559
Asia ’ ) 2,031 2,669 3,010 2,902 4,369 4,017
26,004 30,814 33,974 33,866 39,454 42,641
Operating profit’(Em)
UK B ) 1,289 1,486 1666 1,556 1,788 2,083
Rest of Europe ) 134 171 249 243 263 324
Asia . o T 9 121 149 153 229 241
Total Group 1,492 1778 2,064 1952 2,280 2,648 .
Underlying profit — UK GAAP? 1,401 1,708 2,029 NIA NiA NIA
Underlying profit — IFRS* N/A N/A N/A 1,925 2,277 2,545
Basic earnings per share® 13.54p 15.05p 17.72p 17.52p 20.20p 23.61p
Diluted eamings per share’ ’ 13.42p 1493p 1750p  17.30p 19.92p 2331p
Dividend per share® ) " 6.20p 6.84p 756p 7560 863 9.64p
Return on capital employed’ i ‘ 10.2% 10.4%_ 11.5% 11.8% 12-.7% 13.6%"
Group statistics "
Number of stores 2,291 2,318 2,334 2,334 2,672 3,263
Total sales area — 000 sq ft 39,944 45,402 49,135 49,135 55,215 68,189
Average employees 270,800 310,411 335750 335,750 368,213 413,061
Full-ime equivalent employees 188,182 223335 242980 242,980 273,024 318,283
UK retail statistics
Number of stores 1982 1878 1,780 1,780 1,898 1,988
Total sales area — 000 sq ft* 21,829 23,291 24,207 24,207 25,919 27,785
Revenue per employee? " 160,157 162,459 156,534 166534 170,923 177,084
Weekly sales per sq ft 2186 22.48 23.89 23.89 2506  25.48

' Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 include 52 weeks for the UK and ROl and 14 meonths for the majority of the remaining international businesses.

7 Operating profit includes integration costs and profit/(Joss) arising on sale of property related items.

* UK GAAP underlying profit excluded net profit/(lossy on disposal of fixed assets, integration costs and goedwill amortisatiors.

' IFRS underlying profit excludes |AS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financia} Instruments’ - Fair value remeasurements and the IAS 19 Income Statement charge for pensions, which s replaced by the
‘normal’ cash contributions. For the years 2003 to 2005, the above information is presented under UK GAAP as previously published. If {FRS had been applicable for these years the
main adjustmenzs would have been IFRS 2 ‘Share-Based Payment’, IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ and 1AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits',

* Diluted and basic earnings per share are on a continuing operations basis.

* Dividend per share relating to the interim and propesed final dividend.

" The numerator is profit before interest, less tax. The denominator is the calculated average of net assets plus net debt plus dividend creditor less net assets held for sale.

* Store sizes exclude lobby and restaurant areas.

° Based on average number of full-time equivalent employees in the UK, and revenue exclusive of VAT,

" Includes one-off gains from 'Pensions A-Day', without this one-off gain, RGCE was 12.6%.
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Investor information continued

Shareholder profile

Number of Ordinary
Shares held at

Number of holdings % 24 February 2007 %

Analysis by type of shareholder
Ermployees 48,615 16.98 128,932,792 1.62
Other individuals 218,950 76.45 439,249 566 5.53
Corparate institutions 18,826 6.57 7,379,167,200 92.85
286,391 100.00 7,947,349,558 - 100.00

Analysis by size of shareholding
1-1,000 187,57 65.49 43,491,398 0.55
1,001 - 10,000 85,203 29.75 272,328,816 3.43
10,001 - 100,000 ) 11,933 417 275,208,348 3.46
100,001 — 1,000,000 1,083 038 352,735,665 4.44
above 1,000,000 601 0.21 7,003,585,331 83.12
286,391 100.00 7,947,349,558 100.00




Financial calendar

Registrar and Shareholding Enquiries
If you have administrative enquiries about your holding of Tesco PLC
shares (other than ADRs) please contact;

Lloyds TSB Registrars

The Causeway,

Woarthing,

Woest Sussex BN99 6DA
Telephane 0870 600 3970

Consolidated Tax Vouchers

If your dividend is paid directly into your bank or building society account
you will receive one tax voucher each year. The consolidated tax voucher
will be sent to you in December at the time that the interim dividend is
paid and will cover l-)Oth dividend payments in the tax year, This will help
you to complete your tax return. This does not affect your dividends or the
tax that you pay in any way. If you would prefer to receive a tax voucher
with each dividend payment rather than one consalidated tax voucher
each tax year, please call our shareholder helpline on 0870 600 3976.

If your dividend is not curreﬁtly paid directly to your bank or building
society account and you would like to benefit from this service please
contact Lloyds TSB Registrars an 0870 600 3976 and they will be pleased
to arrange this for you. By choosing to receive your dividends in this way
you can avoid the risk of cheques getting lost in the post and ensure
you receive your dividends on the payment day.

Note: Cansolidated Tax Vouchers are not available to insticutional
shareholders.

Tesco Website

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the financial information on our website. This information has been
prepared under relevant accounting standards and legislation.

Tesco information, including the Annual Report and Financial
Statements 2007 and our Corporate Responsibility Review 2007,
is available on our website: www.tesco.comicorporate

Electronic Communications
You can register for Shareview, a free on-line share information and
dealing service operated by Lloyds TSB Registrars. Once you have
registered you can;
« check your shareholding
¢ access sharehalder information
* gledt to recetve information electranically, getting quick
access to these important documents and helping to save
the environment by reducing the amount of paper used

* vote on the resolutions at the Annual General Meeting.

Ta register, log on to www.shareview.co.uk and click on “register now’.
Your rights as a shareholder will not be affected in any way. if you
have any questions about the service, please call 0870 600 3976.

Security reminder

Under the Companies Act we are obliged to hold all shareholders’
names and addresses on a register of members and give a copy of
this fist to Registrar of Companies every year. :

The Reqistrar of Companies makes this list available to anyone who
requests it and many companies use this information (sometimes
matching it to telephone records) to market their services. Tesco PLC
has no relationship with, and does not endorse any of the services
offered by these companies.

If you are concerned about any direct mailing or telephone calls
purperting to be from Tesce, please contact us by writing 1o the
Company Secretary, Tesco House, Delamare Road, Cheshunt,
Hertfordshire EN8 95L or by calling us on 01992 632222,

Customer Services
Tesco Customer Services
Freepost 5C022938
Dundee DD1 9NF
Telephene 0800 505555

Investor Relations

{investor Relations Department
Tesco PLC,

Tesco House,

Delamare Road,

Cheshunt, .
Hertfordshire EN8 95L
Telephone 01992 646484

Secretary and Registered Office
Mr Jonathan Lloyd

Tesco PLC,

Tesco House,

Delamare Road,

Cheshunt,

Hertfordshire EN8 95L

Telephone 01992 §32222

Financial Calendar

2007
Financial year end 24 February 7
Results announced 17 Aprit
Final dividend: ex-dividend date 25 April
Final dividend: record date 27 April
AGM 29 June
Final dividend: payment date 6 July
Half year end 25 August
Interim dividend: ex-dividend date 10 October
Interim dividend: record date 12 Qctober

Interirm dividend: payment date 21 December
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what’s inside the reports

Annual Review and Summary Annual Report Corporate Responsibility
Financial Statement and Financial Statements Review

Read a full review of our UK Read our full financial Read about our social,

and international business statements and accounts. environmental and ethical

and a summary of our pelicies throughout our business.

financial statement.

These reports are available on-line at www.tesco.com/corporate

Evewy Wille holps

How to find out more on-line

Every year, more and more information is available
for our shareholders, staff and customers
on-line at www.tesco.comicorporate

Talking Tesco

Qur Talking Tesco website is helping us to listen
0 our customers, suppliers 2nd staff more easily.
if you would like o make a comment please log
an to www.tesco.comitalkingtesco
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financial hlghllghts growth on 2006*

10.9% 13.2% 20.3%

Group sales Underlying Group Group profit before tax
(including VAT) profit before tax'
0 ) 0
11.6% 18.5% 11.7%
Underlying diluted Diluted earnings Dividend per share
earnings per share! per share

2007 2006 2006

On a continuing operations basis 52 weeks 60 weeks 52 weeks
Group sales (Em) (including value added tax) 46,611 43,137 42,016
Group revenue (£Em) (excluding value added tax) 42,641 39,454 38,443
Underlying Group profit before taxt (£m) 2,545 2277 2,248
Group profit before tax {£m) 2,653 2,235 2,206
Underlying diluted earnings per sharet (p) 22.36 20.30 20.04
Diluted earnings per share (p) 23.31 19.92 19.67
Dividend per share (p) 9.764 8.63 -
Group enterprise value (£m)

(market capitalisation plus net debt) 40,469 30,841 -
Return on capital employed 12.6%1 12.7% 12.5%

T Adjusted for 1AS 32, 1AS 39, the net difference between the IAS 12 income statement charge and ‘normal’ cash
contributions for pensions, the Pensions Adjustment — Finance Act 2006 and impairment of the Gerrards Cross site.

* Resiated for the year ended 25 February 2006 including 52 weeks for the UK and ROJ and a comparable
12 months (March — February) for the majonity of the remaining International businesses.

tIncluding the one-off gain from Pensions A-Day, ROCE was 13.6%.




Operating and financial review

Group summary

2007 20060  Change

Em £mn %
Group sales
(including value added tax) 46,611 43,137 8.1
Underlying profit
before taxi 2,545 2,277 11.8
Group profit before
laxation 2,653 2,235 18.7
Underlying diluted
earnings per share (p) 2236 2030 101
Diluted earnings
per share (p) 23.31 19.92 17.0
Dividend per share (p) 9.64 B.63 1.7
UK performance

2007 2006*  Change

£m £m %
Sales
(including value added tax) 35580 32657 9.0
Operating profit 2,083 1,788 16.5
Trading profit* 1,914 1,752 9.2
Trading margint 5.9% 5.8%

Rest of Europe performance

2007 2006*  Change

£m £m %
Sales
(including value added tax) 6,324 5,820 8.7
Operating profit i 324 263 ) 232
Trading profit* 318 2N 17.3
Trading rnargind 5.7% 5.3%

Asia performance

2007 20060 Change

£m £m %
Sales
(including value added tax} 4,707 4,660 1.0
Operatiﬁg proi'it 241 ) 224 ) 52
Trading profit* 206 238 34
Trading margint 5.6% 5.4%

t Adjusted for IAS 32, 1AS 39, the net difference between
tha 1AS 19 income statement charge and 'normal’ cash
contributions for pensions, the Pensions Adjustment Finance
Act 2006 and impairment of the Gerrards Cross site.

* Trading Prafit is an adjusted measure of aperating profit
excluding property-related items and replaces the IAS 19 income
staterment charge with ‘normal’ cash contributions for pensions.

¥ Trading Margin is calculated using sales excluding value
added tax.

¢ Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 include 52 weeks
for the UK and the Republic of Ireland and 14 months for the
rmajority of the remaining International businesses.

This Operating and Financial Review (OFR)
analyses the performance of the Tesco Group
in the financial year ended 24 February 2007,
It also explains other aspects of the Group’s
results and operations, including strategy
and risk management.

Long-term strategy

Tesco has a well-established and consistent
strategy for growth, which has allowed us to
strengthen our core UK business and drive
expansion into new markets. Our four part
strategy to diversify the business was laid down
in 1997 and has been the foundation of Tesco’s
success in recent years. The new businesses
which have been created and developed over
the last decade as part of this strategy now have
scale, they are competitive and profitable —

in fact, they make more profit than the entire
Group did in 1997,

The objectives of the strategy are:
* to grow the core UK business;
* to become a successful international retailer; -
* to be as streng in non-food as in foed; and

* to develop retailing services - such as Tesco
Personal Finance, Telecoms and tesco.com.

In 2006/07, Tesco has again delivered a strong
performance, with all four parts of the strategy
contributing. We have sustained good growth

in the UK and coped well with the challenges

of recovering competitors, rising costs and a
cautious consurner background. In our international
operations we have also made good progress,
completing our largest ever programme of new
store openings and weathered difficult conditions
in some of our largest markets. In non-food,
more customers are choosing to shop with us
even in a period of more cautious consumer
spending and we have launched Tesco Direct,
which extends our reach in selling a broad range
of products on the internet and via catalogue.
Finally, our retailing services have delivered
another good year, with tesco.com sustaining

its rapid growth, Tesco Personal Finance making
progress in challenging markets and Telecoms
continuing to build its customer base strongly.
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Operating and financial review continued

Group performance

These results represent very good progress across
the Group and have been achieved by investing
to improve the shopping experience for
customers in our businesses around the world.
We have been able to deliver anather solid sales
performance, and through good cost control and
productivity improvements we have grown profits
faster than revenue — and thereby improved
returns for shareholders. These improvements
have been achieved whilst continuing to invest in
the long term ~ in the people, assets, processes
and systems, which will enable Tesco to sustain
its success in the future.

Group These results are for the 52 weeks ended
24 February 2007, compared with the equivalent
52-week period for the UK and the Republic of
Ireland combined with the 60-week period to
the end of February 2006 for the majority of

the international businesses. Where appropriate,
and for ease of comparison, total Group and
segmental results are also reported against a

comparable 52-week period to 25 February 2006.

Group sales, including VAT, increased by 8.1%
to £46.6bn (last year £43.1bn} and by 10.9%
on & comparable 52-week basis. At constant
exchange rates, sales increased by 7.9% and
10.8% respectively.

Last April, with our Preliminary Results for
2005/06, and following our transition to IFRS,
we introduced an underlying profit measure,
which excludes the impact of the volatile non-
cash elements of IAS 19, IAS 32 and IAS 39
(principally pension costs and the marking to
market of financial instruments). Underlying
profit rose to £2,545m in the year, an increase
of 13.2% on a comparable 52-week basis. This
includes, as usual, property profits but excludes
both the gain in the year from the Finance Act
2006 pensions adjustment (Pensions A-Day)
and the impairment charge on our Gerrards
Cross site.

With our Interim Results for 2006/07, we also
began reporting segmental trading profit, which
excludes property profits and, as our underlying
profit measure does, also excludes the non-cash
element of the IAS 19 pension charge. In the
current year this measure also excludes the
Pensions A-Day gain and the impairment
charge on Gerrards Cross. Group trading profits
were £2,478m, up 11.1% on lastyearon a
comparable basis.

Group operating profit rose by 17.7% to
£2,648m. Total net Group property profits were
£139m, comprising £98m in the UK, a £6m loss
in Asia and a £47mn profit within Joint Ventures
and Associates.

Comparable Basis  Statutory Basis

52 weeks v§ 52 weeks vs

52 weeks 60 weeks

Actual rates Actual rates "Constant Actual rates

E,roup sales {inc. VAT) £46,611m 10.9% 10.8% ’ B8.1%
Group profit before tax £2,653m 20.3% 19.9% 18.7%
Gmﬁp operating profit E2,648m 17.7% 17.4% 16.1%
Group undertying profit £2,545m 13.2% 12.9% 11.8%
Group trading profit £2,478m 11.1% 10.8% 9.6%
Trading margin 5.8% - - -




International On a comparable 52 week basis, total international sales grew by 17.9% at actual
exchange rates to £11.0bn and by 17.4% at constant exchange rates. Like-for-like sales in International
grew by 2.0% in the year, with net new space contributing the remaining 15.4%.

Internatienal contributed £564m to trading profit, up 18.0% on last year on a comparable basis, with
stable tracding margins at 5.7%. At constant exchange rates, international trading profit grew by 16.5%.
Before integration costs and initial operating losses, trading profit rase by 20.9% and margins
increased slightly.

Comparable Basis  Statutory Basis

52 weeks vs 52 weeks vs

52 weeks 60 weeks

Actual rates Actual rates Constant Actual rates

international sales (inc, VAT) E£11,031m 17.9% 17.4% 53%
International trading profit l 7 E£564m 18.0% 16.5% 10.8%

Trading margin 57% - - -

In Asia, sales grew by 16.8% at actual exchange rates on a comparable 52 week basis to £4.7bn
{last year £4.0bn). At constant rates, sales grew by 13.5%. After charging £0.3m of integration costs
and initial operating losses on the Makro stores acquired in Malaysia, Asia trading profit increased by
18.8% to £246m at actual rates (last year £207m) on a comparable basis and by 14.5% at constant
rates. Before integration costs and initial operating losses, trading profit increased by 14.7%. Trading
margins rose in Asia to 5.6%, driven by strong performances in Korea, Thailand and Malaysia.

Comparable Basis  Statutory Basis

52 weeksvs 52 weeks vs

52 weeks 60 weeks

Actual rates Actual rates Conszant Acttual rates

Asia sales {inc. VAT) £4,707m 16.8% 13.3% 1.0%
Asia trading profit . £246m 18.8% 14.5% 3.4%

Trading margin 5.6% - - -

In the Rest of Europe, sales rose by 18.7% to £6.3bn (last year £5.3bn) on a comparablz basis.

Al constant rates, sales grew by 20.3%. Trading profit increased by 17.3% at actual rates to £318m

(last year £271m) and by 18.0% at constant rates. Trading margins reduced slightly, after charging
£14.0m of integration costs and initial operating losses on the stores acquired from Carrefour and

Edeka in the Czech Republic and Casino in Poland, and with improvements in most of Central Eurcpe,
Ireland and Turkey being offset by the continuing effects of a weak economy in Hungary. Before charging
integration costs, trading profit grew by 22.5% and margins rose.

Comparable Basis  Statutory Basis

52 weeks vs 52 weeks vs

52 weeks 60 weeks

Actual rates Actual rates Constant Actual rates

Rest of Europe sales (inc. VAT) £6,324m 18.7% 20.3% 8.7%
Rest of Europe trading profit £318m 17.3% 18.0% 17.3%

Trading margin 5.7% - - -

UK UK sales increased by 9.0% to £35.6bn (last year £32.7bn), with like-for-like growth of 5.6%
(including volume of 5.0%) and 3.4% from net new stores. Excluding petrol, like-for-like sales grew by
5.6%. In our stores, we saw modest inflation of 0.2%, as our continued investment in lowering prices
for customers was more than offset by the strength of seasonal fresh food prices.

Fourth quarter like-for-like sales growth, excluding petrol, was 5.8%. This compared with growth of 5.6%
in the third quarter. Including petrol, like-for-like sales grew by 4.9%. Total sales grew by £.2% in the

- quarter, including 3.3% from net new stores. In the final seven weeks of the financial year, like-for-iike
growth excluding petrol, was 5.8%, with 4.0% coming from net new stores (which includes Tesco Direct).
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Operating and financial review continued

increased productivity and good expense controls have
enabled us to absorb significant external cost increases in

the year, arising mainly from higher oil-related costs and
increases in local business taxes. Start-up costs totalling £42m
for Tesco Direct and establishing our operations in the United
States were charged to the UK. Although the combined
start-up fosses were a little below our previous guidance of
£50m, we expect these to increase during the current year,
particularly in the US, as we recruit store and depot staff
ahead of our planned launch later this year (see page 12).

Despite absorbing these additional costs, UK trading profit
rose 9.2%, with trading margins at 5.9%, similar to last year.

2006/7 Growth
UK sales {inc. VAT) £35,580m 9.0%
UK trading profit £1914m 9.2%
Trading margin 5.9% -

Joint Ventures and Associates Our share of profit {net of tax
and interest) for the year was £106m compared to £82m last
year. Tesco Personal Finance (TPF) profit was £130m, of which
our share was £65m, down on |ast year after absorbing higher
provisions for bad and doubtful debts. Profits from property
joint ventures rose significantly, due to the sale of two stores
{in which we remain tenants) to third parties, realising £47m
of property profits from two of aur joint venture companies
during the year.

In September, we sold our 38.5% equity stake in GroceryWorks,
an internet grocery retailing business in the United States {US),
to Safeway Inc., which resulted in a profit of £22m.

Exceptional items Pensicns adjustment (Pensions A-Day):
In April 2006, a Finance Act revision was agreed. This change,
known as Pensions A-Day, enabled members of our UK defined
benefit scheme to gain additional pension flexibility, altering
our pension scheme assumptions and resulting in a reduction
of the future liability by £250 million pre-tax. Changes in
pension assumptions for the Republic of Ireland pension
scheme produced a smaller gain of £8m, bringing the total
exceptional gain to £258m, recognised in the Income
Staternent. Gerrards Cross: we are facing continuing
uncertainty in respect of our Gerrards Cross site as a result

of the complex tegal situation following the tunnel collapse.
No decision has yet been taken about the future for this site.
However, at year end we have written off the carrying value of
our existing asset there {an impairment charge of £35m). We
are not yet in a position to assess any recoveries or liabilities
in respect of ongoing claims.

Finance costs and tax Net finance costs were £126m

(last year £127m), giving interest cover of 21 times (last year
18 times). Total Group tax has been charged at an effective
rate of 29.1% (last year 29.0%).

Underlying diluted earnings per share increased by 11.6%
on a comparable basis, to 22.36p (last year — 20.04p).

Dividend The Board has proposed a final dividend of 6.83p
per share {last year 6.10p). This represents an increase of
12.0%. As announced with our Preliminary Results last year,

we have now built dividend cover to comfortable levels and this
increase in dividend is again in line with growth in underlying
diluted earnings per share, which includes net property profits.
We intend to continue to grow future dividends broadly in line
with underlying diluted earnings per share growth.

The final dividend will be paid on 6 July 2007 to shareholders
on the Register of Members as at the close of business on

27 April 2007 (the dividend record date). Sharehclders now
have the opportunity to elect to reinvest their cash dividend
and purchase existing Tesco shares in the Company through a
Dividend Reinvestment Plan. This scheme replaced the scrip
dividend at the last Interim Results and was introduced to
reduce dilution of issued shares and improve earnings per share.

Cash flow and Balance Sheet Group capital expenditure
(excluding acquisitions) rose as planned, to £3.0bn during

the year (last year £2.8bn), UK capital expenditure was £1.9bn
(last year £1.8bn), including £687m on new stores and £295m
on extensions and refits. Total international capital expenditure
rose slightly to £1.1bn {last year £1.0bn); comprising £0.4bn

in Asia and £0.7bn in Europe.

The UK total inctudes £89m of capital invested in establishing
our operations in the United States. We expect US investrnent
to move to around the £250m level this year, in line with the
guidance we issued when we announced our entry to the
market |ast year. We expect Group capital expenditure this
year to be around £3.5bn.

Cash flow from operating activities, including an improvement
of £11m within working capital, totalled £3.5bn. Overall, the
Group had a net cash outflow of £265m during the year,
leaving net borrowings of £5.0bn at the year-end, £0.5bn
higher than last year. Gearing was 48%.

Return on capital employed In April last year, we renewed
our commitment to increasing our post-tax return on capitat
employed (ROCE}, having exceeded our 2004 aspiration two
years early. We set a new target to improve ROCE by a further
200 basis points. The strong performance of the business
delivered slightly higher ROCE in 2006/07 — at 12.6% {last
year 12.5%), (Including the one-off benefit from Pensions
A-Day, ROCE was 13.6%). This represents good progress
and was achieved despite carrying the extra start-up costs
and investment in the US and Tesco Direct as well as the
integration costs and capital employed in our Internaticnal
acquisitions and increased stake in Hymall. This means that
ROCE is on track to meet our new target.




Total Shareholder Return Total sharehoider return (TSR),
which is measured as the percentage increase in the share
price, plus the dividend paid, has increased by 36% in
2006/07, its largest value increase for ten years — and the
fastest percentage growth rate for three years.

Over the iast three years, TSR has grown 87% compared
with the FTSE100 average of 58%. Over five years, the
increase has been 102% compared to the increase in the
average for FTSE100 companies of just 50%.

Releasing value from property

As announced last April, we plan to release cash from property
through a sequence of joint ventures and other transactions,
both in the UK and internationally and return significant value
o shareholders, either through enhanced dividends (through
the growth in underlying earnings per share, which includes
property profits) or share buy-backs. The first of these deals,
with the British Airways Pension Fund, which formed part of
our plan to release some £5bn of funds from property over five
years, was completed during the second half, A second, larger
joint venture transaction was completed with The British Land
Company PLC after the year end.

Combined, these two transactions invelved the divestment

to these joint ventures of some 5% of our UK store space.
They realised £1,015m in net proceeds and were completed at
very attractive initial yields below 4.5%, whilst also delivering
significant property profits from which dividends are paid to
shareholders. The average premium to bock value gn these
transactions has been nearly 100%. Some of the proceeds
have already been used to fund our share buy-back
programme. Importantly, these joint ventures also provide

us with the right pfatform to run our business for customers.

The net bookvalue of our fixed assets is £17bn = most of it
in freehold stores — even after these divestments, We estimate
current market value to be around 65% higher than this.

Given the store of value embedded in our property and the
strength of our covenant we have decided to divest more
freehold property assets than the £5bn we announced last
April. This is consistent with our commitment to retain the
strong asset-backing to our balance sheet and the freehold
element of our property base will be maintained above 70%.

At least £1.5bn of our originally planned £5bn of proceeds
were to be used to buy Tesco shares in the market, initially to
offset future dilution to earnings per share and almost £470m
has already been spent in this way. In light of our erlarged
programme of property divestment, we now plan to return

a total of at least £3bn of the proceeds to shareholders.

Pensions The provision of Tesco’s award-winning UK defined
benefit pension scheme for our staff remains an important
priarity. It goes to the heart of ourvalues and helps us attract
and retain the best people. We manage and fund our scheme
on an actuarial valuation basis and, as at December 2006, the
scheme was estimated to be fully funded, largely as a result
of improved asset performance.

IFRS requires that we value pension scheme liabilities using a
high quality corporate bond yield and calculate the operating

charge in the Income Statement as if invested purely in bonds.

At February 2007, the IAS 19 pension deficit was just under
£670m on a post-tax basis, a significant reduction on last
year, reflecting Pensions A-Day. The A-Day change enabled
members of our UK defined benefit scheme to gain additional
pension flexibility, altering our pension scheme assumptions
and resulting in a reduction of the future liability by £250m
pre-tax {see pensions adjustment on page 6).
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Operating and financial review continued

Key Performance Indicators (KPls)

We operate a balanced scorecard approach to managing the business that is known internally within the Group as our Steering
Wheel. This unites the Group's resources around our customers, people, operations, finance and the community. This enables the
business to be operated and manitored on a balanced basis with due regard for all stakeholders. Some of the KPIs below are

tracked through our Steering Wheel and others are tracked as a monitor of investor return.

2007* 2006*
Sales growth
Change in Group sales over the year (i-ncluding value added tax') 10.9% 13.2%
UK sales growth ) ' 9.0% 10.7%
International sales growth 17.9% 23.0%
tnternational sales growth (at constant exchange rates) 17.4% 15.5%
Profit before tax £2,653m £2,206m
Underlying profit before tax ) £2,545m £2,248m
Trading margin
UK trading margin 5.9% 5.8%
International trading margin 5.7% 5.7%
Trading margin is calculated frorn the operating profit expressed as a percentage of Group revenue {sales excluding
value added tax). It is a measure of profit generation fram sales and is a comparable performance measure with
other companies. This is how much we made from trade in our stores, taking account of the cost of the products
sold, wages and salaries, expenses asscciated with running the stores, depots and head office, and the cost of
depreciation of the assets used to generate the profits.
Met cash (outflow)inflow £(265)m £165m
Net cash inflow is the cash received Ie:ss cash spent during the financial period, after financing activities.
Capital expenditure E£3.0bn £2.8bn
This is the cash invested in pur(hasin'g fixed assets.
UK ‘ £19bn £1.86n
nternational £1.1bn £1.0bn
Net borrowings and gearing
Net _borro-wings ! £5.0bn £4.50n
Gearing ) 8% 48%
Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) 12.6%# 12.5%
ROCE is calculated as profit before interest tess tax divided by the average of net assets plus net debt plus
dividend creditor less net assets held for sale. ROCE is a relative profit measurement that not only incorporates
the funds shareholders have invested, but alse funds invested by banks and other lenders, and therefare shows the
productivity of the assets of the Group.
Underlying diluted earnings per sha:re . . 22.36p 20.04p

Underlying diluted earnings per share is the calculation of profit after tax and minority interest divided by the
diluted weighted average number of shares in issue during the year. It is the amount which could be paid out on each
share if the Company decided to distribute all its psofits as dividends instead of retaining some for future expansion.

*On a 52-week comparable basis.
# including the one-off gain from Pensions A-Day, ROCE was 13.6%.
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2007 2006
Jotal shareholder return 36.0% 45.8%
Total shareholder return is the notional }eturn frorﬁ a share and is measured as the percentage ¢hange in the share
price, plus the dividend paid. This is measured over the last five years.
Full year dividenf:i per share - ’ B 9.64p 8.63p

The grewth of the dividend per share from one period to the next is important to shareholders since this represents
their actual cash return, and is usually paid twice a year.

We monitor a wide range of KPls, both financial and non-financial. Across the Group, KPls are set locally, with oversight from the
Executive Directors, to ensure they are tailored to drive the priorities of each business. Each business operates a Steering Wheel, our
balanced scorecard. During the last year we have made good progress with rolling-out our Corporate Responsibility management
systern to our International operations. We report quarterly on social, ethical and environmental matters alongside their Customer,
Operations, Finance and People KPIs. More detail on each country follows in the *Operations, resources and relationships’ section.

The following are some KPls for the UK and Group operations.

2007 2006
UK market share
Grocery market share* ’ 21.0% 20.2%
Non-food market share ' ) 8.0% 7.0%
*This is measured as the share of all spend by all shoppers through Taylor Nelson Sofres Superpanel {Total Till Roll) data.
Supplier viewpoint measure ’ 94% 94%
We aim to monitor supplier relations thr.ough the Supplier Viewpoint Survey, The target is for over 90% of suppliers
to view Tesco a5 being trustworthy, reliable, consistent, clear, helpful and fair.
Emplayee retention - 84% B3%
This measure shows the percentagé of employees who have stayed with the business for lenger than one year.
It is one measure that we use to monitor employee loyalty and satisfaction and we aim to exceed 80% retention
of experienced staff,
Energy consumption ' . 12.5% S.éWo

For 2006/07 our target was to reduce en.ergy consumption by 129% (2005/06 - 5%).




Operating and financial review continued

Operations, resources and relationships

We have continued to make good progress with all four parts
of our strategy:

« grow the core UK business

« become a successful international retailer
* be as strong in non-food as in food, and
+ develop retailing services

We have done this by keeping our focus on trying to improve
what we do for customers, We try to make their shopping
experience as easy as possible, lower prices where we can to
help them spend less, give them more choice about how they
shop — in small stores, large stores or on-line, and seek to bring
simplicity and value to sometimes complicated markets.

International Despite challenging economic conditions and
political uncertainty in some of our markets, our international
businesses delivered another good performance. Sales growth
has been strong — with like-far-like growth in all but one of our
markets (Hungary being the exception) and profits have again
moved ahead well. Margins continue to improve, despite
absorbing significant integration costs from the in-market
acquisitions we have completed in the year — in the Czech
Republic, Poland and Malaysia.

We are building-out our store networks more rapidly in existing
markets — through a combination of strong organic growth and
acqguisitions. 484 stores, with 8.2m sq ft of selling area, were
opened during the year, including 76 hypermarkets. This is
four times the amount of new space cpened in the UK. In Rest
of Europe we opened over 4.7m sq ft of space and in Asia
3.5m sq ft.

These numbers included the acquisition of:

» 11 Carrefour stores in the Czech Repubiic in May 2006 as
part of the asset swap deal announced in September 2005,
plus 27 small stores from Edeka in April, which together
added 1.2m sq ft — or 45% to our space there,

+ 146 Leader Price stores in Poland in December, which
added a total of 1.4m sq ft — the equivalent of 29% of
the existing sates area.

= Eight large Makro stores in Malaysia in January, which
added 0.9m sq ft of sales area, nearly doubling cur
space in the market.

We are keen to participate further in the process of
consolidation which is now taking place in many International

markets but we are selective purchasers of assets or businesses.

At the end of February, our international operations were
trading from 1,275 stores, including 411 hypermarkets, with a
total of 40.4m sq ft of selling space. Nearly 60% of Group sales
area is now in International. Excluding the United 5tates, we
expect to open 442 new stores in our International markets
during the current year, adding 7.6m sq ft of selling area.

Returns — CROI* All our established markets are now

profitable and with growing local scale, increasing stare

maturity and the benefits of investment in central distribution

now flowing, returns from our International operations are

continuing to rise. On a constant currency basis, cash return

on investment (CRO) for International has increased again

—to 11.5% with our lead markets overall maintaining

significantly higher levels.

Asia

* In China we trade from 47 hypermarkets, mainly in

Shanghai, and the first stores in China’s other large
regional markets — Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Beijing
(our first Tesco-fascia store) have opened well. Qur new
range of over 1,000 Tesco own brand lines have been
well-received by customers. Hymall's sales have continued
to grow strongly - up overall by 19% in the year, with
strengthening like-for-like sates as the year progressed.
As a result of carrying higher overneads as we invest to
equip the business to grow faster, it made a small loss
after tax and interest, of which our share was £6m.

* |n a still subdued retail market in Japan we made progress,
with modest overall sales growth and a stronger like-for-like
performance. Our focus in the year has been on refining
and developing the trial Express-type stores into a
profitable, expandable format and implementing our
Tesco in a Box' suite of operating systems successfully.

We now plan to push on with a much larger opening
programme of up to 35 new stores this year.

* In Korea, Homeplus continued to do well, with solid sales
and very strang profit growth in mere challenging market
conditions than in recent years, During the year we cpened
29 new stores and, including extensions, almost 1m sq ft
of space. Most of cur new selling area came from large
hypermarkets, but our development programme is now
broadly-based with nearly 20% coming from store
extensions, 21% from compact hypermarkets and the
remainder from the roll-out of our successful Express
convenience format, which now has aimost 40 stores
trading. We have a strong forward pipeline of new space,
including plans to double the size of the Express business.

* Cash return on investment (CRO1) is measured as earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation, expressed as a percentage of net invested capital.




*» Tesco Malaysia has made excellent progress, moving
strongly through to profitability in the year, delivering
another year of very strong {over 50%) sales growth, and
achieving a near-doubling of space helped by the Makro
acquisition, which completed in January. Substantial refits
to the Makro stores have now begun, taking eight to nine
weeks per store to complete and involving significant
changes to layouts and ranges. We are developing a
good market position in Malaysia with a strong new store
pregramme in place for this year which will add a further
22% of space to our network.

* Political uncertainty in Thailand during the second half of
the year produced a difficult business climate, Nevertheless,
Tesco Lotus, which has a strong market position, again
performed well, delivering good growth in sales and profit.
The successful development and roll-out of new small
formats continues and to date, we have 370 stores trading
across four formats, including 75 hypermarkets {of which
17 are Value stores). We also have 266 Express stores
and 29 supermarkets which are proving very popular
with customers,

Europe Our rate of expansion in European markets stepped up
significantly in the year with 4.7m sq ft of new space added —
representing almost 30% growth. Successful regional initiatives
to strengthen our business — from pan-Eurcpean purchasing

of own brand products and fresh produce to the introduction
of the Cherokee clothing range — have contributed to further
improvements in our competitiveness. Customer numbers

are up significantly and this is driving substantial market

share gains.

* In the Czech Republic, our business has grown by almaost
two-thirds in the year and is now one of the leaders in the
market. We again delivered strong profit growth despite
competitive market conditions and the challenges of
integrating the Carrefour and Edeka acquisitions.
Conversion of the 11 Carrefour stores is almost complete,,
we have a strong organic store opening programme which
will add some 13% to our space in the current year and we
have begun remodelling our department stores — with the
first, at Brno, performing well.

* We continued to make progress in Hungary but although
overall sales grew, profit performance was below budget.
The effects of Government austerity measures last August
on an already difficult economic and retail ervironment
have been severe. Consumer spending levels are
significantly down, with non-food categories particularly
affected. Despite these challenges we have a strong
market positiort which we have continued to strengthen
by lowering prices, expanding our store network and
developing our infrastructure. We opened 14 new stares
in 2006/07, including 10 hypermarkets, and we plan
to add 15% to our total space in the current year.

+ Against the background of an improving economy and a
consolidating retail industry in Poland, we are making very
good progress, with rising sales, profits and returns. Sales
growth has continued to be strong, driven by sustained
improvement in existing store performance and a growing
contribution from new space. The development of our
1k (around 10,000 sqgft), 2k and 3k store formats as part
of an enlarged opening programme is Qoing well. The
acquisition of the Leader Price stores from Casinn, which
was announced last July and completed in December has
accelerated our 1k format expansion and contributed to a
37% overall space increase in Poland. Leader Price stores
are being converted rapidly to Tesco with, on average,
25% sales uplifts.

= Tesco Ireland delivered another excellent performance with
improved profits and another year of strong sales growth
in existing stores. Our new store opening prograrmme
will be substantially bigger this year — with 240,000 sq ft,
representing growth of over 10%. The new 740,000 sq ft
distribution centre at Donabate, in north Dublin, opens this
month. Our cornpetitive position is also strong and we're
investing more for customers — for example, our largest
ever programms of price cuts in Ireland, which started last
spring, has been well-received.

+ In Slovakia the success of our compact hypermarket format
and a strong economy have underpinned pleasing growth
in sales, profits and returns. We now have 25 such stores,
representing approaching half of our total space, with more
planned. We introduced our 1k format this year — opening
the first store at Vrable and we now have six trading with
nine mare planned this year. Our organic expansion will
add around 15% to our space this year.
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Operating and financial review continued

= Qur Kipa business in Turkey, continues to grow strongly
and profitably and now has the capability and resources to
become a national business. We now have 15 hypermarkets
trading, with the majority now outside our base in lzmir,
including our first store in Thrace, with 24 more planned
for the current year. The early introduction of Express in
Turkey has also gone well, with 15 stores now trading,
including three in Antalya. We have invested in creating
the infrastructure for a business of scale —initially in
management and systems — and also in supply chain,
with our first major distribution centre {(at Yasibasi)
covering 400,000 sq ft, planned to open this month.

United States We are on track to open our first stores —
under the Fresh & Easy Neighborhood Market banner - on
the west coast of the United States, as planned, later this year.
Our El Sequndo office is now staffed by over 150 people and
the construction of our Riverside distribution centre on the
eastern edge of Los Angeles (LA} is on schedule. Site
acquisition for our 10,000 square foot convenience format
stores is also going well and we expect to be able to open

a significant number (at launch) across the LA, Phoenix,

Las Vegas and San Diego markets.

Recruitment and training of staff for the stores will begin soon
which, combined with the other pre-launch costs and initial
trading losses, will involve a planned rise in estimated US
start-up costs to around £65m in the current financial year.
Thereafter, as previously anncunced, we expect initial trading
losses to diminish and the business to move into profitability
during its third financial year of operation. Our intention
remains to commit some £250m of capital per annum to
the US going forward, although given the phasing of our
investment and the higher feasehold element of the early
stores, capital invested last year was lower — at £89m. We will
begin formal reporting of US performance separately within
our International operations from opening.

Core UK Tesco made further good progress in the UK; coping
well with recovering competitors by delivering an improved
shopping trip for customers. UK sales grew by 9.0% in the year,
including a like-for-like increase of 5.6%. Both customer
numbers and spend per visit increased.

We have continued to invest in the things that matter for
customers and although we can still get better, we have made
real improvements to the shopping trip:

* Qur Price Check survey, which compares 10,000 prices
against our leading competitors weekly, shows that our
price position has improved again during the vear (for
more information see www.tesco.com). In a market to
which food price inflaticn has returned for the first time in
several years, driven by the higher energy costs and strong
seasonal food prices, Tesco has invested more than ever
in helping to keep prices as low as possible for customers.

« The implementation of new checkout technology across
our stores means that we can now monitor and manage
the checkout service customers receive much more
precisely — by custormner, by store and by the hour. As a
result, nearly 350,000 more customers a week receive
our ‘one-in-front’ checkout quetue promise.

* On-shelf availability, which we measure using our in-store
picking of tesco.com orders, has also improved again and
more customers are able to buy everything they want when
they shop at Tesco. Although there is still scope to get better
- particularly during evenings and on Sundays — the most
marked improvement has been achieved in fresh foods,
which has seen a fifth consecutive year of higher availability.

» We've also introduced significant changes to our ranges in
response to customer demand. For example, we are selling
a much larger Organics range which is now fully integrated
into ranges across our stores — with sales up almost
40%; we have introduced over 1,000 new premium lines,
including a faster pace of new product launches for Finest.

* All of our eligible own-brand products now carry our
GDA nutritional signpost labels. We have created a system
that is easy to understand and practical to use and recent
sales data suggests we have made a genuine impact on
customer behaviour, which in turn has helped us to
improve and reformulate many Tesco products.

Step-Change We delivered efficiency savings ahead of plan
in the year— with £350m achieved through the Step-Change
programme, which brings together many initiatives to make
what we do better for customers, simpler for st2ff and cheaper
for Tesco. Most of these savings are reinvested to improve aur
offer for customers. We aim to make similar incremental
savings in the current year.




New Space We opened a total of just over 2m sq ft of new
sales area, adding a net 7.3% to our UK sales area during
the yearin all formats, of which 800,000 sq ft was In store
extensions, principally for Extra. We opened another 30 Extra
hypermarkets, bringing the total to 147, most of them
developed through extensions to existing stores. Extra

now represents 37% of our total sales area.

in total, a further 2.1m sq ft is planned to open in the current
year, of which store extensions will represent over 30%, and
a significant proportion of this will be allocated to non-food.
85 new Express stores opened during the year, bringing the
overall total to 735 and a similar programme is planned for
the current year.

Non-food Despite a less helpful consumer environment in the
UK, our general merchandise business has again made very
good progress, with sales growing significantly faster than in
our core operations and the proportion of our sales represented
by non-food rose to 25% (excluding petrol). With our relatively
low market shares in many general merchandise categories,
the growing popularity of our offer for customers and the

scope to expand our stores or sell more though direct channels,
these areas provide exciting growth opportunities for Tesco,

Group non-food sales have grown to £10.4bn, including
£2.9bn in Intermational. Sales growth, in the UK alone, was
11.6% in the year, with tota! non-food sales increasing to
£7.6bn (included in reported UK sales). Volume growth was
again even higher, driven by our ability to pass on lower prices
to customers, funded by our growing scale and supply chain
efficiency and the benefits of more direct sourcing in Asia.

We have seen strong growth in most large non-food
categories, including product groups which have seen flat or
reduced overall consumer spending. Mast, but not all of our
established categories, which benefit less from new space,
grew strongly. Those which did well included health & beauty
where sales increased by 9% and news and magazines,

also up 9%. Atthough we increased market share, sales in
entertainment (DVDs, CDs etc) were weak as a result of the
growth of internet downloading and deflation.

Our newer categories saw strong growth. Clothing sales again
grew well —up by 16% —in a subdued market, partly affected
by unseasonal weather and we made strong market share
gains byvolume and value. Some product groups, which we
have been able to allocate more space to in our larger Extra
stores, did particularly well. For example, toys and sparts goods
were up 30%, consumer electronics sales rose by 35%,
stationery and DIY both up by 23%. -

Tesco Direct Last September, we announced plans to expand
our non-food offer substantially and make it more accessible
for customers through tesco.com and our catalogue. We started
Tesco Direct in a low key way — with initially 8,000 products
offered on-line and 1,500 by catalogue, including new
categories such as furniture. We have now launched a more
comprehensive offer —with 11,000 items on our website, 7,000
of which are in our catalogue and begun the roll-out of several
of our innovative options for customers to order and collect. As
well as wider ranges, Tesco Direct provides customers with the
choice of ordering on-line, by phone orin selected stores and
market-leading delivery options, including two-hour slots for
home delivery, the option to pick-up from some stores (soon
to be 200) and very short lead times on furniture orders. The
customer response so far has been very encouraging.

Homeplus The performance of our Homeplus trial non-food
stores —we now have six units trading — has been pleasing. Our
most recent trial store in Chelmsford, trading from 50,000 sq ft,
has traded well. It stocks a general merchandise range similar
to the assortment offered in larger Extra hypermarkets and is
also able to provide more space than the eartier trial stores for
promotions and seasonal events. A further store is planned

but no decision has yet been taken on further expansion for
this format.

Retailing services Our efforts to bring simplicity and value to
sometimes complicated markets are behind the success of our
retailing services businesses, Also underpinning this element
of our strategy is a strong economic model, based around
leveraging existing assets — either our own or a partner’s — so
that we can simultaneously price cur services competitively

for customers and also achieve high returns for shareholders.

* Tesco Personal Finance (TPF) has delivered a creditable
performance in a difficult financial services market as
a consequence of making higher provisions for bad and
doubtful debt. Profit, net of interest and tax, is £130m
(Jast year £139m) of which Tesca’s share is £65m, Market
conditions in two of TPF's core markets - credit cards and
motor insurance — remain difficult, but a strong prograrmme
of new product launches is planned for the current year.

* tesco.com sales continued to grow strongly — up by 29.2%
in the year to £1,226m. Profit, before the start-up costs
associated with Tesco Direct also rose strongly — by 48.5%
to £83.4m. The grocery and wine business now has over
850,000 regular customers and more than 250,000 orders
a week,
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Operating and financial review continued

* Telecoms moved into profit during the year and continued
to build its customer base successfully through a combination
of simple, great value tariffs, good service and innovative
new products. Tesco Mobile, our joint-venture with 02,
was the fastest-growing pay-as-you-go network in the UK
in 2006, taking aimost a 30% share of new business — and
ended the year with 1.4m customers, It was also recognised
in industry surveys* as number one network for overall
customer satisfaction. Strong sales of handsets in the year
means that Tesco overall is now the UK’s largest retailer
of branded pay-as-you-go mobile phones.

Resources and Relationships

Customers Our customers have told us what they want from
an ‘Every little helps’ shopping trip and this year 46,000
shared their ideas on how to improve the shopping trip for

" all customers, Clubcard also helps us to understand what
our customers want, whilst allowing us to thank them for
shopping with us — this year we gave away over £340m

in Clubcard vouchers.

We don't always get it right but we try to make their shopping
trip as easy as possible, reduce prices where we can to help
them spend less and give them the convenience of shopping
when and where they want — in small stores, large stores or
on-line.

Employees With over 400,000 staff in 13 countries, we play
an important role in creating employment, fostering skills and
generating economic development. Our people are our most
important asset. Looking after our staff so that they can look
after our customers is one of the core values of the business.
We are committed to providing market-leading working
conditions for our staff and we encourage our suppliers to

do the same.

In the UK, we offer our staff a market-leading package of pay
and benefits:

Employee Share Schemes Through share ownership and share
incentive schemaes, over 165,000 of cur people have a personal
stake in Tesco. Staff were awarded shares worth a record £77m
last May under our Shares in Success scheme, 50,000 staff
were able to benefit when Save As You Earn schemes matured
in February, giving them access to shares worth £148m.

Training and Development We are committed to developing
our people to bring out the best in everyone and do what we
can to enable all our people to reach their potential. All our
staff have access to training programmes and personal
development planning to ensure that they have the right
skills to do their job.

* TNS Prognestics Mobile Satisfaction Survey, Q4 2006,

Diversity We try to ensure that at all times and in every
aspect of employment, including recruitment, training,

and development, everyone receives the same treatment,
regardless of factors such as gender, age, colour, creed, race,
ethnic origin, disability, marital status, religion or belief, trade
unicn membership or sexual preference and orientation.

Suppliers To be a successful, sustainable business we have
to ensure that our drive to bring cheaper prices is achieved
without compromising our standards, reducing quality,
damaging the environment or harming the suppliers and
workers who produce the goods we sell. So we take a
partnership approach to working with suppliers — sharing
our knowledge and listening to suppliers’ feedback. This
includes providing technical expertise, advice and insight
into customer trends and making regular payment, on time,

We are one of four signatories to the UK Government's
statutory Supermarkets Code of Practice. Since the Code’s
introduction we have run tailored training for all Tesco buyers
to promote understanding and compliance. If problems do
arise in supplier relationships we aim to air and resolve

them through constructive discussion. To aid this process

we appointed a Code Compliance Officer to hear formal
complaints, confidentially if requested, and we hope that

our annual Supplier Viewpoint Survey encourages suppliers to
give us more feedback on our relationships. Our target is for
feedback to show that at least 90% of our suppliers view Tesco
as being trustworthy, reliable, consistent, clear, helpful and fair.

We carry out ethical audits and target ourselves to cover 100%
of our high risk own brand suppliers and ensure all commercial
teams have received training on supply chain labour standards.

Corporate Responsibility As a responsible Company,

Tesco works hard to bring real benefits to the communities we
serve, the environment and the economy. This is recognised
through our inclusion in the FTSE4Good and Dow Jones
Sustainability indices.

Our fundraising efforts have again delivered great resuits, Each
year we contribute the equivalent of at least 1% of our pre-tax
profits to charities and good causes and a total of £43m was
given during 2006/07 in donations, staff time and gifts in kind.
Our Charity of the Year was Whizz-kids, for which staff and
customers raised £3.4m.



Community, environment and corporate responsibility

People tell us they want us to use our size and reach to be a
force for good in society. To help us meet this challenge we
decided in 2006 1o introduce a new Community Plan. This
is part of our Steering Wheel, setting out objectives that
the business will deliver. It will ensure we provide the right
resources, energy and focus to meet the expectations of
our customers and other stakeholders in this area.

We have made significant progress this year on the Community
Plan and on our key objectives of being a good neighbour in
the communities we serve and being fair, responsible and
honest, particularly on the environment. This has been
recognised through our continued inclusion in FTSE4Good

and Dow Jones Sustainability indices.

Environment

* We have committed to reduce the amount of packaging
on both branded and Tesco own label products by 25%
by 2010. We will also label all our packaging according to
whether it can be re-used, recycled or composted - and
if it cannot, we will label that too. The first labelled products
will be on our shelves by 2008.

+ In the UK, Tesco has achieved an absolute reduction in
energy use in our buildings, despite growing sates by 9%
and sales area by over 7%. We have achieved this by
making energy reduction a top priority throughout our
business — from the boardroom through to our staff
working in our stores.

+ We are beginning the search for a universally accepted
and commonly understood measure of the carbon
footprint of our products covering their lifecycle from
manufacture through to use. This will enable us to label all
our products so that customers can compare their carbon
footprint as easily as they can currently compare prices or
nutritional profiles.

* QOur Green Clubcard scheme — rewarding customers with
extra Clubcard points for environmentally friendly behaviour
- is helping us to meet our target of reducing carrier bags
by 25% by 2008. Over 400m bags have already been saved
since the scheme launched in August 2006.

* We are also encouraging customers to make a difference
by making green products more af‘fordqble. For example,
we have halved the price of energy-efficient light bulbs
making them even more cost-effective than traditional light
bulbs over their life-span.

+ The rapid growth in sales of arganic food is testimony to
the fact that people will make greener choices if we give
them the right information, opportunity and incentive. The
competitive pricing of organic products means that, for
many, they are no longer luxury items. We now sell them

alongside the standard ranges, on the same shelves,
instead of in a separate section. We have improved the
range and this has hefped to generate 40% year-on-year
growth in sales.

Health

* We are well on our way to our target of encouraging two
million people to be physically active in events organised
or sponsored by Tesco in the build up to the London 2012
Olympics. For example, over 240,000 people took part in
the Tesco Great School Run, setting a Guinness World
Record in the process, and 750,000 women took part in
the Cancer Research Race for Life in 2006/07, which has
been supported by Tesco for the last five years.

* We are the first supermarket to complete front ol pack
nutritional labelling on all of our 6,600 eligible own-brand
products.

Community and Charities

+ We were pleased to be one of the first retailers to enter
into Local Employment Partnerships, a new Government
initiative announced in the recent Budget, whereby we will
increase the prospects for unemployed people to get an
interesting job and an opportunity te get on. This builds
on our groundbreaking Tesco Regeneration Partnerships
which have revitalised the prospects and opportunities
for almost 4,000 people including long term unemployed,
single parents, disabled and redundant workers, through
our unique job guarantee for everyone who completes
our training.

* Qur Community Conference in partnership with the British
Red Cross and the Work Foundation brought together
voluntary groups, charities, businesses and Government
to explore the role of business in local communities,

* We have raised £3.4m for our 2006 Charity of the Year,
Whizz Kidz, which provides disabled children with their own
custornised mobility equipment. This is more than double
our original £1.5m target, and is the highest amount raised
in any Charity of the Year partnership to date.

= Qur 2007 Charity of the Year is the British Red Cross.
As well as aiming to raise £2m, we are also working with
them to develop a volunteering scheme for our staff,
giving them paid time off to make a positive contribution
to local communities.

+ We are helping :chools through our Computers for Schools,
and Sports for Schools and Clubs schemes, We have now
given away over £108m in computer equipment singe
Computers for Schools launched in 1992, and in 2006/07
gave away over £7.5m worth of equipment and lessons
through Schoaols for Sports and Clubs.
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Operating and financial review continued

Suppliers & Farmers

* We are committed to increasing the number of local
products in store. Regional readshows in Cornwall, the
Isle of Wight, the North-West and Wales attracted over
300 small suppliers and we have already launched 58
new lines in our South West stores as a result of the
roadshow in Cornwall.

* We will help dairy farmers by offering direct contracts to
named farmers, raising the price they receive to around 22
pence per litre, and sourcing more for our ‘Localchoice’ milk
frorm local farms — this will be sold for slightly more per litre
than standard milk so that these smaller producers can
make returns more in line with the proportionately higher
costs of their business.

Risks and uncertainties

Introduction Riskis an accepted part of doing business. The
real challenge for any business is to identify the principal risks
and to develop and monitor appropriate controls. A successful
risk management process balances risks and rewards and relies
on a sound judgement of theirlikelihood and consequence.

The Tesco Board has overall responsibility for risk management
and internal control within the context of achieving the Group's
objectives. Qur process for identifying and managing risks is set
out in more detail on page 24 of the Corporate Governance
Statement in this Annual Report. The key risks and mitigating
factors are set cut below.

Business strategy If our strategy follows the wrong direction or
is not efficiently communicated then the business may suffer.

We need to understand and properly manage strategic riskin
order to deliver long-term growth for the benefit of all our
stakeholders. Our strategy is based on a four-part strategy:

1o grow the core UK business, be as strong in non-food as

in food, develop retailing services and becormne a successful
international retaiter. Pursuit of this four-part strategy has
allowed the business to diversify. At a strategic level,
diversification and pursuit of growth in emerging markets has
the effect of reducing overall risk by avoiding reliance on a
small number of business areas. However, by its very nature,
diversification also introduces new risks to be managed in
areas of the business that are less mature and fully understood.

To ensure the Group continues 1o pursue the right strategy,

we dedicate two full days a year to reviewing strategy as well as
discussing it at every Board meeting. The Executive Committee
also holds specific sessions on a regular basis. We have
structured programmes for engaging with all our stakeholders
including customers, employees, investors, suppliers,
government, media and non-governmental grganisations.

We also invest significant resources in ensuring our strategy

is communicated well and understcod by the parties who are
key to delivering it. The business operates a ‘Steering Whee!” —
a balanced scorecard procéss —in all countries and significant
business units such as Dotcom to help manage performance
and deliver business strategy.

Financial strategy and Group Treasury Risk The main
financial risks of the Group relate to the availability of funds to
meet business needs, the risk of default by counter-parties to
financial transactions, and fluctuations in interest and foreign
exchange rates.

The Treasury function is mandated by the Board to manage
the financial risks that arise in relation to underlying business
needs. The function has clear policies and operating
parameters, and its activities are routinely reviewed and
audited. The function dees not operate as a profit centre and
the undertaking of speculative transactions is not permitted.

A description of the role of the Finance Committee and
Internal and External Audit is set out in the Corporate
Governance section, page 25 of the Annual Report.

Operational threats and performance risk in the business

_There is a risk that our business may not deliver the stated

strategy in full particularly since, like all retailers, the business is
susceptible to economic downturn that could affect consumer
spending. The continuing acquisition and devetopment of
property sites alse forms an intrinsic part of our strategy and
this carries inherent risks.

We try to deliver what customers want better than our
competitors by understanding and responding to their
behaviour. All of our business units have stretching targets
based on the Steering Wheel and the performance of all
business units is monitored continually and reported monthty
1o the Board. We manage the acquisition and development of
our property assets carefully. We consider and assess in detail
evary site at each stage of acquisition and development and
ensure that relevant action is taken to minimise any risks.

QOur aim is to have broad appeal to all customers in our
different markets, minimising the impact of changes to the
economic climate,

Competition and consolidation The retail industry is highly
competitive. The Group competes with a wide variety of
retailers of varying sizes and faces increased competition from
UK retailers as well as international operators here and overseas.




Failure to compete with competitors on areas including price,
product range, quality and service could have an adverse effect
on the Group’s financial results.

We aim to have a broad appeal in price, range and store format
in a way that allows us to compete in different markets. We
track performance against a range of measures that customers
tell us are critical to their shopping trip experience, We
constantly monitor customer perceptions of ourselves and our
competitors to ensure we can respond quickly if we need to.

People capabilities Our greatest asset is our employees. Itis
critical to our success to attract, retain, develop and motivate
the best people with the right capabilities at all levels of
operations. We consider our people policies regularly and are
committed o investing in training and development and
incentives for our people such as profit sharing. Our ‘Talent
Planning’ process helps individuals achieve their full potential.
We also carry out succession plarnning to ensure that the needs
of the business going forward are considered and provided for.
There are clear processes for understanding and responding

to employees’ needs through our People Management Group,
staff surveys, regular performance reviews, involvement of
trade unions and regular communication of business
developments.

Reputational risk As the largest retailerin the UK,
expectations of the Group are high. Failure to protect the
Group's reputation and brand could lead to a loss of trust
and confidence. This could result in a decline in the customer
base and affect the ability to recruit and retain goed people.

Like other companies we must consider potential threats to .
our reputation and the consequences of reputational damage.
Emotional loyalty to the Tesco brand has helped us diversify
into new areas like retail services and nan-food and we
recognise the commercial imperative to do the right thing

for all our stakeholders and avoid the loss of such loyalty.

The Tesco Values are embedded in the way we do business

at every level and our Code of Ethics guides our behaviour

in our dealings with customers, employees and suppliers.

We engage with stakeholders in every sphere to take into
account theirviews and we try to ensure our strategy reflects
them. The launch of the Community Plan has demonstrated
our commitment to tackling a wide range of societal and
ervironmental issues. We have high level committees including
the Corporate Responsibility Committee and Compliance
Committee to help guide and monitor our policies.

Environmental risks Cur key environmental risks are related
to minimising energy usage in stores and transportation, waste
management and our ability to respond to consumer concerns
in this area. We develop environmental policy through
engaging with key stakeholders and experts in this field to
achieve sustainable growth and minimise our envircnmental
impacts and the Group’s approach is brought together in a
consistent manner by the Corporate Responsibility Committee.

Policy is reviewed regularly by the Compliance Committee

and Corporate Responsibility Committee, We recagnise the
opportunities for competitive advantage through energy
efficiency and took for continuous improvement through
innovations and better ways to help customers act responsibly
towards the environment.

Product safety The safety and quality of our products is of
paramount importance to Tesco as well as being essential
for maintaining custormer trust and confidence. A breach in
confidence could affect the size of our customer base and
hence financial results.

Tesco has detailed and established procedures for ensuring
product integrity at all times especially for our own-ilabel
products. There are strict product safety processes and reqular
management reports. We work in partnership with suppfiers
to ensure mutual understanding of the standards required.
The business also monitars developments in areas such as
health, safety and nutrition in order to respond appropriately
to changing customer trends and new legislation. We have
clear processes for crisis management, pulling together expert
teams should we need to respond quickly on issues.

Ethical risks in the supply chain We do business with a large
number of own-brand suppliers in over 90 countries and the
supply chain is made of complex relationships ~ from individual
farmers and growers through to processors, manufacturers and
distributors. There is a risk that any part of the supply chain
might not adhere with the Group’s high ethical standards
{(which are set out on ourwebsite).

To minimise this risk we have a partnership approach to
working with suppliers providing a certain and growing
market for their products, regular payments and payrnents
on time, and our commitment to sharing our understanding
of customers and changing consumer behaviour. We also
have a programme of regular risk assessments and audits

of suppliers on ethical issues to complement our compliance
work on product safety, quality and capability.

Fraud and compliance As the business grows in size and
geographical spread, the risk of occurrence of fraudulent
behavigur by its employees increases. While the vast majority
of our staff are completely honest, there remains the potential
for fraud and other dishonest activity at all levels of the
business from shop floor to senior management. The Group
takes extensive steps to reduce this risk. Relevant accounting
and other procedures and controls at all levels are clearly set
out and audited across the business to reduce the risk of fraud.
The Group gives clear guidance on behavigur to employees
through the Values and the Code of Ethics. The Audit
department undertakes detailed investigations into all areas
of the business and highlights to the Audit Committee its
findings. The Compliance Committee formulates and monitors
the implementation of, and compliance with appropriate
policies on key areas of ethical behaviour, including fraud.
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Operating and financia! review continued

IT systems and infrastructure The business is dependent on
efficient Information Technology {IT) systems, Any significant
failure in the IT processes of our retail operations (e.g. barcode
scanning or supply chain logistics) would impact our ability to
trade. We recognise the essential role that IT plays across the
Group in allowing us to trade efficiently and that we can also
achieve commercial advantage through implementing IT
innovations that improve the shopping trip for customers and
make life easier for employees. We have extensive controls

in place to maintain the integrity and efficiency of our IT
infrastructure and we share world-class systems from across
our international operations to ensure consistency of delivery.

Regulatory and pelitical environment We are subject to

a wide variety of regulations in the different countries in which
we operate because of the diverse nature of our business.
Tesco may be impacted by requlatory changes in key areas
such as planning laws, trading hours, and tax rules as well

as by scrutiny by the competition authorities. We may also

be impacted by political developments in the countries in
which we operate. We consider these uncertainties in the
external environment when developing strategy and reviewing
performance. We remain vigilant to future changes in the UK
and abroad. As part of our day-to-day operations we engage
with governmental and non-governmental organisations

to ensure the views of our customers and employees are
represented and try to anticipate and contribute to important
changes in public policy

Activism and terrorism A major incident or terrorist event
incapacitating management, systems or stores could impact
on the Group’s ability to trade. In addition to contingency
plans, we have security systems and processes that reflect
best practice, )

Pension risks The Group's pension arrangements are an
important part of our employees’ overall benefits package
especially in the UK. We see them as a strong contributor
to our ability to attract and retain good people, our Group’s
greatest asset.

Management of the assets is delegated to a number of
independent fund managers who have discretion to invest
in Tesco PLC providing they do not exceed the proportion
of the share in the total market.

Since the implementation of IAS 19 there is a risk that the
accounting valuation deficit could increase if returns on
corporate bonds are higher than the investment return on
the pension scheme’s assets.

The Company has considered its pension risks and has taken
action by increasing contributions from April 2006 and by
reducing risk in its investment strategy. The increase in
contributions recognises the higher cost of providing pensions
including an improvement in life expectancy.

Joint venture governance and partnerships As we continue
to enter into new partnerships and joint ventures as well as
developing existing arrangements, there remains an inherent
risk in managing these partnerships and joint ventures. tis
more difficult to guarantee the achievement of joint goals and
we rely on partners to help achieve such goals. We may also be
impacted by reputational issues which affect our partners. )
We choose partners with good reputations and set out joint
goals and clear contractual arrangements from the outset.

We monitor performance and governance of our joint ventures
and partnerships.

Financial review

The main financial risks faced by the Group relate to the
availability of funds to meet business needs, the risk of default
by counter-parties to financial transactions, and fluctuations in
interest and foreign exchange rates. These risks are managed
as described below. The Balance Sheet position at 24 February
2007 is representative of the position throughout the year.

Funding and liquidity The Group finances its operations

by a combination of retained profits, long and medium-term
debt, capital market issues, commercial paper, bank borrowings
and leases. The objective is to ensure continuity of funding.
The policy is to smoath the debt maturity profile, to arrange
funding ahead of requirements and to maintain sufficient
undrawn committed bank facilities, and a strong credit rating
50 that maturing debt may be refinanced as it falls due.

The Group’s long-term credit rating remained stable during the
year. Tesco Group is rated A1 by Moody's and A+ by Standard
and Poor's. New funding of £1.8bn was arranged during the
year, including a net £0.5bn from property joint ventures and
£1.2bn from medium-term notes {MTNs). At the year end,

net debt was £5.0bn (last year £4.5bn) and the average debt
maturity was nine years (last year six years).




Interest rate risk management The objective is to limit

our exposure to increases in interest rates while retaining the
opportunity to benefit from interest rate reductions. Forward
rate agreements, interest rate swaps, caps and collars are
used to achieve the desired mix of fixed and floating rate debt.
The palicy is to fix or cap a minimum of 40% of actual and
projected debt interest costs. At the year end, £2.3bn of debt
was in fixed rate form (last year £1.5bn) with a further £1.0bn
of debt capped or collared, therefore 86% {2006 — 53%)

of net debt is fixed, capped or collared. Fixed rate debt
includes £693m of funding linked to the Retaii Price Index
(2006 - £472m).

This debt reduces interest risk by diversifying our funding
portfolio. The remaining balance of our debt is in floating
rate form.

The average rate of interest paid on a historic cost basis
excluding joint ventures and associates this year was 4.8%
{last year 5.2%).

Foreign currency risk management Our principal objective

is to reduce the effect of exchange rate volatility on short-term
profits, Transactional currency exposures that could significantly
impact the Income Statement are hedged, typically using
forward purchases or sales of foreign currencies and currency
options. At the year end, forward foreign currency transactions,
designated as cash flow hedges, equivalent to £764m were
outstanding (2006 — £548m) as detailed in note 20.

We hedge the majority of our investments in our international
subsidiaries via foreign exchange transactions in matching
currencies. Our objective is to maintain a low cost of borrowing
and hedge against material movements in our Balance Sheet
value. During the year, currency movements decreased the

net value of the Group's overseas assets by £77m (last year
increase of £27m}. We translate overseas profits at average
exchange rates which we do not currently seek to hedge.

Credit risk The objective is to reduce the risk of loss arising
from default by parties to financial transactions across an
approved list of counterparties of high credit quality, The
Group's positions with these counterparties and their credit
ratings are routinely monitored.

Tesco Personal Finance (TPF) TPF lending is predominantly
to individuals through its credit card and unsecured personal
loan products. TPF has also developed a significant insurance
business, with motor insurance a major component. TPF risk
is managed by cbserving and adopting industry best practices
and drawing upon the expertise and systems of the Royal
Bank of Scotland Group, including its subsidiary Direct Line,

All policies pertaining to risk within TPF are subject to the
governance procedures of the Royal Bank of Scotland Group
and ratified by the TPF Board, which has representation from
both Tesco and the Royal Bank of Scotland Group. This has
delivered a portfolio of products with strong asset quality. This
asset quality is maintained through proactive risk management,
both at the time of acquisition and ongoing account
maintenance.

The Tesco Group would support its 50% share of any further

funding TPF might require to sustain liquidity ratios. However,
we believe that provisions for bad debts and insurance losses
{supported by re-insurance of significant risks) are at

prudent levels,

Insurance We purchased Assets, Earnings and Combined
Liability protection from the open insurance market at
‘catastrophe’ level only. The risk not transferred to the insurance
market is retained within the business by using our captive
insurance companies, Tesco Insurance Limited in Guernsey and
Valiant Insurance Company Limited in the Republic of Ireland.
Tesco Insurance Limited covers Assets and Earnings, while
Valiant Insurance Company Limited covers Combined Liability.

Statement of compliance

This review has been prepared in accordance with the
Directors’ Report Business Review Requirements in section
234778 of the Comnpanies Act 1985, It also incorporates much
of the guidance set out in the Accounting Standards Board’s
Reporting Staterment on the Operating and Financial Review.

The OFR’s intent is to provide information to shareholders
and should not be relied on by any other party or for any
other purpose. -

Where this review contains forward-looking statements,

these are made by the Directors in good faith based on the
information available to thern at the time of their approval of
this report. These staterments should be treated with caution
due to the inherent uncertainties underlying any such forward-
looking information.

Other information

Additional financial and non-financial information, including
press releases and vear end presentations, ¢an be accessed
on our website, www.tesco.com/corporate and also in our
Corporate Responsibility Review 2007,
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their annual report to shareholders
on the-affairs of the Group and Company, together with the
audited financial statements of the Group and the audited
financial statements of the Company for the year ended

24 February 2007.

Principal activity, business review and future
developments

The principal activity of the Group is retailing and associated
activities in the UK, the Republic of Ireland, Hungary, Poland,
the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Turkey, Thailand, South Korea,

Malaysia, Japan and China.

For a review of the business of the Group including: a
description of the key activities, future developments {including
our plans to open stores in the United States) and an analysis
of the key risks and uncertainties (including financial risk
management strategy), see the Operating and Financial
Review on pages 3 to 19 of this document.

Group results

Group revenue rose by £3.2bn to £42.6bn, representing
an increase of 8.1%.

Group profit before tax increased by £418m, to £2,653m. Profit
for the year was £1,899m, of which £1,892m was attributable to
equity holders of the parent.

Dividends

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
6.83 pence per ordinary share, to be paid on & July 2007 0
members on the Register at the close of business on 27 April
2007. Together with the interim dividend of 2.81 pence per
ordinary share paid in December 2006, the total dividend for
the year will be 9.64 pence compared with 8.63 pence for the
previous year, an increase of 11.7%.

Fixed assets

Capital expenditure (excluding business combinations)
amounted to £3.0bn compared with £2.8bn the previous year.
In the Directors’ opinion, the properties of the Group have

a market value in excess of the carrying value of £14,598m
included in these financial statements. In the year we received
net proceeds of £454m from our new property joint venture
with the British Airways Pension Fund.

Share capital

The authorised and called up share capital of the Company,
together with details of the shares allotted and bought back
during the year, are shown in note 24 of the financial
statements. Details of treasury shares held by Tesco PLC

are shown in note 25 of the financial statements.

Company's shareholders

The Company has been notified that as at the date of this
report, the following shareholders own mare than 3% of the
issued share capital of the Company:

Fidelity International/FMR Corporation 5.85%
Legal & General Assurance

(Pensions Management Limited) 3.96%
Barclays PLC 481%

Except for the above, the Company is not aware of any ordinary
shareholders with interests of 3% or more in the issued share
capital of the Company.

Directors and their interests

The Directors who served during the year were:

+ MrD E Reid; +» Mr DT Potts;

+ MrRF Chase; + MrCLAllen;

= SirTerry Leahy; » Mrs KR Cook;

= MrR Brasher; « MrE M Davies;

* MrP A Clarke; « DrH Einsmann;

* Mr AT Higginson; + MrKJHydon; and
+ MrTJR Mason; ¢ Ms C McCali.

» Miss L Neville-Rolfe;

The biographical details of the present Directors are set out
in the separately published Annual Review and Summary
Financial Statement 2007,

Mr E M Davies, Dr H Einsmann, Mr K J Hydon, MrD T Potts
and Mr D E Reid retire from the Board by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Miss L Neville-Rolfe
joined the Board in December 2006 and as required by the
Articles of Association, will offer herself for election.

The interests of Directors and their immediate families in the
shares of Tesco PLC, along with details of Directors’ share
options, are contained in the Directors’ remuneration report
set out on pages 27 to 40.

At no time during the year did any of the Directors have a
material interest in any significant contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries.

A qualifying third party indemnity provision as defined in
Section 309B{1} of the Companies Act 1985 (as amended)

is in force for the benefit of each of the Directors and

the Company Secretary {who is also a Director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company) in respect of liabilities incurred

as a result of their office, to the extent permitted by law. In
respect of those liabilities for which Directors may not be
indemnified, the Company maintained a directors’ and officers’
liability insurance policy throughout the financial year.




Employment policies

The Group depends on the skills and commitment of its
employees in order to achieve its objectives. Staff at every level
are encouraged to make their fullest possible contribution to
the success of Tesco.

A key business priority is to deliver an 'Every little helps'
shopping experience for customers. Ongoing training
programmes seek to ensure that employees understand the
Group's customer service objectives and strive to achieve them,

The Group's selaction, training, development and promotion
policies ensure equal opportunities for all employees regardless
of factors such as gender, maritai status, race, age, sexual
preference and orientation, colour, creed, ethnic origin, religion
or belief, or disability. All decisions are based on merit.

Internal communications are designed to ensure that
employees are well informed about the business of the Group,
These include a UK staff magazine called ‘One Team’ and the
equivalents in our overseas businesses, videos and staff
briefing sessions.

Staff opinions are frequently researched through surveys and
store visits. We work to deliver ‘Every little helps’ for all our
people across the Group.

Employees are encouraged to become involved in the financial
performance of the Group through a variety of schemes,
principally the Tesco employee profit-snaring scheme (Shares
in Success), the savings-related share option scheme (Save As
You Earn) and the partnership share plan (Buy As You Earn).

Political and charitable donations

Cash donations to charities amounted to £17,698,393
(2006 — £15,047,768). Contributions to community projects
including gifts-in-kind, staff time and management costs,
amounted to £43,412,965 (2006 - £41,768,741).

There were na political donations (2006 — £ril). During the vear,
the Group made contributions of £41,608 (2006 - £54,219)

in the form of sponsorship for political events: Labour Party
£11,000; Liberal Democrat Party £5,350: Canservative Party
£4,218; Progressive Democrat Party £2,213; Fine Gael £1,476;
Fianna Fail £1,408; the Republic of lreland Labour Party £234;
Trade Unions £15,709.

Supplier payment policy

Tesco PLC is a signatory to the CBI Code of Prompt Payment.
Copies of the Code may be abtained from the CBI, Centre
Pairt, 103 New Oxford Street, London WC1A 1DU, Payment
terms and conditions are agreed with suppliers in advance.

Tesco PLC has no trade creditors on its Balance Sheet. The
Group pays its creditors on a pay on time basis which varies
according to the type of product and territory in which the
suppliers operate.

Going concern

The Directors consider that the Group and the Company have
adequate resources to remain in aperation for the foreseeable
future and have therefore continued to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements. As with ali
business forecasts, the Directors’ statement cannot guarantee
that the geing concern basis will remain appropriate given the
inherent uncertainty about future events.

Events after the balance sheet date

On 20 March 2007, the Group formed a property joint venture
with The British Land Company PLC. The limited partnership
contains 21 superstores which have been sold from and leased
back to Tesco. The Group sold assets with a fairvalue of
approximately £650m to the joint venture which had a net book
value of approximately £350m; 50% of the resulting profit will
be recognised within profit arising on property-retated items
with the remaining percentage deferred on the balance sheet
in accordance with IAS 31 ‘Interests in Jeint Ventures’,

In March 2007, the Group issued two bonds: £500m paying

" interest at 5.2%, maturing in 2057 and €600m paying interest

at 5.1259%, maturing in 2047,

Auditors

A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
as auditors of the Company and the Group will be proposed
at the Annual General Meeting.

Having made the requisite enquiries, as far as each of the
Directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information
(as defined by Section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985)
of which the Group’s auditors are unaware, and each of the
Directors has taken all the steps he should have taken as a
Director to make himself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are
aware of that information.

Annual General Meeting

A separate circular accompanying the Annual Review and
Summary Financial Statement 2007 explains the special
business to be considered at the Annual General Meeting
{AGM) on 29 June 2007.

By Order of the Board
Mr Jonathan Lloyd
Cempany Secretary
16 April 2007

Tesco PLC

Registered Number: 445790

Reagistered in England and Wales

Registered Office: Tesco House, Delamare Road, Cheshunt,
Hertfordshire EN8 GSL

VAT Registration Number: GB 220 4302 3
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Corporate governance

Directors’ report on corporate governance

Tesco PLC is committed to the highest standards of corporate
governance, We recognise that good governance helps the
business to deliver strategy, generate shareholdervalue and
safeguard shareholders’ long-term interests. We believe that
the Combined Code is a useful guide from which to review
corporate governance within the Group. This statement
describes the Board' s approach to corporate governance.

Board composition and independence

As at 24 February 2007, the Board of Tesco PLC comprised
seven Executive Directars, seven independent Non-executive
Directors and Mr D E Reid, Non-executive Chairman.

Mr R F Chase is Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent
Non-executive Director. Miss Lucy Neville-Rolfe joined the
Board in December 2006 and will submit herself for election
by shareholders at the AGM in June 2007,

Both Mr C LAllen and Dr H Einsrmann have served on the
Board for more than two three-year terms. The Chairman
conducted a thorough review with each Director to assess
their independence and contributions to the Board and
confirmed that they both continue to be effective independent
Non-executive Directors. Mr C L Allen brings large corporate
operational experience and knowledge of the media industry
and provides leadership for the Remuneration Committee.
Through his wealth of business experience Dr H Einsmann
contributes a different dimension to the Board in terms of
international marketing, brand building and human resource
development.

The Chairman has primary responsibility for running the
Board. The Chief Executive, Sir Terry Leahy, has executive
responsibilities for the operations, results and strategic
development of the Group. Clear divisions of accountabiity
and responsibility exist and operate effectively for these
positions.

The Board requires all Non-executive Directors to be

independent in their judgement, The structure of the Board
and integrity of the individual Directors ensures that no one
individual or group dominates the decision-making process.

Biographies for the Board Directors can be found on pages
46 and 47 of the Annual Review and Summary Financial
Statement 2007,

Board responsibilities

The Board normally meets eight times a year and annually
devotes two days to a Board conference, including senior
executives, which discusses current performance and longer-
term planning, including evaluating the opportunities and
tisks of Ruture strategy. The Board has set out a clear Schedule
of Matters Reserved for Board Decision in order to ensure its
overall control of the Group's affairs. These include the
approval of financial statements, major acquisitions and
disposals, authority levels for expenditure, treasury policies,
risk managément, Group governance policies and succession
planning for senior executives.

All Directors have access to the services of the Company
Secretary and may take independent professional advice
at the Company's expense in conducting their duties, The
Company provides insurance cover and indemnities for its
Directors and officers.

For all new Directors, a personalised induction programme is
designed to develop their knowledge and understanding of the
Group’s culture and operations. On appointment, the Director
will liaise with the Chairman and the Company Secretary to
ensure the programme is appropriately tailored to their
experience, background and particular areas of focus. It usually
includes an overview of the business model, Board processes,
one-to-one meetings with the Executive team and briefings
with senior managers, an induction to Board Committees that
the new appointee will serve on, a briefing on social, ethical
and environmental issues for the business and site visits at
home and abroad.

The need for Director training is regularly assessed by the
Board and up-skilling sessions for the whole Board take place
at least once a year. This year Board training included sessions
on the operations and governance of our property activities.
In the coming year the Board proposes to hold training
sessions focusing on the Tesco Operating Model as well as

on the implications of climate change for the business. To
better facilitate the Directors’ understanding of the Group's
international operations, the Board usually holds at least

one meeting overseas each year.

Board processes

The Board governs through clearly identified Board
Committees to which it delegates certain powers. The Board
itself is serviced by the Company Secretary, who reports to the
Chairman in respect of his core duties to the Board. The Board
Committees are the Executive Committee, Audit Committee,
Rermuneration Committee and Nominations Committee. They
are properly authorised under the constitution of the Company
to take decisions and act on behalf of the Board within the
parameters laid down by the Board. The Board is kept fully
informed of the work of these Committees. Any issues requiring
resolution will be referred to the full Board. A summary of

the operations of these Commiittees is set out below. The
effectiveness of the Audit, Remuneration and Nominations
Committees is underpinned by their Non-executive Director
membership which provides independent insight on
governance matiers. Copies of each of the Cormmittee’s

Terms of Reference are available on the website
www.tesco.comicorporate or at the AGM.

Executive Committee The Board delegates responsibility
for formulating and implementing the strategic plan and for
management of the Group to the Executive Committee. This
Committee meets formally every week and its decisions are
communicated throughout the Group on a regular basis. The
Executive Committee comprises the seven Executive Directors
and is chaired by the Chief Executive. A number of senior
executives also attend the Cornmittee and their valuable
operational experience helps broaden the debate. Their




attendance also facilitates the communication of the
Committee’s decisions to the rest of the Group.,

The Committee has authority for decision-making in all areas
except those set out in the Schedule of Matters Reserved for
Board Decision. The Executive Committee is responsible for
implementing Group strategy and policy, for monitoring the
performance of the business and reporting on these matters
in full to the Board.

The Executive Committee has also set up further operationa!
groups or boards aimed at implementing the key elements

of the Group’s strategic plan and managing its UK and
international operations, joint ventures, property acquisitions,
finance, funding and people matters. These groups are heavily
populated with Executive Directors and senior management
from relevant functicns.

Nominations Committee The Nominations Committee Jeads
the pracess far Board appointments, re-glection and succession
of Directors and the Chairman. The Committee is chaired by
Mr D E Reid and its members during the year were Mr C L Alien,
Mr R F Chase, Mrs KR Cook, Mr E M Davies, Dr H Einsmann,
Mr K J Hydon, Ms,C McCall and Sis Terry Leahy. The Company
Secretary also attends in his capacity as Secretary of the
Committee. Where matters discussed relate to the Chairman,
the Senior Independent Non-executive Director chairs the
meeting. The Nominations Cornmittee met once in the year
ended 24 February 2007 to discuss the ongoing shape and
capability of the Board. They fully consider succession plans for
Executive Directors and the senior executive level below the
Main Board. The Committee discussed in detail Miss L Neville-
Rolfe’s proposed appointment to the Board. The Committee
unanimously agreed that she should be appointed to the
Board as Director of Corporate and Legal Affairs and she will
submit herself for election at the next AGM. All Directors have
to submit themselves for re-election at least every three years if
they wish to continue serving and are considered by the Board
to be eligible. New Directors are submitted for election by
shareholders in their first year.

Remuneration Committee The Remuneration Committee’s
role is to determine and recommend to the Board the
remuneration of the Executive Directors. It manitors the levels
and structure of remuneration for senior management and
seeks to ensure that they'are designed to attract, retain and
maotivate the Executive Directors needed to run the Company
successfully. Mr C LAllen chairs the Committee, which is
composed entirely of independent Non-executive Directors.
Committee members for the year ended 24 February 2007
were Mr R F Chase, Mrs KR Cook, Mr E M Davies and

Dr H Binsmann. At the invitation of the Committee the
Chairman of the Board normally attends meetings. The
Company Secretary also attends in his capacity as Secretary
of the Committee. The responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee and an explanation of how it applies the Directors®
remuneration principles of the Combined Code, are set out

in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 27 to 40.

Audit Committee The Audit Committee’s primary
responsibilities are to review the financial statements, to review
the Group's internal control and risk management systems,
to consider the appointment of the external auditors, their
independence and reports to the Committee, as well as to
review the programme of Internal Audit. The Committee’s
annual schedule includes a review of the effectiveness of
external and internal audit and a review of Protector Line, the
Company’s ‘whistle-blowing' procedure. The Committee met
four times this year. Each vear it conducts a review of the
Committee's own effectiveness and its Terms of Reference.

Mr K J Hydon, who has recent and relevant financial
experience, is the Chairman of the Committee. The other
Committee members for the year ended 24 February 2007
were Mr R F Chase, Mr E M Davies and Ms C McCall. At the
invitation of the Committee, the Chairman of the Board, the
Finance Director and his representatives, the Intemal Audit
Director, the Corporate and Legal Affairs Director, othier relevant
Executive Directors and representatives of the external auditors
regularly attend mestings. The Company Secretary also attends
in his capacity as Secretary of the Committee. The Committee
has regular private meetings with the external auditors during
the year, The need for training is kept under review and the
annual agenda ensures time is dedicated to up-skilling
sessions which may be provided by external experts. This year
training was provided for the whole Committee on pensions
and asset impairment under JFRS. Training is also provided to
meet specific individual needs of committee members.

Board performance evaluation The Board regularly reviews
its own performance. During the year ended 24 February 2007,
the Board agreed that it would be appropriate to conduct an
in-house review. The Chairman met with each of the Directors
individually and reported 1o the Board on the findings of the
review. The Board found this to be an open, constructive and
useful process and the review concluded that the Board is
highly effective. The main areas of focus in the past year were:
meeting the continuing challenges of improving our capability
in terms of talent development, leadership skills and building
the process, systems and organisation for a fast-growing
international business,

The Chief Executive reviews the performance of each Executive
Director. The Chairman reviews the performance of the Chief
Executive and each Non-executive Director. During the year,
the Chairman met with the Non-executive Directors, without
the Executive Directors present, to discuss Board issues and
how to build the best possible team. The Senior Independent
Non-executive Director met with the Non-executive Directors
in the absence of Chairman, to assess the Chairman's
effectiveness.

The Board scheduled eight meetings in the year ended

24 February 2007 and ad hoc meetings were also convened
1o deal with urgent matters. The following table shows the
attendance of Directors at regular Board meetings and at
meetings of the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration
Committees during the year.
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" Corporate governance continued

Board Nominations  Remuneration Audit
Members attendance during the year ended 24 February 2007 meetings Committee Committee Commitiee
Number of meetings held ’ 8 1 7 4
Non-executive Directors
My D E Reid (Chairman) ’ ) o 8 1 NiA NiA
Mr C LAllen 8 1 6 N/A
Mr R F Chase (Sénior Independent) i i 8 1 7 - 4
Mrs KR Cook ) 7 1 6 NiA
Mr E M Davies ’ ) 7 1 s 2
Dr H Einsmann ’ N ’ -7 1 7 NiA
Mr K J Hydon 7 - g 1 NiA 4
Ms C McCall i ) i 8 1 NA 3
Executive Directors
Sit Terry Leahy ’ ’ 8 1 N/A NiA
Mr R Brasher - ) 8 NiA N/A NiA
Mr P A Clarke ’ ) o o ) 8 NiA NiA NiA
Mr AT Higginson - B ’ - ) 8 N/A T ONA NiA
MrT J R Mason o ) ) o8 NA NIA NIA
Miss L Neville-Rolfe’ ) ) i 1 NiA N/A NA
Mr DT Potts g8 NA NA NiA
Nozes:

‘NI indicates the Director is not a member of the Committee. Directors leave the meeting where matters relating to them are being discussed. [t is expected that all Cirectors
attend Board and Committee meetings unless they are prevented from doing so by prior commitments and all Directors attend the AGM.

1 Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appointed on 14 December 2006 and has attended the one meeting that took place since that date.

Risk management and internal controls

Accountabilities Accepting that risk is an inherent part of
doing business, our risk management systems are designed
bath to encourage entrepreneurial spirit and also provide
assurance that risk is fully understood and managed. The Board
has overall responsibility for risk management and internal
control within the context of achieving the Group’s objectives.
Executive management is responsible forimplementing and
maintaining the necessary control systems. The role of Internal
Audit is to monitor the overail systems and report on their
effectiveness to Executive management, as well as to the Audit
Committee, in order to facilitate its review of the systems.

Background The Group has a five-year rolling business plan
to support the delivery of its strategy of long-term growth and
returns for shareholders.

Every business unit and support function derives its objectives
from the five-year plan and these are cascaded to managers
and staff by way of personal objectives. Key to delivering
effective risk management is ensuring our people have a
good understanding of the Group's strategy and our policies,
procedures, values and expected performance. We have a
structured internal communications programme that provides
employees with a clear definition of the Group's purpose and
goals, accountabilities and the scope of permitted activities for
each business unit, as well as individual line managers and
other employees. This ensures that all our people understand
what is expected of them and that decision-making takes
place at the appropriate level.

We recognise that our people may face ethical dilemmas in the-
normal course of business 50 we provide clear guidance based
on the Tesco Values. The Values set out the standards that we
wish to uphold in how we treat peaple. These are supporied

by the Group Code of Ethics which offers guidance on

relationships between the Group and its ermployees, suppliers
and contractors. The Coempany is a signatory to the DTl Code
of Conduct and met its abligations for implementing the Code
for the financial year ended 24 February 2007.

We operate a balanced scorecard approach that is known
within the Group as our Steering Wheel. This unites the
Group’s resources around our customers, people, operations,
communities and finance. The scorecard operates at every levei
within the Group, from ground level business units, through

to country level operations, up to the Group Steering Wheel.

It enables the business to be operated and monitored on

a balanced basis with due regard for all stakeholders.

Risk Management The Group maintains a Key Risk Register.
The Register contains the key risks faced by the Group,
including their impact and likelihood as well as the controls
and procedures implemented to mitigate these risks. The
content of the Register is determined through regular
discussions with Executive management and review by the full
Board. A balanced approach allows the degree of controllability
to be taken into account when we consider the effectiveness
of mitigation, recognising that some necessary activities carry
inherent risk which may be outside the Group’s control. Qur
risk management process recognises there are opportunities
to improve the business to be built into our future plans.

Our key risks are summarised on pages 16 to 19 of the
Operating and Financial Review.

The risk management process is cascaded through the Group
with every international CEQ and local Boards maintaining
their own risk registers and assessing their control systems.
The same process also applies functionally in those parts of
the Group requiring greater overview, For example, the Audit
Committee’s Terms of Reference require it to oversee the
Finance Risk Register. A further example is that of the




Corporate Responsibility Risk Register which specifically
considers social, ethical and environmental (SEE) risks.
Oversight of these risks is the respensibility of the Carporate
Responsibility Committee, The Board incorporates SEE risks
on the Key Risk Register where they are considered material
or appropriate.

With reference to the ABI guidelines on social responsibility,
we confirm that the Board takes regular account of the
significance of SEE matters to the business of the Group.

We recognise that some investors and other stakeholders take
a keen interest in how companies manage SEE matters and
so we report mere detail on our policies and KPls in our
Annual Corporate Respensibility Review and on our website
(www.tesco.comicorporate). To provide further assurance, the
Group’s Corporate Responsibility KPis are audited on a regular
basis by Internal Audit.

Internal controls Accountability for managing risk at an
operational level sits with managernent. We have a Group-wide
process for clearly establishing the risks and responsibilities
assigned to each level of management and the controls which
are required to be operated and monitored.

The CEOs of subsidiary businesses are required to certify

by way of annual staternents of assurance that the Board's
governance policies have been adopted both in practice and
in spirit. For certain joint ventures, the Board places reliance
upon the internal contrel systems operating within our
partners’ infrastructure and the obligations upon partners’
Boards relating to the effectiveness of their own systems.

Monitoring The Board oversees the monitoring system and
has set specific responsibilities for itself and Board or Executive
committees as set out helow. The minutes of the Audit,
Finance, Compliance and Corporate Responsibility
Committees are distributed to the Board and a report is
submitted for formal discussion at least once & year. These all
provide assurance that the Group is operating legally, ethically
and in accordance with approved financial and cperational
policies. We noted the updates to the Tumbull Guidance and
keep under review how the Turnbull Guidance has been
applied. In addition, both Internal Audit and our external
auditors play key roles in the monitoring process.

* Audit Committee Annually, the Audit Committee reports
to the Board on its review of the effectiveness of the
internal control systems for the accounting year and the
period to the date of approval of the financiai statements.
Throughout the year the Committee receives regular
reports from its external auditors covering topics such as

quality of earnings and technical accounting developments.

The Committee alsc receives updates from Internal Audit
and has dialogue with senior managers on their control
responsibilities.

It should be understood that such systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstaternent or loss.

* Internal Audit The Internal Audit department is fully
independent of business operations and has a Group-wide
mandate. It operates a risk-based methodolegy, ensuring
that the Group’s key risks receive appropriate reqular
examination. Its respansibilities include maintaining
the Key Risk Reqgister, reviewing and reporting on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control
to the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee and
ultimately to the Board. Internal Audit facilitates oversight
of risk and control systems across the Group through a
number of Aucit and Compliance Committees established
on either a geographic or business basis. The Head of
Internal Audit also attends all Audit Committee meetings.

+ External Audit PricewaterhouseCoopers LLR the
Company’s extarnal auditors, contribute a further
independent perspective on certain aspects of our internal
financial control systems arising from their work, and report
to both the Board and the Audit Committee,

The engagement and independence of external auditors
is considered annually by the Audit Committee before they
recommend their selection to the Board. The Committee
has satisfied itself that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are
independent and there are adequate controls in place

to safeguard their objectivity. One such measure is the
requirement to rotate audit partners every five years. This
year, the audit engagement partner, having served five years
on the Tesco audit, will be rotated. We have a non-audit
services policy that sets out criteria for employing external
auditors and identifies areas where it is inappropriate for
PricewaterhouzeCoopers LLP to work. Non-audit services
work carried out by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is
predominantly the review of subsidiary undertakings’
statutory accounts, transaction work and corporate tax
services, PricewaterhouseCecopers LLP also follow their
own ethical guidelines and continually review their audit
team to ensure their independence is not compromised.

* Finance Committee Membership of the Finance
Committee includes Non-executive Directors with relevant
financial expertise, Executive Directors and members of
senior management, The Committee usually meets twice
ayear and its role is to review and agree the Finance Plan
on an annual basis to review reports of the Treasury and
Tax functions, and to review and approve Treasury limits
and delegations.

+ Compliance Committee Membership of the Compliance
Committee includes three Executive Directors and
members of senior management. The Company Secretary
attends meetings of the Committee in his capacity as its
Secretary. The Committee normally meets six times a year
and its remit is to ensure that the Group complies with
all necessary laws and regulations in all of its operations
world-wide, The Committee has established a schedule
for the regular review of operational activities and legal
exposure. Every international business in the Group is also
required to have a local Compliance Committee designed
to ensure compliance with local laws and regulations as
well as Group Compliance policies.
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Corporate governance continued

s Corporate Responsibility Committee The Committee is
chaired by an Executive Director and membership is made
up of senior executives from across the business. It meets
at least four times a year to support, develop and monitor
policies on SEE issues, reviewing threats and opportunities
for the Group. KPIs are monitored under the ‘Community’
segment on our Steering Wheel. The Board formally
discussed the progress in implementing our Community
Plan and otherwork of the Committee twice in the last
year and the Chair of the Committee reports regularly
to the Executive Committee on SEE matters.

Specialist functions such as the Corporate and Legal
Affairs department and the Trading Law and Technical
department provide assurance and advice on legal
compliance, health and safety, and SEE matters. These
functions report on theirwork on a regular basis and
escalate matters as appropriate.

+ Management In our fast moving business, trading is
tracked on a daily and weekly basis, financial performance
is reviewed weekly and monthly, and the Steering Wheel
is reviewed quarterly. All key business units in the Group
operate a Steering Wheel and report against target KPls
on a guarterly basis enabling management to measure
performance,

All major initiatives require business cases normally
covering a minimum period of five years. Post-investment
appraisals, carried out by management, determine the
reasons for any significant variance from expected
performance.’

Relations with stakeholders

We are committed to having a constructive dialogue with

all stakeholders 1o ensure we understand what is important

to them and allow ourselves the opportunity to present

our position. Engagement helps us identify new risks and
opportunities to ensure that our long-term strategy is
sustainable. In some instances we find that working with
stakeholders in partnership can help deliver shared goals. We
might not be able to satisfy all stakeholder concerns all the
time but through engagement we can do our best to balance
competing demands. We know that customers need to be able
to trust our business and they will only trust us if we do the
right thing by all our stakeholders. Our programme of engaging
with stakeholders including customers, staff, suppliers,
investors, non-governmental organisations and others, is set
out in more detail in the Corporate Responsibility Review and
on our website. The launch of the Community Plan has helped
to demonstrate our commitment to tackling a wide range of
social and environmental issues and we carry out external
research to help us understand how well we are addressing
stakeholder concerns.

We are committed to maintaining a good dialogue with
shareholders through proactively organising meetings and
presentations as well as responding to a wide range of
enquiries. We seek shareholder views on a range of issues
from strategy to corporate governance and SEE issues. We
recognise the importance of communicating appropriately
any significant Company developments. This shareholder
communication is mainly co-crdinated by the Investor Relations
department. During the year, the Group met with 97 of our
leading shareholders representing over 53% of the issued
shares of the Company. To complement this programme, the
Chairman meets with major shareholders independently from
the Executive team. Sharehclders also have the opportunity
to meet with the Senior Independent Non-executive Director.
The Board is kept updated on the views of stake-holders.

It is normal that institutional shareholders may be in more
regular contact with the Group than others, but care is
exercised to ensure that any price-sensitive information is
released to all shareholders, institutions and private, at the
same time in accordance with applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

The AGM is an excellent opportunity t¢ communicate directly
with all shareholders. The whole Board attends the meeting
and are available to answer questions from the shareholders
present. To encourage shareholder participation, we offer
electronic proxy voting and voting through the CREST electronic
proxy appointment service. At our last AGM in July 2008, all
resolutions were voted by way of electronic poll. This follows
best practice guidelines and allows the Company to count all
votes, not just those of shareholders attending the meeting.

Every shareholder may choose to receive a full Annual Report
and Firancial Statements or the Annual Review and Summary
Financial Staternent. At the half-year, all shareholders receive
an Interim Report. These reports, together with publicly-made
rading statements, are available on the Group’s website,
www. tesco.com/corporate.,

Compliance

The Board considers that Tesco PLC complied in all respects
with the Combined Code Principles of Good Governance and
Code of Best Practice for the year ended 24 February 2007.




Directors’ remuneration report for the year ending 24 February 2007

This is the report of the Remuneration Committee on behalf
of the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee (the Committee) is governed
by formal Terms of Reference. They are reviewed annually and
are available from the Company Secretary or can be viewed at
WWW.tesco.com

Composition of the Committee

The Committee consists entirely of independent Non-executive
Directors. The members of the Committee are Mr C L Allen
(Chairman of the Committee), Mr R F Chase, Mrs K Cook,

Mr E M Davies and Dr H Einsmann. No member of the
Remuneration Committee has any personal financial interest
in the matters being decided, other than as a shareholder, nor
any day-to-day involvement in running the business of Tesco.
Mr J M Lloyd is Secretary to the Committee. Mr D E Reid,
Non-executive Chairman and Sir Terry Leahy, Chief Executive
of the Group, both attend meetings at the invitation of the
Committee except when their own remuneration is being
discussed. The Committee is supported by the Group-Personnel
function and has continued to use the services of Deloitte

& Touche LLP as an external, independent advisor, Deloitte

& Touche LLP also provided advisory services in respect of
carporate tax planning, share schemes and international
taxatfon to the Group during the year. Members’ attendance

at Committee meetings is listed in the Directors’ Corporate
Governance report on page 24.

The role of the Commiittee
The Committee's purpose is to:

* determine and recommend to the Board the remuneration
policy for the Chairman and Executive Directors;

* ensure the level and structure of remuneration is designed
to attract, retain, and motivate the Executive Directors
needed to run the Company; and

* monitor the level and structure of remuneration for
senior management,

The Committee also ensures that the remuneration
relationship between the Executive Directors and senior
executives of the Company below this level is appropriate.
In particular, any exceptional remuneration arrangements
for senior executives are advised to the Committee.

Activities of the Committee

The Committee normally meets at least four times a year and
circulates minutes of its meetings to the Board. During the
financial year, the Committee met seven times. The rolling
schedule for the Committee includes: a review of overall
remuneration arrangements; an overview of best practice;
Executive salary and total remuneration benchmarking;
Chairman's remuneration; consideration of the relationship

of reward between Executive Directors and senior managers;
determining the level of awards and grants to be made under
the Group incentive plans; agreeing targets for the forthcoming
year; considering feedback from shareholders; and an annual
review of its own effectiveness.

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy

Tesco has a long-standing policy of rewarding talent and
experience. We also seek to provide incentives for delivering
high growth and high returns for shareholders. The Committee
believes that a significant proportion of total remuneration
should be performance-related and delivered largely in shares
to closely align the interests of shareholders and Executive
Directors. In determining the halance between the fixed and
variable elements of the Executive Directors' remuneration
packages, the Committee has regard to policy and also
market practice.

The remuneration strategy for Executive Directors and other
key executives is tailored to emphasise the delivery of strong
year-on-year earnings growth as well as sustained performance
in the longer term. L.ong-term performance is rewarded
through delivery of shares and short-term performance
through a combination of cash and an element of compulsory
deferred shares. This ensures continued emphasis an strong
annual performance combined with leng-term executive share
ownership, providing a strong link between the incentives
received and shareholder value delivered. A diagram illustrating
the balance between fixed and variable reward is shown later
in this report.

Tesco operates in a highly competitive and rapidly changing
retail environment. Business success depend's on the talents
of the key team, but outstanding business performance

comes from teamwaork. Tesco has a stable and successiul
management team and building and retaining that team at
senior levels within Tesco is important to our continued success.

We believe our incentives should support the continued
progress within the existing business, the strengthening

of our returns in the international business and the creation
of significant new businesses, e.q. the US. The Committee has
reviewed the current remuneration arrangements in light of
these requirements and concluded that a rebalancing of
incentives is required.

In order to introduce these changes we intend (i) to establish

a Group New Business Incentive Plan which focuses on long-
term business development (four to seven years into the future);
(i) to introduce an additional element into our current three-
year Performance Share Plan which targets the performance of
our existing intemnational business; and (iii) to create a new plan
for our US executive team to ensure that we can attract great
talent to build our US business. Participation in the various
elements will be governed by the Remuneration Committee
and individual executives will be awarded incentives under the
elements which are most relevant te their sphere of responsibility.

The Group CEQ, Sir Terry Leahy, has responsibility for delivering
continued success of our core business, developing our
international business and also laying the foundations of major
new businesses. He will therefore be eligible to receive an
award under the Performance Share Plan which will be focused
on improving internationat ROCE.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

He will also be eligible to participate in the new business
arrangements comprising (i} a New Business short-term

bonus for the next three years of 50% of salary based on
achievement of milestones for new business development; and
(i1} subject to sharehclder approval, a one-off award under the
New Business Incentive Plan. The one-off award under the
New Business Incentive Plan will only be paid out in full if both
stretching new business performance targets over the period
2011 to 2014 are met and Group and international ROCE
targets are also met over the periods 2007/08 to 2011/12.

The US venture is currently the most developed new business
initiative with significant opportunity to generate shareholder
value. The concept and format of the new US business were
both created by Sir Terry Leahy, and his continued leadership
and drive are critical to the success of this start-up business.
Payment of his award under the New Business Incentive Plan
will therefore be initially focussed on the new US business;
however, the Remuneration Committee will have flexibility

to consider and include other new business deveiopment
opportunities within the proposed structure.

Mr T J R Mason, the US CEQ, is respensible for delivering

the successful roll-out of the US business. He will therefore
be eligible to participate in a US short-term bonus plan and,
subject to shareholder approval, receive a ene-off award
under the propased US Long-Term Incentive Plan. Payouts
under the short-term annual bonus in the start-up phase will
be subject to performance against strategic and financial
milestone targets. Payouts under the US Long-Term Incentive
Plan will be based on the delivery of a strong profitable US
business for Tesco shareholders and that success will be
measured by a combination of EBIT and ROCE targets. Awards
will be earned over the four years 2011 to 2014 and will be

in the form of Tesco PLC shares. Members of the US senior
management team will also participate in the US incentive
arrangements.

The remaining Executive Directors have respensibility both

for delivering continued success of our core business and
developing the operating model for our international business.
They will therefore be eligible to receive an award under the
Performance Share Plan which will be focused on improving
both Group and international ROCE.

Fixed element

Base salary

Short-term performance

Further details on the proposed New Business Incentive Plan
and the proposed US Long-Term Incentive Plan are provided
in the Shareholders’ Circular. The proposed changes to the
Performance Share Plan and the Annual Bonus arrangements
are described in more detail later in this report.

Total remuneration

The total remuneration levels of Executive Directors are
reviewed annually by the Committee. The Committee considers
external independent remuneration surveys to ensure it has
proper regard to competitive market practice. We are conscious
of the proeblems involved in paying unjustified amounts

and therefore monitor carefully the basic salary and total
remuneration that each Director receives. The Executive
Directors’ total remuneration package comprises, in varying
degrees, the following elements (excluding the proposed new
incentive plans which are subject to shareholder approval).

* base salaries determined by the responsibilities, skiils
and experience of the individual against a benchmark
determined by reference to other large retailers, major FTSE
100 companies and international comparator companies;

+ annual bonuses paid part in cash and part in shares with
a compulsory deferral of the share element for three years;

» Performance Share Plan based con stretching ROCE targets;

+ performance-related share option awards via the
Discretionary Share Option Plan open to all senior
managers;

+ henefits (which comprise car benefits, life assurance,
disability and health insurance and staff discount); and
* pensions.
Executive Diractors are also eligible to participate in the
Company’s all-employee savings related share option scheme
(SAYE), Shares in Success and Buy As You Earn scheme on
the same terms as all other UK employees.
The diagram below shows the targeted balance of fixed
and performance-related elements for different levels of
performance (excluding the praposed new long-term
incentive plans which are subject to shareholder approval).

Performance-related elements

Long-term performance

v

Cash bonus

¢.15%-33% depending on individual
incentive arrangements and performance

Deferred
share bonus

v v v

Performance

Share opticns
share plan P

c.67%-85% depending on individual
incentive arrangements and performance




Basic pay

Basic pay is designed to attract and retain talented individuals.
It needs to reflect individual capability, and any changes in
responsibilities as the Company faces new opportunities and
challenges. As the Company continues to diversify into new
product areas and services as well as expanding internationally
it seeks to reflect this in the benchmarks that are used. We
aim to reflect salary levels at the top performing retailers,

the leading FTSE companies and ensure consideration is given
to international competitors in order to attract the best people
and maintain excellent performance. We also take into account
pay conditions throughout the Company in deciding annual
salary increases.

Annual cash bonus and deferred annual bonus

The Company operates an annual bonus scheme which is
delivered part in cash and part in shares. The Rernuneration
Cammittee has typically made awards of up to 100% of salary
paid in cash at the end of the year and up to 100% of salary
paid in shares with cormpulsory deferral far three years. The
share element is based on achievement of stretching earnings
per share (EPS) targets, an assessment of shareholder returns
(TSR) and specific corporate objectives. The cash element is
earned through achievement of EPS growth targets and
progress on specific corporate objectives. The Committee sets
performance targets annually and confirms achievement of
performance and awards to be made.

Wa cannot disclose future targets for reasons of commercial
sensitivity. By way of illustration of the approach to target-
setting, the corparate objectives are based on our balanced
scorecard, the Steering Wheel, described in more detail on
page 8. Corparate objectives for the awards made in the
financial year 2006/07 included increasing sales from new
space; spedific profit targets forinternational businesses

and for retailing services; like-for-like sales growth and the
development of the non-food business; focus an developing
trading models internationally and in non-food; enhancing
talent management and capability; and embedding the new
Community Plan and impiementing international community-
related strategies.

The Committee considers TSR performance against the FTSE
100 and a comparator group of international retailers that
includes Ahold, Carrefour, J Sainsbury, Metro, Morrisons,
Safeway Inc, Target and Walmart.

Following the Remuneration Cormmittee’s consideration of
the various performance measures in respect of the 2006/07
award, the Executive Directors have been awarded 100% of
the annual cash bonus and 100% of the deferred shares
element of the annual bonus. .

As menticned above, in order to motivate short-term
performance and delivery of success in the start-up phase of
the US business, the Remuneration Committee has agreed to
increase the potential short-term bonus opportunity for the US
CEQ, MrT J R Masan, from 100% to 150% of salary in cash
and by an equal amount in deferred shares. MrT J R Mason's

total short-term opportunity will be subject to a combination of

Group and US-specific performance conditions.

In order to reward early stage success against financial and
strategic milestones for new business ventures, the potential
opportunity under the share element of the short-term bonus
will also increase from 100% to 150% of salary for the Group
CEQ, SirTerry Leahy (with his potential cash bonus opportunity
remaining at 100%). The share awards will continue to be
deferred for three years before release. Awards will be subject
to performance conditions which measure the succassful
progress of the US business including leadership and delivery
of financial and strategic objectives, and factors such as site
acquisitions, store openings, agreed capital expenditure,
infrastructure, early turnover and financial milestones for
returns from the first two years of store openings,

Performance Share Plan

The Performance Share Plan (PSP) provides the opportunity
to earn rewards for achieving superior long-term performance.
By ensuring a focus on longer-term business success and
encouraging the Executive Directors to build up a shareholding
in the Company the Plan further aligns the interests of
shareholders and Executive Directors.

The rules of the PSF ailow awards to be made over shares up
to 150% of salary. In the year ended 24 February 2007, awards
were made over Tesco PLC shares equal to 100% of salary.
These awards will vest (together with reinvested dividends)
subject to the achievement of RQCE targets. The first 75%

of the award will vest on a straight-line basis at the end of the
three-year performance period, with 255 vesting for baseline
performance and the full 75% vesting for maximum
perforrmance against target. The target in respect of the first
75% of the 2006/07 PSP award is achievernent of 13.4%
ROCE (based on profit before interest lass tax} at the end

of the three-year performance period in 2008/09.

The remaining 25% of the award will vest for superior Return
on Capital perfarmance. The Committee agreed that it was
appropriate to exercise judgement on whethervesting should
occur to encourage Executives to make investrment decisions
in the long-term interests of the business without being
unduly influenced by the impact on the ROCE target. When
determining whether some, or all, of the rematning 25% of
tha award will vest, the Committee will take into account a
number of factors including:

* the level of ROCE achieved;

* the expected ROCE for additional and existing capital
investment;

+ whether capital spend is in line with strategic objectives
and balances shaort and leng-term investment needs;

* sales growth and underlying profit growth; and

« whether this reflects other developments in the marketplace.

If the Committee exercises its judgement to allow some,

or all, of the remaining 25% of these PSP awards to vest,

we will describe in the Directors’ Remuneration Report those
factors taken into account in determining the level of the
award which would vest.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

To incentivise and reward delivery of higher retumns from
invested capital outside the UK (but excluding the USA)}, the
Committee has decided that, going forward, it wilt make PSP
awards within the Plan limits of a further 50% of salary to each
of the Executive Directors, except the US CEQ, MrT J R Mason,
These incremental awards will vest subject to the achieverment
of specific targets based on international ROCE, sales growth
and underlying profit growth.

The PSP rules currently require any vested shares to be retained
for a further 12 months. The Committee has concluded that it
would be appropriate to discontinue this requirement going
forward as it believes that the structure of the package which
delivers a significant proportion of the package in shares,
coupled with the shareholding requirement and actual levels
of shareholding, ensures appropriate levels of ongoing
executive shareholding. The Committee will be seeking
shareholder approval to remove this requirement for 2007/08
and future awards.

Share options

Options over shares with a value of 200% of salary are granted
to the Executive Directors. Options are granted with an exercise
price equal to the market value at the date of grant and any
gain is therefore dependent on increasing the share price
between the date of grant and exercise. Vesting of the options
is dependent on the achievement of performance conditions,
with the first 100% subject to the achievernent of EPS growth
of at least RPI plus 9% over three years and the balance
vesting for achieving EPS growth of at least RPI plus 15%.
There is no retesting of performance.

Share options are an impertant part of the incentive framework
for hundreds of senior managers within Tesco. The Committee
recognises that some companies are moving away from share
aptions as a result of accounting changes and has again
considered the appropriateness of retaining this scheme.

Part of remuneration Performance measure

The Committee remains highly confident that the share option
plans remain in the best interests of shareholders as they
provide a clear, simple incentive arrangemertt for a large group
of senior management, including Executive Directors, and they
reward increases in absolute sharehotder value.

Share ownership guideline

Executive Directors are normally expected to build and
maintain a shareholding with a value at least equal to their
basic salary. New appointees will typically be allowed around
three years to establish this shareholding. Full participation
in the PSP is conditional upon this.

Summary of remuneration elements

All awards made to Executive Directors under the Annual
Bonus, PSP and all options granted under the Discreticnary
Share Option Plan are subject to the satisfaction of
performance conditions. If performance is lower than the
maximum targets, the short-term bonus and long-term
incentives will reduce accordingly. In recommending the
proposed changes this year the Committee took into account
the Group's growing global leadership, its position as one of
the rising companies at the top of the FTSE 100 and increasing
competition from private equity in the sector. It has also
reviewed the performance conditions for each of the incentive
arrangements against the Group’s business strateqy and
concluded that they provide a set of comprehensive and robust
measures of management’s effort and success in creating
shareholdervalue. A sﬂmmary of the elements of the package
is set out in the table below. The proposed New Business
Incentive Plan (for the Group CEQ) and the proposed US Long-
Term Incentive Plan for the US CEO have not been included

as they are subject to shareholder approval.

Purpose

Base salary

Annual cash bonus
{up to 100% of salary)

Earnlngs per share and specified
carporate objectives

Indlvrdual cantribution to the busmess success

To attract and retain taEented people

Motivates year-on-year earnings growth
and delivery of business priorities

(Additional potential of up to 50%
of salary for Us CEQ)

Annual deferred share efement
(up to 100% of salary)

(Additional potential of up to 50%
of salary for Group CEQ and US~CEO)

Performance Share Plan
(up to 150% of salary:
100% for Group performance; and
50% for intermational performance*)

* US CEO not eligible for the 50%
relatlng to |nternat|onal perfnrman(e

Share optrons

Ohjectives relating to early-stage progress
|n establlshrng the US operatlons

Total shareholder return, L EPS and speched
corporate objectives

Objectives relating to early-stage progress in
establishing new business ventures for the Group
CEQ and relating to the successful start-up of
the US operations for the US CEO

Group performance: Group ROCE

International performance: International ROCE

The Committee will also take account of sales
growth and underlying profit growth in determining
levels of vesting

EPS relative to retail prrce index

Incentivises entrepreneurial spirit and early stage
_ progress of Us busmess

Generates focus on medrum term targets and
by incentivising share price and dividend growth,
ensures alignment with shareholder interests

Incentivises entrepreneurial spirit and early stage
progress of US business

Assures a focus on long-term business success
and shareholder returns

Incentlvrses earmngs growth and Executive
Director shareholding




Other elements

* Shares In Success The Group operates a profit sharing
scheme (Shares in Success) for the benefit of UK
employees including Executive Directors. The scheme
is available to employees with at least one year's service
at the Group’s year end and is recognised as a powerful
incentive and retention tool for all employees. Shares in
the Company are allocated to participants in the scheme
on a pro-rata basis to base salary earned up to HMRC
approved limits (currently £3,000 per annum). The amount
of profit allocated to the scheme is determined by the
Board, taking account of Company performance.

* Save as You Earn Since 1981, the Group has operated
a HMRC approved savings-related share option scheme
(SAYE) for the benefit of employees including Executive
Directors. Under this scheme, employees save up to a limit
of £250 on a four-weekly basis via a bank/building society
with an option to buy shares in Tesco PLC at the end of
a three or five-year period at a discount of up to 20% of
the market value. There are no performance conditions
attached 1o SAYE options.

* Buy As You Earn Since January 2002, the Group has
operated the partnership shares element of a HMRC
approved share investment plan for the benefit of
employees including Executive Directors. Under this
scheme, employees save up t¢ a limit of £110 on a four-
weekly basis to buy shares at market value in Tesco PLC.

Pensions
The retention of key management is critical to the future

success of the business and to the growth of shareholder value.

Pension provision is central to our ability to foster loyalty and
retain experience which is why Tesco wants to ensure that the
Tesco Ple Pension Scheme is a highly valued benefit.

All Executive Directors are members of the Teseo PLC Pensian
Scheme which provides a pension of up to two-thirds of

base salary on retirement, normally at age 60, dependent on
service. The Final Salary Scheme is now closed to new entrants
but has been replaced by a different defined benefit pension
scheme which accumulates each year and is based on career
average earnings.

Since April 2006, following implementation of the requlations
contained within the Finance Act 2004, Executive Directors
will be eligible to receive the maximum pension that can be
provided from the registered pension scheme. The balance of
any pension entitlerment is delivered through an unapproved
retirement benefits scheme (URBS). The URBS (SURBS) is
‘secured’ by using a fixed charge over a cash depositin a
designated account. This provides no greater security than
under the registered scheme. In particular, in the unlikely
event that the registered scheme were to be wound up with

a deficit, members would be no better off under the SURBS
arrangements than those paid out of the registered scheme.
Under these circumstances, to ensure parity, members of the
SURBS would receive the same proportion of their total
entitlement as those in the registered scheme,

QOver the last few years, pension contributions by our Executive
Directors have been increasing progressively, In 2006/07, the
level of contribution was 5% of salary and this will increase in
July 2007 to 7% which wilt bring Executive Directors in line
with senior management’s contribution levels.

Further details of the pension benefits earned by the Directors
can be found on page 34.

Performance graph

The graph below highlights the Group’s total shareholder return
performance over the last five financial years, relative to the
FTSE 100 index of companies. This index has been selected to
provide an established and broad-based comparator group of
retail and non-retail companies of similar scale to Tesco.
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TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURAN (TSR)
TSR is the notional return from a share or index based
on share price movements and declared dividends

Service agreements

The Executive Directors all have rolling service agreements
with no fixed expiry date. These contracts are terminated on
notice of 12 months by the Company and six months’ notice
by the Executive.

If an Executive Director's employment is terminated {other than
pursuant to the notice provisions in the service agreement or
by reason of resignation or unacceptable performance or
conduct) the Company will pay, by way of liquidated damages,
a sum calculated on the basis of basic salary and the average
annual bonus paid for the last two years. No account will be
taken of pension or any other benefit or emolument.

Termination payments will be subject to mitigation. This means
that liquidated damages amounts will be paid in instalments to
permit mitigation and earlier payment will be made based on
long service in line with Tesco policy which respects and rewards
Joyalty. If the termination occurs within one year of retirement,
the termination payrnent will be reduced accordingly.

To reflect his length of service with Tesco and the early age of
his appointment as CEO, Sir Terry Leahy’s service agreement
provides for his full pension entitlernent to become available
on retirement on or after his 57th birthday.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

The Committee has agreed that new appointments of
Executive Directors will normally be on a notice period of 12
months. The Cormmittee reserves the right to vary this period
to 24 months for the initial period of appointment and for
the notice period to then revert to 12 months. The service
agreements are available to shareholders to view on request
from the Company Secretary.

Qutside appointments

Tesco recognises that its Executive Directors may be invited

to become Non-executive Directors of other companies. Such
Non-executive duties can broaden experience and knowledge
which can benefit Tesco. Subject to approval by the Board,
Executive Directors are allowed to accept Non-executive
appointments and retain the fees received, provided that these
appointments are not likely to lead to conflicts of interest.
Executive Directors’ biographies can be found in the Annual
Review on page 47 and fees retained for any Non-executive
Directorships are set out below.

Company in which Fee retained by

MNon-executive the Director in
Director Directarship held 2006/07 (£000)
Mr P A Clarke Whitbread Group PLC 45
Mr AT Higginson BSkyB 53

Note: As stated in the Annual Report and Financial Staternents 2006, Mr T J R Mason
resigned from G Cap Media PLC on 14 March 2006,

Non-executive Directors

Non-executive Directors have letters of appointment setting
out their duties and the time commitment expected. The
letters are available to shareholders to view from the Company
Secretary. The Chairman meets with each Non-executive
Director separately to review individual performance. All-Non-
executive Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders
every three years at the Annual General Meeting and their
appointment can be terminated by either party withaut notice.

The remuneration of the Non-executive Directors is determined
by the Chairman and the Executive Committee after
considering external market research and individual
contribution. Non-executive Directors receive a basic fee of
£55,000. To reflect the increased workload and responsibilities
of chairing the Audit and Remuneration Committees, the
fees received by the Chairs of each of these committees have
increased to £15,000 (in addition to their basic Non-executive
fee) from 1 March 2007. The fees received by Non-executive
Directors for membership of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees have increased to £8,000 for each committee,
also from 1 March 2007. The fee received by the Senior
Independent Non-executive Director, Mr R F Chase, who is
also the Deputy Chairman, has increased to £118,000 from

1 March 2007.

The Remuneration Committee determines the Chairman’s
remuneration, having regard to time commitment and
packages awarded to Chairmen of other companies of a similar
size and complexity. Mr D E Reid, Non-executive Chairman,
received an annual fee of £540,000 this year and has the
benefit of a company car.

Compliance

In carrying out its duties, the Committee gives full
consideration to best practice. The Cormmiitee is constituted
and operated throughout the period in-accordance with the
principles outlined in the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority derived from Schedule A and B of the Combined
Code. The auditors’ report, set out on page 43, covers the
disclosures referred to in this report that are specified for audit
by the Financial Services Autharity. This report also complies
with disclosures required by the Director Remuneration Report
Regulations 2002. Details of Directors’ emoluments and
interests, including executive and savings-related share
options, are set out on pages 33 to 40.

Mr C LAllen
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee




Tables 1 to 8 are audited information.

Table 1 Directors' emoluments

Fixed emoluments Performance-related emolurnents
Share Short-term

Incentive Daferred *Toral Total

Salary Allowances Benefits (b) Plan Short-term Shares  Long-term {c) 2006/07 2005/06

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive Directors

Sir Terry Leahy 1202 - 99 3 1,240 1,240 834 4618 3,979
Mr R Brasher 622 - 59 T3 660 660 - 2004 gz .
Mr P A Clarke 686 - 92 3 708 708 Ca34 2831 2219 .-
Mr AT Higginson 686 - 83 3 708 708 468 2,661 2,300 m @
MrT J R Mason (@) 686 542 354 3 1005 708 467 3765 2,256 38
| Miss L Neville-Ralfe () 50 - 15 - & & - 39 - G0
M DT Potts 686 - 33 3 708 708 43 2574 2,219 22
Non-Executive Directors _ X ) o o o o 5 3
Mr C LAllen 69 - - - - - - 69 58 e
MrR F Chase 109 - - - - - T 109 100 )

Mrs K Cook 62 - - _ . . o 62 55

Mr E M Davies 0 - - - - - LT 0 &0

Dr H Einsmann 62 ’ - L Z - ~ D 62 . -55

| Mr K J Hydon 69 - - - - I 69 58

i Ms C McCall 62 - - - - - T 62 53

Mr D E Reid (Chairman) 536 - 76 - - - 2T e T T see

‘ Total 5,697 542 816 18 5,096 4,799 2,639 19,607 15,620

{a) MrT JR Mason relocated to the US during the year. Benefits and allowances were paid to MrT J R Mason in fine with the Tesco approach to expatriate transfers including
one-off payments for relocation, and travel and localisation costs including schooling. For future years this will be reduced ta a non-pensicnable salary supplement and a
more focussed package of benefits which recognises ongoing expatriate <osts including travel, medical and tax-related casts and services. Mr T J R Mason’s shart-term cash
bonus includes cash compensation payments in respect of accumulated share rights from existing plans paid in cash as a result of his move to the US.

{b) With the exception of MrT.J R Mason, benefits are made up of car benefits, chauffeurs, disability and health insurance, staff discount and gymileisure club membership.

{c) The long-term bonus figures shown in table 1 relate to the additional 12.5% enhancements allecated in May 2006 on shori-term and long-term awards under the old
bonus scheme. The long-term bonuses awarded on 20 July 2006 under the Performance Share Plan were awardecl in the farm of nil cost options with the exception of
MrT J R Mason who received an unfunded promise to deliver shares. Details of this award are shown in table 6.

(d) Miss L Neville-Relfe was appointed on 14 December 2006, The figures in table 1 are calculated from the date of her appointment.




Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 2 Pension details of the Directors

Transfer Transfer

value value Transfer

Increase Transfer of total of total value
Age at Total Increase in accrued value accrued accrued of total {ncrease
24 February accrued in accrued pension of previous pension at pension at accrued in transfer
2007/ pension at pension during the celumn at 25 February 25 February pension at value less
Years of 24 February during the year {netof 24 February 2006 {(old 2006 (new 24 February Directors’
Company 2007 (a, b} year inflation) 2007 basis (c}) basis {<)) 2007  contributions
service £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Sir Terry Leahy (d) 50128 627 81 62 1,136 6,715 7,531 9,350 1,816
Mr R Brasher 45120 241 58 51 542 1,554 1,806 2,559 752
Mr P A Clarke 46132 295 36 27 309 2,365 2,735 3,364 627
Mr AT Higginsan 49/9 212 39 33 419 1,806 2,065 2,711 644
MrT ] R Mason 49725 322 39 29 374 2,942 3,365 4,132 765
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (&) 54/9 125 47 46 690 nfa 1,192 1,885 693
Mr D T Potts 49/34 326 40 30 387 3,051 3,487 4,281 792

{a

{b) Some of the Executive Directors’ benefits are payable from an unapproved pension arrangement, This is secured by a fixed and fleating charge on a cash depasit.

{c) The methad used for calculating transfer values was revised during the year. Changes in financial conditions and improving mortality rates have meant that the previous
basis for calcuating transfer values, used since 2004, is not considered to produce suitable values, Transfer values at 25 February 2006 have been restated using the new
method for comparative purpases.

{d) SirTerry Leahy is entitled to retire at any age fram 57, with an immediate pension of two-thirds of base salary.

{e) Miss L Neville-Rolfe was promoted to the Board on 14 December 2006. The increase in accrued pension showp is based on the increase since her date of promaotion.
Similarly, the transfer value as at 25 February 2006 is based on the value of her pension as at the date of promotion.

The accrued pension is that which would be paid annually on retirement at 60, based on service 1o 24 February 2007.

All transfer vafues have been calculated in accordance with Actuarial Guidance Note GN11,

Table 3 Gains made on share options

Value Value
Number of shares at exercise price {pence) Z;g;?b(l:) 26%85';;?::)
164.0 179,42 1840 209.5 2470 259.0 197.5 Total £000 £000
Date exercisable 30/09/01 24/05/02 09711702 20/04/03 26/04/04 15104105 14104706
Sir Terry Leahy ) - - - - ‘ - - - - - - 496
Mr R Brasher 14,088(n 120,-220(iii) 22,0394ii)  189,546¢iii) - - - 345,893 465 -
Mr P A Clarke - - - - - 328185wiy 501,266G) 829,451 1,026 339
Mr AT Higginson - To. - — 348,178} 358,301y 523,544qi) 1,230,023 2,266 -
MrTJ R Mason - - - - 348,178(w - S23544() 871,722 1,023 -
Miss LNeville-Rolfe () - - - - - - - - - -
Mr D T Potts - B - - - - 50126600 501,266 820 183
{i) {ii) (it} {iv) (v} (vi) {vii) {viii)
Date of exercise 25104106 25}041’06 29/06/06 10107/06 03408/06 22108/06 10110/06 19102/07
Market price at .
exercise (pence) 326.35 320.10 330.00 347.00 361.13 370.00 384.50 446.00

(a) The value realisable from shares acquired on exercise is the differance between the market value at exercise and the exercise price of the option, although the shares may
have been retained. The share price at 24 February 2007 was 446.0 pence. The share price during the 52 weeks to 24 February 2007 ranged from 316.25 pence to
446.75 pence.

{b) Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appointed on 14 December 2006, The figures above are from the date of her appointment.
{¢) Gains made on Save As You Earn share options are not included above. These are detailed in table 5,




Table 4 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 24 February 2007
Executive share option schemes (1994) and (1996) and discretionary share option plan (2004)

Options as Options Options Cptions as Date
at 25 Feb granted exercised at 24 Feb Exercise price from which
Date of grant 2006 in year (a) in year 2907 {pence) exercisable Expiry date
SirTerry Leahy 30.09.1998 126,832 - _ 126,832 1640 30092001 30092008
I (R R D 1999 228001 o7 - 228,901 173.0_ 130112002 3011, 2009
20042000 17,673 - o 17,673 2095 20042003 20.04.2010
T 26.06.2000 780,487 - - 780,487 2050 26062003 26062010
26.04.2001 647.773 - - 647773 2470 26042001 26042011
) 1504, 2002 642,471 - - B42471 2590 15042005 15042012
T 14042005 939,747 - - 939,747 1975 14042006 14042013
T T 30042006 766,041 - - 766041 25325 30042007 30042014
- 22042 2005 ) 553,673 """ - |- 658673 31275 22042008 22042015
- o 08.05.2006 - 709353 - 709353 31860 08.05.2009 08052016
Total 2,808,508 700,353 — 5.517,051
Mr R Brasher 30.09.1998 14,088 - 14,088 _ 164.0  30.09.2001  30.09.2008
T 2405, 1999 120220 - 120220 - 17942 24052002 24052009
S ) 09111999 22039 T 22039 - 1840 09.112002  09.11.2009
o | 20062000 189546 ~ "7 189545 - 2035 20042003 20042010
o | 26062000 106,613 T 277 108813 2050 26062003 26.06.2010
T moaa0m1 101215 T -7 T ogts 2470 26042004 26042011
. © 1504 2002 100,386 -7 - 0086 2500 15042005 15042072
o I 14042003 151900 -T2 151800 1975 14042006 14042013
) S 30.04.2004 296,150 -7 296150 25325 30.04.2007 30042014
T T Tppezoos 2ssg9s - — 255795 31275 22042008 22042015
) - 08.05.2006 T 17 3asze1 T 7 345261 31860  08.05.2009 08052016
Total 1,357,952 345261 345,893 1,357,320
Ms P A Clarke 15.04.2002 328,185 - 328,185 E 2590 15042005 15042012
o © 14042003 501266 - 501,266 - 1975 14042006 14042013
T T s00c. 2004 " 234,353 T 434353 25325 30042007 30042014
. - 22042005 379,856 - 579856 31275 22042008 22.042015
‘ ) ’ 08052006 - 404,896 - 404,896 31860 08.05.2009 08.05.2016
Total 1,643,660 404,896 829451 1,219,105
Mr A T Higginson 26.04.2001 348,178 - 348,178 - 2470 26042004 26042011
T " 15.04.2002 358,301 L ssgsor . 2590 15042005  15.04.2012
) a 14.04. 2603 5354 - 523,544 - 1975 14042006 14042013
7 30042004 434353 - = 7 434355 25325  30.042007 30.042014
7 22082005 379856 - = 379856 31275 22042008 22042015
o 08.05.2006 27 apages - 404,896 31860 0B05.2009 Q8052016
Total 2,044,252 404896 1,230,023 1219105
Mr T J R Masan 26.04.2001 348,178 - 378 Z 2470 26042004 26042011
T s 2665 T o3sgzon - -~ 358301 2590 15042005 15.04. 2012
i i 14,04, 2003 523544 - 5:35as ~ 1975 14042006 14.04.2013
30042004 434353 - - 434353 25325  30.04.2007 30.04.2014
T T 22082005 379856 o - 7 3798% 31275 22042008 22042015
o T 08052006 - 404896 - 404896 31860 08.05.2000 08052016
Total 2,044,232 404,896 871,722 1,577,406
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 4 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 24 February 2007 continued

Executive share option schemes {1994} and {1996) and discretionary share option plan (2004}

Qptions as Options Options Options as Date
at 25 Feb granted exercised at24 Feb  Exercise pricg from which
Date of grant 2006 in year (a) in year 2007 {pence) axercisable Expiry date
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (b) 30.04.2004 128,350 - - 128,350 253.25 30.04.2007  30.04.2014
22.0.4,2005 108,050 - - 108,050 31275 22.04.2008  22.04.2015
08.05.2006 116,133 - - 116,133 318.60 08.05.2009 08.05.2016
352,533 - - 352,533
Mr D T Potts 14,04.2003 501,266 - 501,266 - 197.5 14.04.2006  14.04.2013
30.04.2004 434,353 - - 434,353 253.25 30.04.2007 30.04.2014
22.0;4.2005 379,856 - - 379,856 312,75 22.04.2008  22.04.2015
08.05.2006 - 404,896 - 404,896 31860  08.05.2009  08.05.2016
1,315,475 404,896 501,266 1,219,105

{a) Executive share options are subject to performance conditions measured cver three years as set out on page 30. No options lapsed in the year, The market price at exercise

is shown in Table 3.

{b) Miss L Neville-Reife was appainted on 14 Detember 2006. No options have been granted or exercised from the date of her appointment.

Table 5 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 24 February 2007

Savings-related share option scheme (1981}

Value Value

As at Options Qptions As at realisable realisable

25 Feb granted exercised 24 Feb Exercise price 2006/07 2005/06

Date of grant 2006 in year in year! 2007 (pence) £000 £000

Sir Terry Leahy 08.11.2001 1,671 - 1,671 _ 198.0 4 -
08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - -

06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 195.0 - -

04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 2320 - -

02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 248.0 - -

08.11.2006 - 1,066 - 1,066 307.0 - -

8,084 1,066 1,671 7,479 4 2

Mr R Brasher 08.11.2001 1,671 - 1,671 - 198.0 4 _
08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - -

06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 195.0 - -

04.11.2004 1,424 - - -1,424 232.0 - -

02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 248.0 - -

0B.11.2006 - 1,066 - 1,066 307.0 - -

8,084 1,066 1,671 7,479 4 2

Mr P A Clarke 08.11.2001 1671 - 1,671 - 1980 a _
 08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - -

06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 195.0 - -

04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 2320 - -

02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 248.0 - -

08.11.2006 - 1,066 - 1,066 507.0 - -

8,084 1,066 1,671 7,479 2

Mr AT Higginsan 08.11.2001 1,671 - 1,671 - 198.0 -
08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - -

06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 195.0 - -

04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 232.0 - -

02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - -

08.11.2006 - 1,066 - 1,066 307.0 - -

8,084 1,066 1671 7,479 4 2




Table 5 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 24 February 2007 continved
Savings-related share option scheme (1981)

Value Value
As at Cptions Options Fsat N realisable realisable
15 Feb granted exercised 14 Feb Exarcise nrice 2006007 2005006
Date of grant 2006 in year in year (a) 2007 (pence) £000 £000
MrT J R Mason 08.11.2001 1,003 - 1,003 - 198.0 2 -
08,11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - -
06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 1950 . - -
04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 232.0 - -
02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1298 2480 - - =
08.11.2006 - 1,066 - 1,066 307.0 - - E o
] 7,416 1,066 1,003 7,479 z Fl p e
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (b} 08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2,066 159.0 - - zz
06.11.2003 1,625 - - 1,625 195.0 - - s >
04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 232.0 - - = 5
02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - - mI
08.11.2006 1,066 - - 1,066 307.0 - - =
7,479 _ - 7,479 - -
Mr DT Potts 08.11.2001 1,671 - 1671 - 198.0 4 -
08.11.2002 2,066 - - 2066 159.0 B -
06.11.2003 1,625 . - 1625 195.0 - -
04.11.2004 1,424 - - 1,424 332.0 - -
02.11.2005 1,298 - - 1,298 248.0 - -
08.11.2006 - 1,066 - 1,066 307.0 - -
j 8,084 1,066 1,671 7,479 4 2

{a) Save AsYou Eam is an all employee share scheme, Options are not subject to performance conditions. All options are exercisable fram 1 February in the year which
is six years from the year of grant. All options expire six manths fram their exercise date (i.e. on 1 August of the relavant year). Mr R Brasher exercised his options on
14 February 2007 when the market price was 437.0 pence. All other Directors exercised options on 1 February 2007 when the market price was 419.5 pence.
No options lapsed in the year.

(b} Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appeinted on 14 December 2006. No opticns have been granted or exercised from the dete of her appointment.

Table 6 Long-term Performance Share Plan

Date of
Share price Shares release/
on gward As at awarded! As at date from
Cate of date 25 Feb options 24 Feb which
award/grant (pence} 2006 granted 2007 exercisable Expiry date
Sir Terry Leahy 28.07.2004 253.45 304,794 - 304,794  2807.2008 28.07.2012
' 12.10.2005 302,75 373,245 11,052 384,304 12.07.2009 12.10.2015
20.07.2006 346.25 - 361,093 361,093 20.07.201(5 20.07.2015
678,039 372,152 1,050,191
Mr R Brasher » 28.07.2002 253.45 118,367 - 118,367  28.07.2008 2B8.07.2014
12.10.2005 302.75 181,668 5,382 187,050 12.07.200‘.; 12.10.2015
20.07.2006 346.25 - 192168 192968 2007.2010  20.07.2016
300,035 197,550 497,585
Mr P A Clarke ] 28.07.2004 253.45 175,774 - 175,774  28.07.2008  28.07.2014
12.10.2005 302.75 213,047 6,212 219,359 ©12.07.2009 12.10.2015l
20.07.2006 346.25 - 206,111 206,111 20.07.2010  20.07.2016
388,821 212,423 601,244
Mr AT Higginson ) 28.07.2004 253.45 175,774 - 175,774 28072008 28.07.2014
12.10.2005 302.75 213,047 6,212 219,359 ’ 12.07.200é 12.10.2015
2007.2006 34625 - 20811 206111 20072010  20.07.2016

388,821 212,423 601,244




Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 6 Long-term Performance Share Plan continued

Date of
Share price = Shares release/
on award As at awarded/ As at date from
Date of date 25 Feb options 24 Feb which
awardfgrant {pence) 2008 granted 2007 exercisable Expiry date
MrT J R Masen (a) 28.07.2004 253.45 175,774 - 175,774 28.07.2008 28.07.2014
12.10.2005 302.75 213,047 6,312 219,359 12.07.2009 12.10.2015
25.08.2006 346.25 - 206,111 206,111 20.067.2010 -
388,821 212,423 601,244
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (b) 18.01.2006 312.25 29,623 - 29,623 18.07.2008 -
20072006 346.25 57,039 - 57,039  20.07.2009 —
86,662 - 86,062
Mr DT Potts 28.07.2004 | 253.45 175,774 - 175,774 28.07.2008 28.07.2014
12.10.2005 302.75 213,047 6,312 219,359 12.07.2009 12.10.2015
20.07.2006 346,25 - 206,111 206,111 20.07.2010  20.07.2016
388,821 212,423 601,244

(a) MrT.JR Mason's 2006 award was made in the form of an unfunded promise.

(b) Miss [ Neville-Ralfe was appointed on 14 Dacernber 2006. No shares have been awarded or options granted since the date of her appointment. Those awards detailed
were made in the form of restricted shares under the senior management Performance Share Plan.

The Long-term Performance Share Plan replaced the Long-term Executive Incentive Scheme. The first award under the new plan was made in 2004. All awards except
those described in notes (a) and (b) above have been made in the form of nil cost options.

(d} The awards are subject to performance conditions based on Return on Capital Ernployed targets.

{e) The awards are increased to reflect dividends equivalents as each dividend is paid with the exception of the 2004 award on which no dividends accrue.

() Mo options were exarcised or lapsed and no shares were released in the year under this Plan.

(c

=

=

Table 7 Executive Incentive Plan

Date of
Share price Shares Shares release/
on award As at awarded/ refeasedf! Asar - date from
Date of date 25 Feb options options 24 Feb which Expiry
award/grant (pence) 2006 granted exercised 2007 exercisable date
Sir Terry Leahy 20.05.2005 3190 250,626 7,399 - 258,025 20052008  20.05.2015
26.05.2006 318.5 - 346,950 - 346950 22.05.2009  22.05.2016
250,626 354,349 _ 604,975
Mr R Brasher 20.05.2005 311.0 97,330 2,873 - 100,703  20.05.2008  20.05.2015
26.05.2006 3185 - 168,869 - 168,869  22.05.2009  22.05.2016
97,330 171,742 - 269,072
Mr P A Clarke 20.05.2005 311.0 144,536 4,266 - 148802  20.05.2008  20.05.2015
' 26.05.2006 3185 - 198,057 - 198,037  22.05.2009  22.05.2016
144,536 202,303 - 346,859
Mr AT Higginson 20.05.2005 3110 144,536 4,266 - 148,802 20.05.2008  20,05.2015
26052006 3785 - 198,057 — 198037 22052009 22.05.2016
144,536 202,303 - 346,839
Mr T J R Mason 20.05.2005 311.0 144,536 4,266 - 148,802 20052008 20052015
" 26.05.2006 318.5 - 198,037 198,037 - 16.02.2007 -
144,536 202,303 198,037 148,802
Mr D T Potts 20.05.2005 311.0 144,536 4,266 - 148,802 20.05.2008  20.05.2015
26.05.2006 318.5 - 198,037 - 198,037  22.05.2000  22.05.2016
144,536 202,303 - 346,339

(a) The Executive Incentive Plan replaced the Short-term Executive Incentive Scheme. The first award under the new plan was made in 2005.

(b) The awards are subject to performance conditions based on TSR, earnings per share and corporate objectives.

(©) MrTJR Mason's 2006 award was made in the form of conditional shares which were released on 16 February 2007 at the discretion of the Remuneration Commiittee at a
market price of 444.0 pence. All other awards have been made in the form of nil cost options,

(d) The awards are increased to reflect dividends equivalents as each dividend is paid.

{e) No options lapsed in the year under the Executive Incentive Plan.




Table 8 Directors’ interests in the long-term incentive plan

Value of

shares Market price

Year of Award As at 25 Feb Shares Shares As at 24 Feb released Release on release

Name release date 2006 awarded released 2007 £000 date (pence}
Sir Terry Leahy 2007  08.05.00 121,771 18,811 140,582 Z 624 16.02.07 4440
2007 10.04.02 462,777 71,491 534,268 - 2,372 16.02.07 2440

2007 09.04.03 347,308 9,103 - 356,411 - 09.04.07 -

2008 11.04.07 176,993 27,342 - 204,335 ~ 11.0408 -

2008 09.04.03 619,413 95,690 - 715,103 -~ 09.04.08 -

2008 04.05.04 302,186 7,919 - 310,105 -~ 040508 -

2009 10.04.02 242,859 37,518 - 280,377 ~ 10.04.09 -

2000 04.05.04 453,279 70,025 - 523,304 ~  04.05.09 S

Mr R Brasher (a) 2007 14.05.03 33,464 876 34,340 - 152 16.02.07 444.0
2008 27.0504 38,702 1014 - 39,716 - 140508 -

Mr P A Clarke 2007 08.05.00 50,051 7,731 57,782 - 257 16.02.07 444.0
2007 10.04.02 236,389 36,516 272,905 - 1,212 16,0207 4440

2007 09.04.03 185,254 4854 - 190,108 ~ 09.04.07 -

2008 11.04.01 81,857 12,645 - 94,502 - 11.0408 -

2008 09.04.03 330,395 51,041 - 381,436 ~  09.04.08 -

2008 04.05.04 171,342 4,490 - 175,832 T~ 040508 -

2000 10.04.02 124,054 19,164 - 143,218 - 10.04.09 T

2009 04.05.04 257,012 39,703 - 296,715 - 040509 -

Mr AT Higginson 2007 08.05.00 70,800 10,937 81,737 _ 363 16.02.07 4440
2007 10.04.02 258,084 39,870 297,954 - 1323 16.02.07 444.0

2007 09.04.03 193,489 5,070 - 198,559 - 09.0407 -

2008 11.04.01 95,133 14,697 - 109,830 ~ 110408 -

2008 09.04.03 345,080 53,309 - 398,589 - 09.04.08 -

2008 04.05.04 171,342 4,490 - 175,332 - 040508 -

2009 10.04.02 135,439 20,923 - 156,362 - 100409 -

2009 04.05.04 257,012 39,703 - 296,715 - 040509 -

Mr T i R Mason 2007 08.05.00 70,800 10,937 81,737 - 363 16.02.07 444.0
2007 10.04.02 258,084 39,870 297,654 - 1323 16.02.07 444.0

2007 09.04.03 193,489 5,070 - 198,559 - 09.0407 -

2608 11.04.01 95,133 14,697 - 109,330 - 11.0408 -

2008 09.04.03 345,080 53,300 - 398,389 ~ 09.04.08 -

2008 04.05.04 171,342 4,490 - 175,332 ~ 040508 -

2009 10.02.02 135,439 20,923 - 156,362 - 100409 -

2009 04.05.04 257,012 39,703 - 296,715 - 04.05.09 -
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 8 Directors’ interests in the long-term incentive plan continued

Value of
shares Market price
Year of Award As at 25 Feb Shares Shares As at 24 Feb released Release on release
Name release date 2006 awarded released 2007 E£000 date (pence)
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (ay 2007 14.05.03 28,488 - 28,488 - 126 16.02.07 444.0
2008 27.05.04 33,016 - - 33,016 - 27.05.08 -
2008 12.05.05 54,538 - - 54,538 - 12.05.08 -
2009 24,0506 56,631 - - 56,631 - 240509 -
Mr D T Potts 2007 08.05.00 54,600 8,434 63,034 - 280 16.02.07 444.0
2007 10.04.02 236,389 36,516 272,905 - 1,212 16.02.07 4440
2007 09-.04.03 185,254 4,854 - 190,108 - 09.04.07 -
2008 1 1-.04.01 81,857 12,645 - 54,502 - 11.04.08 -
2008 09..04.03 330,395 51,041 - 381,436 - 09.04.08 -
2008 04.05.04 171,342 4,490 - 175,832 - 04.05.08 -
2009 10“04.02 124,054 19,164 - 143,218 - 10.04.09 -
2009 04105.04 257,012 39,703 - 296,715 - 04.05.09' -

(a) Bonus shares shown for Mr R Brasher and Miss L Neville-Ralfe were awarded under the senior management bonus scherne before they joined the Board. These shases can
not be retained for an additional three-year period and enhanced. Miss L Neville-Rolfe was appointed on 14 December 2006. The figures above show those shares released since
the date of her appointment.

(b) This Plan has been replaced by the Performance Share Plan and Executive Incentive Plan. The last awards under this Plan were made in May 2004.

) Long-term awards from 2002 are classed as four-year cycles and Short-term awards from 2004 are classed as two-year tycles as no election for enhancement is possible
yet. Long-term awards ¢an be enhanced from the 4th year, extending the cycle 1o seven years, Short-term awards can be enhanced from the 2nd year, extending the cycle

to five years.
Date of award 16.04.99 080500 110401 080501 130.04.02 07.0502 09.04.03 140503 040504 27.0504 12.0505 240506
Award price (pence) 168.83 174.00 259.25 247.50 248.00 261,50 197.25 202.88 24B.75 249.88 309.88 316.88

Table 9 is unaudited information

Table 9 Disclosable interests of the Directors, including family interests

24 Feb 2007 25 Feb 2006
(er on appointment if later)
Optinnsltn Options o
acquire acquire
Ordinary ordinary Ordinary ordinary
shares {(a) shares (b} shares (a) shares (b)
Executive Directors
Sir Terry Leahy ) 6,161,039 7,180,596 6,073,840 5,745,347
Mr R Brasher 195,483 2,131,456 226,814 1,763,40‘1
Mr P A Clarke ) 1,491,104 2,174,667 1,447,286 2,185,101
Mr A T Higginson 1,674,052 2,174,667 1,649,690 2,585,673
MrT J R Mason ‘ ) 1,963,153 2,128,820 1,627,031 2,585,005
Miss L Neville-Rolfe (¢} 255,883 360,012 265,651 360,012
Mr D T Potts ' 1,843,088 2,174,667 1,781,777 1,856916
Mon-executive Directars
Mr C L Allen ' - - - -
Mr R F Chase ' ) 52,653 - 51,662 -
Mrs K Cook 7 - - - -
Mr E M Davies ' ' 2,400 - 2,400 -
Dr H Einsmann - 209,353 - 158,673 -
Mr K J Hydon 30,093 - 30,093 -
Ms C McCall 6,408 - 6,365 -
Mr D E Reid (Chairman} 193,347 - 193,264 -

(a) Ordinary shares shown in this table include shares held as part of incentive plans shown in table 8 and shares awarded to Mr T J R Mason under the Performance Share Plan
in the form of a promise to deliver shares shown in table 6. Between 25 February 2007 and 16 April 2007, 343 shares were purchased by Executive Directors as part of the
Buy As You Earn scheme.

{b} Options to acquire ordinary shares shown above comprise options held under the Executive Share Opticn schemas, Discretionary Share Option Plan, Save As You Earn
scheme, and nii ¢ost options under the Performance Share Plan and Executive Incentive Plan.

{c) Miss LNeville-Rolfe was appointed to the Board on 14 December 2006. The balance for last year for Miss L Nevitle-Rolfe is shown as at the date of her appointment.
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are required by the Companies Act 1985 to
prepare financial statements for each financial year which give
a true and fairview of the state of affairs of the Company and
the Group as at the end of the financial year and of the profit
or loss of the Group for the financial year. Under that law

the Directors are required to prepare the Group financial
statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
European Union (EU) and have elected to prepare the
Company financial statements in accordance with UK
Accounting Standards.

In preparing the Group and Company financial statements,
the Directors are required to:
» select suitable accounting policies and apply them
consistently;
* make reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates,
» for the Group financial statements, state whether they have

been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted
by the EU;
= for the Company financial statements state whether

applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed;

« prepare the financial statements on the going concem
basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group
and the Company will continue in business.

The Directors confirm that they have cormnptlied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time,
the financial position of the Company and Group, and which
enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the
Directors’ remuneration report comply with the Companies
Act 1985, and as regards the Group financial statements,
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the Annuat Review and Summary Financial Statement and
Annual Report and Financial Statements published on the
Group's corporate website. Legislation in the UK corscerning

the preparation and dissemination of financial statements

may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Directors have general responsibility for taking such steps
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.




Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tesco PLC

We have audited the Group financial statements of Tesco PLC
for the year ended 24 February 2007 which comprise the Group
Income Statement, the Group Balance Sheet, the Group Cash
Flow Statement, the Group Statement of Recognised Income
and Expense and the related notes. These Group financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies
set gut therein.

We have reported separately on the Parent Company financial
statements of Tesco PLC for the year ended 24 February 2007

and on the information in the Directars’ Remuneration Report
that is described as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Repart
and the Group financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and Intemational Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Cur responsibility is to audit the Group financial staternents

in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This
report, including the opinien, has been prepared for and oniy
for the Company's members as a body in accordance with
Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other
purpase. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come
save whare expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the Group
financial staternents have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion
the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with
the Group financial statements. The information given in the
Directors’ Report includes that specific information presented
in the Operating and Financial Review that is cross referred
from the Business Review section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not
received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed,

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement
reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions

of the Combined Code {2003) specified for our review by the
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report
if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the
Board's statements on internal control cover all risks and
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s carporate governance procedures or its risk and
control procedures.

We read other infaimation contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group
financial statements. The other information comprisas only
the Directors’ Report, the Operating and Financial Review

and the Corporate Governance Statement, We consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Group
financial statements, Our responsibilities do naot extend to

any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
Group financial statements, It also includes an assessment of
the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors
in the preparation of the Group financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as te obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the Group financial statements
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irreqularity ar error. In forming our opinion we
also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
informaticn in the Group financial statements.

Opinion
I~ our opinion:

+ the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with [FRS as adopted by the European Union,
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 24 February 2007
and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

» the Group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

* the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London 16 April 2007
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Group income statement Year ended 24 February 2007

2007 2006*
notes £m £m
Continuing operations .
Revenue (sales excluding VAT) . 2 42,641 39,454
Cost of sales . (39,401) (36,426}
Pensions adjustrment — Finance Act 2006 . 23 258 -
Impairrment of the Gerrards Cross site (35) -
Gross profit 3,463 3.028
Administrative expenses {907) (825)
Profit arising on property-related items 3 92 77
Operating profit ? 2,648 2,280
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates
(including £47m of property-retated items (2005/06 - £nil}) 17 106 az
Profit on sale of investments in associates 11 25 -
Finance income l 5 90 114
Finance cosis 5 (216} (241)
Prafit before tax 1 2,653 2,235
Taxation 6 (772) (649)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,881 1,586
Discontinued operation
Profitf{loss) for the year from discontiﬁued operation 7 18 (0
Profit for the year 1,899 1,576
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 1,892 1,570
Minority interests 7 [
) 1,899 1,576
Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations
Basic 9 23.84p 20.07p
Diluted 9 23.54p 19,79p
Earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic 0 23.61p 20.20p
Diluted 9 2331p 19.92p
Non-GAAP measure: underlying profit before tax
2007 2006*
ngies £m £m
Profit before tax (excluding discontinued aperation) 2,653 2,235
Adjustments for:
145 32 and 1AS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ — Fair value remeasurements 5 4 9
Total 1AS 19 Income Statement charqe for pensions 23 432 303
‘Normal’ cash contributions for pensions 3 {321) (270)
Exceptional items:
Pensions adjustment — Finance Act 2006 3 (258) -
Impairment of the Gerrards Cross site 35 -
Underlying profit before tax 1 2,545 2,277

* Results for the year ended 25 Febn:ary 2006 include 52 weeks for the UK and the Republic of reland and 14 months for the majority of the remaining International businesses.

The notes on pages 48 to 97 form part of these financial staternents.




Group statement of recognised income and eXpense Yearended 24 February 2007

2007 2006*

nates m fm

{Lass)gain on revaluation of available-for-sale investments . 14 "M 2

Foreign currency translation differences . {65) 33

Total gain/(loss) on defined benefit pension schemes 71 114 (443)
(Losses)/gains on cash flow hedges: Vs

- net fair value (losses)/gains A (26} 44

- reclassified and reported in the In.come Statement (12) (5)

Tax on items taken directly to equity [ 12 133

Net income/{expense) recognised directly in equity 22 (236)

Profit for the year 1,899 1,576

Total recognised income and expense for the year 1,921 1,340

Attributable to:

' Equity holders of the parent ’ 1,920 1,327

Minority interests - 1 13

1,924 1,340

* Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 include 52 weeks for the UK and the Republic of irefand and 14 manths for the majority of the remaining International businessaes.
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Group balance sheet 24 rebruary 2007

2007 2006
notes £m Em
Non-current assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets . - 0 2,045 . 1,525
Property, plant and equipment - 1 16,976 15,882
Invesiment property 12 856 745
Investmients in joint ventures and assu.ciates 13 314 476
Other investments . 7 14 8 4
Deferred tax assets 3 32 12
20,231 18,644
Current assets
Inventories ) - 15 1,931 1,464
Trade and other receivables ‘ 16 1,079 B892
Derivative financial instruments ’ ) 0 108 70
Current tax assets ) 8 -
Cash and cash equivalents ) . 17 1,042 1,325
4,168 3,751
Non-current assets classified as held 1-'or sale and assets of the disposal group ? 408 168
4,576 3,919
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables - . 18 (6,046) {5,083)
Financial liabilities ’ '
— Borrowings ' 9 (1,554) (1,646)
— Derivative financial instrument; and other liabilities A 0 87N (239)
Current tax liabilities ' (161) (462)
Provisions ) B 2 () @
{8,152) (7,432)
Liabilities directly associated with the-disposal group b - (86)
. (8,152} {7.518)
Net currant liabilities (3,576} (3,599)
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabiities
- Borrowings 7 . 14 (4,146) (3,742)
— Derivative financial instrumemﬁ and other Iiabiliiies . 20 (399 (294
Post-employment benefit obligation§ F3] (950) (1,241)
QOther non-current liabilities l - 7 13 (29) 29
Deferred tax liabilities ' 5 (535 (320)
Provisions - 2 (25) (5)
{6,084) (5,601)
Net assets 10,571 9,444
Equity
Share capital ’ . 24125 397 395
Share premium account . ) ) 5 4376 3,988
Other reserves . 25 a0 40
Retained earnings ' s 5,693 4,957
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 10,506 9,380
Minority interests ’ 7 25 65 64
Total equity 10,571 9,444
Sir Terry Leahy
Andrew Higginson
Directors

The financial statements on pages 44 to 97 were authorised for issue by the Directors on 16 April 2007 and are subject to the
approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 29 June 2007.




Group cash flow statement vear ended 24 February 2007

2007 2006*
notes Em £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 2 3,532 3,412
Interest paid (376) (364)
Corporation tax paid (545) {429)
Net cash from operating activities 2,611 2,619
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash a;:qu’rred (329) (54)
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary, net of éash disposed 22 -
Proceeds from sale of joint ventures and’associates 41 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipmént and investment property {2,852) 2,561
Proceeds from sale of property, plant an;j equipment 809 664
Purchasé of intangible assets . ’ (174) (139)
Net increase in 10ans to joint ventures 21 (16)
Invested in joint ventures and associates' {49) (34)
Dividends received ' 124 82
Interest received 82 95
Net cash used in investing activities (2,343) (1,962}
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ardinary share ca|.3itaf 156 123
Net increase inf{repayments of) borrowiﬁgs 184 {109)
New finance leases ' 99 -
Repayment of abligations under finance ieases (15) b)
Dividends paid ) (467) (441)
Own shares purchased ' (490) 59
Net cash used in financing activities (533) (492)
Net {decrease)/increase in ¢ash and cash equivalents (265) 165
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning c;f year 1,325 1,146
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ‘ (18) 16
Cash and cash egquivalents at end of year 1,042 1,327
Less cash held in disposal group - (2)
Cash and cash equivalents not held in disposal group 17 1,042 1,325

* Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 include 52 weaks for the UK and the Republic of Ireland and 14 months for the majority of the remaining International businesses.

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt note

2007 2006

notes £m £m

Nei {decrease)increase in cash and cash equivalents (265) 165
Net cash (inflowloutflow from debt and lease financing (268) 15
Net debt included within the disposal group - 55
Other non-cash movements i 18 (357)
Inerease in net debt in the year (515) (22)
Opening net debt ) 29 (4,509) (4,487)
Closing net debt 20 (5,024} {4,509)

NB. The reconciliation of net cash flow (o movement in aet debt note is not a primary statement and does not form part of the cash flow statement.
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Notes to the Group financial statements

Note 1 Accounting policies

General information

Tesco PLC is a public limited company incorporated in the
United Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985 (Registration
number 445790). The address of the registered office is

Tesco House, Delamare Road, Cheshunt, Hertfordshire,

ENB 95L, UK.

As described in the Directors' Report, the main activity of the
Group is that of retailing and associated activities.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and International Financial Reporting Interpretation
Committee (IFRIC) interpretations as endorsed by the
Eurcpean Union, and those parts of the Companies Act 1985
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling,
rounded to the nearest million. They are prepared on the
historical cost basis modified for the revaluation of certain
financial instruments.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied
consistently 1o all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consist of the financial
statements of the ultimate Parent Company (Tesca PLC), all
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries} and the
Group’s share of its interests in joint ventures and associates.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates to
bring the accounting policies used into line with those of
the Group.

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity whose operating and financing policies
are controlled, directly or indirectly, by Tesco PLC.

The accounts of the Parent Company’s subsidiary undertakings
are prepared to dates arcund the Group year end apart from
Hymall, which for this reporting period have been prepared

to 31 December 2006. Hymall has a different year end to the
Group, as it is yet to be aligned with the Group year end
following its acquisition in December 2006.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consclidated financial statements from the date that contral
commmences unti! the date that control ceases,

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or

income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Joint ventures and associates

A joint venture is an entity in which the Group holds an interest
on a long-term basis and which is jointly controlled by the Group
and one or more other venturers under a contractual agreement.

An associate is an undertaking, not being a subsidiary or joint
venture, over which the Group has significant influence and
can participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the entity.

The Group’s share of the results of joint ventures and
associates is included in the Group lncome Statement using the
equity method of accounting. Investments in joint ventures and
associates are carried in the Group Balance Sheet at cost plus
post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of the net assets
of the entity, less any impairment in value. The carrying values
of investments in joint ventures and associates include acquired
goodwill.

If the Group’s share of losses in & joint venture or associate
equals or exceeds its investment in the joint veniure or
associate, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred obfigations to do so or made payments on behalf
of the joint venture or assaciate.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with joint ventures
and associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the entity.

Use of assumptions and estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates

and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reporied amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions 1o accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical estimates and assumptions are made in particular with
regard to establishing uniform depreciation and amortisation
periads for the Group, impairment testing, assumptions for
measuring pension provisions, determination of the fairvalue
of cbligations to purchase minority interests, classification of
leases as operating leases versus finance leases (including on
sale and leasebacks), the likelihood that tax assets can be
realised and the classification of certain operations as held
for sale.




Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Revenue
Revenue consists of sales through retail outlets.

Revenue is recorded net of returns, relevant vouchers/offers and
value-added taxes, when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer. Relevant vouchers/
offers include: money-off coupons, conditional spend vouchers
and offers such as buy one get one free (BOGOF) and 3 for 2.

Commission income is recorded based on the terms of the
contracts.

Clubcard and loyalty initiatives

The cost of Clubcard is treated as a cost of sale, with an acerual
equal to the estimated fairvalue of the points issued recognised
when the criginal transaction occurs. On redemption, the cost
of redemption is offset against the accrual,

The fairvalue of the points awarded is determined with
reference to the cost of redernption and considers factors such
as redemption via Clubcard deals versus money-off in store and
redemption rate.

Computers for Schools and Sport for Schools and Clubs
vouchers are issued by Tesco for redemption by participating
schools/clubs and are part of our overall Community Plan, The
cost of the redemption (i.e. meeting the obligation attached
to the vouchers) is treated as a cost rather than as a deduction
from sales,

Otherincome

Finance income is recognised in the period to which it relates
on an accruals basis. Dividends are recognised when a legal
entitlement to payment arises.

Operating profit

Operating profit is stated after profit arising on property-related
items but before the share of results of joint ventures and
associates, finance income and finance costs.

Discontinued aperations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business that represents a separate line of business or
geographical area of operation. Classification as a
discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or earlier,

if the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale, under IFRS 5 ‘Non-current assets held for sale’,

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment assets are carried at cost tess
accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment
invalue,

Property, plant and equipment assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis to their residual value over their anticipated
useful economic lives.

The following depreciation rates are applied for the Group:

= Freehold and leasehold buildings with greater than
40 years unexpired — at 2.5% of cost

* Leasehold properties with {ess than 40 years unexpired
are depreciated by equal annual instalments over the
unexpired period of the lease

+ Plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles —
at rates varying from 9% to 33%.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or,
when shorter, over the term of the relevant lease.

All tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 ‘impairment of Assets' when there are
indications that the carrying value may not be recoverable,

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attsibutable to the acquisition or
construction of gualifying assets are capitalised. Qualifying
assets are those thet necessarily take a substantial period of
time to prepare for their intended use. All other borrowing costs
are recognised in the Income Statement in the period in which
they occur.

Investment property

Investment property is property held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation rather than for the purpose

of Group operating activities. Investment property assets

are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
recognised impairment in value. The depreciation policies for
investment property are consistent with those described for
owner-occupied property.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. Al other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as a lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded
as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment
in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on
the Group’s net investment in the lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies cntinued

The Group as a lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value
of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the
inception of the lease. The correspanding liability is included
in the Balance Sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease obligations so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged to the Income Statement.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the
Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease.

Sale and leaseback

A sale and leaseback transaction.is one where a vendor sells
an asset and immediately reacquires the use of that asset by
entering into a lease with the buyer. The accounting treatment
of the sale and leaseback depends upon the substance of the
transaction (by applying the lease classification principles
described above) and whether or not the sale was made at
the asset’s fairvalue.

For sale and finance leasebacks, any apparent profit or loss
from the sale is deferred and amortised over the lease term.
For sale and operating leasebacks, generally the assets are sold
at fairvalue, and accordingly the profit or loss from the sale is
recognised immediately.

-

Following initial recognition, the |ease treatment is consistent
with those principles described above.

Business combinations and goodwill
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the
purchase method.

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities
of an acquired entity are measured at their fair value. The interest
of minority shareholders is stated at the minority’s propertion
of the fairvalues of the assets and liabilities recognised.

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the
cost of an acquisition over the fairvalue of the Group's share
of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary, joint venture or
associate at the date of acquisition. If the cost of acquisition is
less than the fair value of the Group's share of the net assets
of the acquired entity {i.e. a discount on acquisition) then the
difference is credited to the Income Statement in the period
of acquisition.

At the acquisition date of a subsidiary, goodwill acquired is
recognised as an asset and is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units expected to benefit from the business
combination’s synergies and to the lowest level at which
management monitors the goodwill. Goodwill arising on the
acquisition of joint ventures and associates is included within
the carrying value of the investment.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually by
assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit
to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised.

Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Income
Statement and is not subsequently reversed.

On disposal of a subsidiary, joint venture or associate, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before 29 February 2004
(the date of transition to IFRS) was retained at the pravious UK
GAAP amounts subject to being tested for impairment at that
date. Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to
1998 has not been restated and will not be included in
determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets, such as software or pharmacy
licences, are measured initially at cost and are amortised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Internally-generated intangible assets — Research and
development expenditure
Research costs are expensed as incurred.

Development expenditure incurred on an individual project
is carried forward only if all the criteria set out in 145 38
‘Intangible Assets’ are met, narmely:

« an asset is created that can be identified (such as software
Or NEW processes);

= itis probable that the asset created will generate future
economic benefits; and

« the development cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.

Following the initial recognition of development expenditure,
the cost is amortised over the project’s estimated useful life,
usually at 14%-25% of cost per annum.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
excluding goodwill

At each Balance Sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does
not generaté cash flows that are indepenident from other
assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset betongs.




Note 1 Accounting policies continued

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell, and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset {or cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subseguently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of the recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined if no impairment
loss had been recognised for the asset {or cash-generating
unit) in prioryears. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Inventories

Inventories comprise gaods held for resale and properties held
for, orin the course of, development and are valued at the
lower of cost and fairvalue less costs to sell using the weighted
average cost basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the Balance Sheet consist of cash
at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through sale
rather than continuing use. This condition is regarded as mat
only when the sale is highly probable and the asset {or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition.
Management must be committed to the sale and it should be
expected to be completed within one year from the date of
classification.

Non-current assets {and disposal groups) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to seil.

Pensions and similar obligations

The Group accounts for pensions and other post-ermployment
benefits (principally private healthcare) under IAS 19 ‘Employee
Benefits'.

In respect of defined benefit plans, obligations are measured
at discounted present value (using the projected unit credit
method) whilst plan assets are recorded at fair value. The
operating and financing costs of such plans are recognised
separately in the Income Statement; service costs are spread
systematically over the expected service lives of employees and
financing costs are recognised in the periods in which they
arise. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately

in the Statement of Recagnised Income and Expense,

Payments to defined contribution schemes are recognised
as an expense as they fall due.

Share-based payments

Employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration
in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby
employees render services in exchange for shares or rights
over shares {equity-settled transactions).

The fairvalue of employee share option plans is calculated at
the grant date using the Black-Scholes model. In accordance
with IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment’, the resulting cost is
charged to the Income Statement over the vesting period.
The vatue of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected and
actual levels of vesting.

Taxation
The tax expense included in the Income Statement consists
of current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by
the Balance Sheet date.

Tax is recognised in the Income Statement except to the extent
that it relates to iterns recognised directly in equity, in which
case it is recognisec in equity.

Deferred tax is provided using the Balance Sheet liability
method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies contined

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date, Deferred
tax is charged or credited in the Income Statement, except
when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity,
in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in equity.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
Balance Sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other
when there is a legalty enforceable right to set-off current
taxation assets against current taxation liabilities and it is the
intention to settle these on a net basis.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rate on the date of the transaction. At each Balance
Sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the Balance Sheet date. Al differences are taken to the Income
Staternent for the period.

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated
inte Pounds Sterling according to the functional currency
concept of IAS 21 ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates’. Since the majority of consolidated companies operate as
independent entities within their local economic environment,
their respective local currency is the functional currency.
Therefore, assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at exchange
rates prevailing at the date of the Group Balance Sheet; profits
and losses are translated into Pounds Sterling at average
exchange rates for the retevant accounting periods. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and
transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation
differences are recognised as income or expenses in the period
in which the operation is disposed of.

Goodwil and fair value adjustments arising on the acguisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
Group’s Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non interest-bearing and are recognised
initially at fair value, and subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method, reduced by appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

Investments

Investiments are recognised at trade date. Investments are
classified as either held for trading or avaitable-for-sale, and
are recognised at fair value.

For held for trading investments, gains and losses arising from
changes in fair vaiue are recognised in the Income Statement.

For available-for-sale investrments, gains and fosses arising
from changes in fairvalue are recognised directly in equity, until
the security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,

at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in equity is included in the net result for the period. Interest
calculated using the effective interest rate method is
recognised in the Income Statement. Dividends on an
available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised in the
Income Staterment when the entity's right to receive payment
is established.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that gives
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded
at fair value, net of attributable transaction costs, Subsequent
1o initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost with any difference between cost and
redernption value being recognised in the Income Statement
over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Trade payables

Trade payables are non interest-bearing and are stated at
amortised cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.




Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its
exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising
from operating, financing and investment activities. The
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes, however if derivatives da not qualify
for hedge accounting they are accounted for as such.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised and stated at
fair value. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is
-determined by reference to market values for similar financial
instruments, by discounted cash flows, or by the use of coption
valuation models. Where derivatives do not qualify for hedge
accounting, any gains or losses on remeasurement are
immediately recognised in the Income Statement. Where
derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any
resultant gain orloss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship and the item being hedged.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group is required
to document from inception the relationship between the
item being hedged and the hedging instrument. The Group

is also required to document and demonstrate an assessment
of the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging
instrument, which shows that the hedge will be highly
effective on an ongoing basis. This effectiveness testing is
performed at each period end to ensure that the hedge
remains highly effective.

Financial instruments with maturity dates of more than one
year from the Balance Sheet date are disclosed as non-current.

Fair value hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as fairvalue
hedges when they hedge the Group’s exposure to changes

in the fairvalue of a recognised asset or liability. Changes in the
fairvalue of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair
value hedges are recorded in the Income Statement, together
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that is
attributable to the hedged risk.

Derivative financial instruments qualifying for fair value hedge
accounting are principally interest rate swaps (including cross
currency swaps).

Cash flow hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow
hedges when they hedge the Group's exposure to variability
in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a racognised asset or liability, or a highly
probable forecasted transaction.

The effective element of any gain or loss from remeasuring the
derivative instrument is recegnised directly in equity,

The associated curnulative gain or loss is removed from equity
and recognised in the Income Statement in the same period
or periods during which the hedged transaction affects the
Incorne Statement. The classification of the effective portion
when recognised in the Income Statement is the same as

the classification of the hedged transaction. Any element of
the remeasurement of the derivative instrument which does
not meet the criteria for an effective hedge is recognised
immediately in the Income Staterment within finance costs.

Derivative instruments qualifying for cash flow hedging
are principally forward foreign exchange transactions and
currency options. i

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging
instrurnent expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that point in time, any
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised
in equity is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction
occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur,
the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is
transferred to the Income Statement.

Net investment hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as net investment
hedges when they hedge the Group’s net investment in an
overseas operation. The effective element of any foreign
exchange gain or lgss from remeasuring the derivative is
recognised directly in equity. Any ineffective element is
recognised immediately in the Income Statement. Gains and
losses accumulated in equity are included in the Income
Statement when the foreign operation is disposed of,

Derivative instruments qualifying for net investment hedging
are principally forward foreign exchange transactions and
currency options.

2=
20
>4
Zrm
0
» -
rQ
n
53
2m
m o
Z o
m
2 e
m'U




Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Treatment of agreements to acquire minority interests
The Group has entered into a number of agreements to
purchase the remaining shares of subsidiaries with minority
shareholdings.

Under IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, the net
present value of the expected future payments are shown as
a financial liability. At the end of each period, the valuation of
the liability is reassessed with any changes recognised in the
Income Statement within finance costs for the year. Where the
liability is in a currency other than Pounds Sterling, the liability
has been designated as a net investment hedge. Any change
in the value of the liability resulting from changes in exchange
rates is recognised directly in equity.

Provisions

Provisions for onerous leases are recognised when the Group
believes that the unavoidable costs of meeting the lease
obligations exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received under the lease.

Recent accounting developments
Standards, amendments and interpretations effective for
2006/07 with no significant impact on the Group:

The following standards, amendments and interpretations are
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after

1 January 2006, however, their implementation has not had
a significant impact on the results or net assets of the Group:

* Amendment to 1AS 21 ‘Net investment in foreign
operation’

* Amendment to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement’ and IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ on
Financial Guarantee Contracts

» Amendment to 1AS 39 on the fairvalue option

« Amendment to IAS 39 on cash flow hedge accounting
of farecast intragroup transactions

¢ IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an arrangement contains
a lease’

« IFRIC 5 ‘Rights to interests arising from decommissioning,
restoration and environmental rehabilitation funds'

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective
but not expected to have a significant impact on the Group:

« IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments; Disclosures’ and
amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial
Statements — Capital Disclosures’ were issued in August
2005 and are effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2007. These amendments revise
and enhance previous disclosures required by 1AS 32 and
1AS 30 ‘Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks
and Similar Financial Institutions'. The adoption of
IFRS 7 will have no impact on the results or net
assets of the Group.

« |FRS 8 'Operating Segments’ was issued in November
2006 and is effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2009. This new standard replaces
IAS 14 ‘Segment Reporting' and requires segmental
information to be presented on the same basis that
management uses to evaluate performance of its reporting
segments in its management reporting. The adoption of
IFRS 8 will have no impact upon the results or net assets
of the Group.

IFRIC 7 ‘Applying IAS 29 ‘Hyperinflationary accounting’
for the first time'

IFRIC 8 ‘Scope of IFRS 2’
IFRIC 9 ‘Reassessment of embedded derivatives’

{FRIC 10 ‘Interim financial reporting and impairment’

IFRIC 12 ‘Service concession arrangements’

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective
and under review as to their effect on the Group:
+ FRIC 6 ‘Liabilities arising frormn participating in a specific
market — waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE)’
— effective from 1 July 2007 (date frorn which the WEEE
Directive is applicable in the UK}

« IFRIC 11 ‘Scope of IFRS 2 — Group and treasury share
transactions’ — effective for periods beginning on or after
1 March 2007

Use of non-GAAP profit measures - underlying profit
before tax

The Directors believe that underlying profit before tax and
underlying diluted earnings per share measures provide
additional useful information for shareholders on underlying
trends and performance. These measures are used for internal
performance analysis. Underlying profit is not defined by IFRS
and therefore may not be directly comparable with other
companies' adjusted profit measures. It is not intended to be
a substitute for, or superior to IFRS measurements of profit.

The adjustments made to reported profit before tax are:

+ |AS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ — fair value
remeasurements — under IAS 32 and 1AS 39, the Group
applies hedge accounting to its various hedge relationships
when allowed under the rutes of IAS 39 and when practical
to do so. Sometimes the Group is unable to apply hedge
accounting to the arrangements, but continues to enter
into these arrangements as they provide certainty or active
management of the exchange rates and interest rates
applicable to the Group. The Group believes these
arrangements remain effective and economically and
commercially viable hedges despite the inability to apply
hedge accounting.




Neote 1 Accounting policies continued

Where hedge accounting is not applied to certain hedging
arrangements, the reported results reflect the movement in
fair value of related derivatives due to changes in foreign
exchange and interest rates. In addition, at each peried
end, any gain or loss accruing on open contracts is
recognised in the Income Staternent for the period,
regardless of the expected outcome of the hedging
contract on termination. This may mean that the Income
Staternent charge is highly volatile, whilst the resulting cash
flows may not be as volatile. The underlying profit measure
remaoves this volatility to help better identify underlying
business performance.

IAS 19 Income Statement charge for pensions - Under
IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits', the cost of providing pension
benefits in the future is discounted to a present value at
the corporate bond yield rates applicable on the last day
of the previous financial year. Corporate bond yield rates
vary over time which in turn creates volatility in the Income
Statement and Balance Sheet, 1AS 19 also increases the
charge foryoung pension schemes, such as Tesco’s, by
requiring the use of rates which do not take into account
the future expected returns on the assets held in the
pension scheme which will fund pension liabilities as they
fall due. The sum of these two effects makes the 1AS 19°
charge disproportionatety higher and more volatile than the
cash contributions the Group is required to make in order
to fund all future liabilities.

Therefore, within underlying profit we have included

the ‘normal’ cash contributions for pensions but excluded
the volatile element of IAS 19 to represent what the Group
believes to be a fairer measure of the cost of providing
post-employment benefits.

Exceptional items — due to their significance and special
nature, certain other items which do not reflect the Group's
underlying performance have been excluded from
underlying profit. These gains or losses can have a
stgnificant impact on both absolute profit and profit trends,
consequently, they are excluded from the underlying profit
of the Group. In 2006/07, exceptional items are as follows:

— Pensions adjustment relating to the Finance Act 2006 -
Following changes introduced by the Finance Act with
effect from April 2006 (Pensions A-Day}, Tesco's UK
approved pension schemes have implemented revised
terms for members exchanging pension at retirement
date, allowing them the option to commute {convert)

a larger amouint of their pension to a tax-free lump sum
on retirement, Accordingly, the assumptions made in
calculating the defined benefit pension liability have
been revised, and a gain of £250m has been recognised
in the Incorme Statement during the year. Changes to

scheme rules in the Republic of Ireland affecting early
retirement have reduced pension liabilities by a further

£8m, which is also recognised in the Income Statement.

Future revisions 1o the commutation assumption will be
reflected within the Statement of Recognised Income
and Expense.

Impairment of the Gerrards Cross site — As detailed

in the 2006 Annual Report, the Group regards each
individual store as a cash-generating unit, with each
store tested for impairment if there are indications of
impairment at the Balance Sheet date. We are facing
continuing uncertainty in réspect of our Gerrards Cross
site as a result of the complex legal sitsation following
the tunnel collapse. No decision has yet been taken
about the future of this site. However, at year end we
have written off the carrying value of our existing asset
there (an impairment of £35m). We are notyet in a
position to assess any recoveries or liabilities in respect
of ongoing claims.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 2 Segmental reporting

The Board has determined that the primary segmental reporting format is geographical, based on the Group’s management and

internal reporting structure. Secondary information is reported by a single business segment, retail and associated activities.

The Rest of Europe reporting segment includes the Republic of Ireland, Hungary, Poland, the Czech Republic, Slovakia and Turkey.
The Asia reporting segment includes Thailand, South Korea, Mzlaysia, China and Japan. Following its disposal during the year, the
Taiwanese business (previously included within the Asia segment) was classified as & discontinued operation in poth the current and

prior year.

Segment results, assets and Fabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis. Unaliocated items comprise mainly interest-bearing borrowings and taxation related assets/liabilities.

Inter-segment turnover between the geographical areas of business is not material.

Geographical segments

Rest of

UK Europe Asia Total
Year ended 24 February 2007 £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
ﬁevenue o ' o ) ’ ) B
Saies (excluding VAT) to external cus-t;)mers B i o 32,665 7 5,559 4,417 42,641
Result ) ) 7 . — )
Segment operaung profit ' - ’ 2,0§3 324 241 2,648
Share of post-tax prof‘tl(losses) OfJOInt ventures and assouates ) i ﬁ 1- - [6)] 106
Proflt on sale of investments in associates _25 i - - 25
Net finance costs ) . - B o 7 B (126)
Profit before tax 2,653
Taxation ) o o 772)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,881
Discontinued o}:eration : ‘ i i 7
Prafit for the year from discontinued t;pera“tion ) ) 18
Profit for the year 1,899

Rest of Other!

UK Europe Asia unallocated Tatal

£m £m Em £m £m
Assets and fiabilities )
Segment assets - ' o i © 183235 ass2 3,397 221 24493
Investrments in jOII‘lI ventures and assoaates . T l ' 37ﬁ74 ’ 2 5 - 3-1-4
Total assets 16 630 4,554 3,402 221 24,807
Segment liabilities - . - T 5602 (903) (1,031) (6,7000  (14,236)
Total net assets 10,571
Other segment information
Capital expendlture {including acqwsmons through busmess comblnatlons) ) ’
— Property, plant and equipment . 1:765 o 78_6 516 - 3,067

Investment property i o - - 36 22 - - 58
- Goodwlll and other |ntang|ble assets o T 197 52 420 - 669*
Depremanon. o - 7 - ) _ T i
- Property, plant-e—md equipment T T . 520 155 i 99 - 774
- Investment property T o - ) T . ) ) 7 4 _ - 1

Amortisation of |ntang|ble assets T T C - "779_7 ) ) 8 _:__ 6 - 93
Impalrment kosses recognised in the Inccme St;ment T i T (44)_7- N (35) ) (3)7 - (52}
Reversal of pricr penod |mua|rment |osses through the Income Statement o 17M [13] I - 63
Profit/{loss) arising on property- related items . E:iB ’ - i &) - 92

* Includes £166m of goodwill transferred in from Joint ventures, following the acquisition of additional shares in dunnhumby and Hymali.




Note 2 Segmental reporting continued

Rest of
UK Europe Asia Total
Year ended 25 February 2006 Em £m £m £m
Continuing operations )
Revenue B B ’ i T o
Sales (excluding VAT) to external customers - 2999 5095 4369 B 39,454
Result T . o - ) A o )
Segment operating profit o . ame o aes 9 ) 2,280
Share of post-tax proflt from ;Dmt ventures and assonate; T 78 ’ - o 4 -Si
Net flnance costs o ) o o (127) -
Profit before tax 2,235
Taxati‘or; - ) Tt ) 7 i i T (649)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,586
Discontinued  operation o ) h T ) T
Loss for the year from dlscontmued operatlon ) o ’ i ) o -(10) ‘
Prafit for the year 1,576
. Continuing operations
Rest of Other/ Discontinued
UK Europe Asia unallocated Tota! operation Total
Em £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets and Iiabilities
Segment assets 106 3888 3012 167 21973 1e 22,087
Investments in joint ventures and assooates o 461 h B 2 T 13 - 476 D 476
Total assets 15,367 3,850 3,025 167 22,449 o 114 22 563
Seqment liabilities o CUE02n gos 69 (6,508 (13,033) @) (13,119
Tetal net assets 9,416 28 9,444
Other segment |nformat|on o
Capltal expendlture (mcludmg acqmsmons t%;;Jngh busmess cc;m'b]n;tlons): R T ’
— Property, plant and equi ipment 1,673 549 S 440 T 2,7662 ] . “E—v ) 2,665 7
Investment property o B i . -T_ 10 T ‘T 0 - ) 21m - - o 21
- Goodwrll and other inta}wgwb\e a_szgets ) B 12.6 ) 7 12 28_ - T 166 7 _;_ o 166_
DEpI’EClatIOH ) ) 7 B ) ] 7
- Prop-Erty, plant and eqmpme‘nt' T ’ SOSWM ) 146 i 95‘ i T 749 4 T :1'53 ’
— Investment property T - a0 s - T ”9_7_ i - g
Amortlsatlon of intangi bte as;ets ) T l63 o 7 s i - 76 o 76
Impalrment Iosses recognlsed in the o T 7 ST 7 ) T
Income Statement (29) (18} = - (47 - 47
Reversal ofr;;r;o;penod |mpa|rment Iosses . ) o ‘ -
through the Income Statement 29 23 - - 52 - 52
Profit/(loss) arising on‘éro-p_ert;-r-e_la_tzd 1tems o ——.“-"3‘-0- o (63 o (7)“ T - ) 7:/' - - 77
Business segments
The Group has one business segment, retail and associated activities.
2007 2006
£m £m
Revenue 42,641 39,454
Segment ass’é{sf B LT T " 7 T T 24493 22,087
Capital expendlture [mcludlng acq-tj;s]éfo}w; }hrough busme; Eo—rﬁl;matlons) 7 o ) T - 3,764 T 2,8:52
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 3 Income and expenses

2007 2006
From continuing operations £m £m
Profit before tax is stated after chargingf(crediting) the following:
Profit arising on property-related |tem5 {92) {77}
Rental income, of which £166m (2006 £140m) relates to mvestment properties (210) (175)
Direct operating expenses arising on rental earning mvestment properties 47 46
Costs of inventories recognised as an ;xpense ) 31,104 29,640
Stock losses ‘ 581 533
Depreciation of property, plant and ecimpment and investment propériy 785 758
Net impairment/(reversal of impairme‘nt) of property, plant and equipment 19 {5)
Amortisation of internally-generated development intangible éssets 69 56
Amortisation of other intar;gibles 24 20
Operating lease expenses (a) ’ 394 360
(a) Operating lease expenses include £89m (2006 — £7 1m} for hire of plant and machinery,
During the year, the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Group's auditor
and network firms:
2007 2006
£m £m
Audit services
Fees payable to the Company’s auditc;r for the audit of the Parent Company and (onsoiidate‘d annual accounts ’ 0.6 0.4
Non-audit services ! ' - ) -
Fees payable to the Company’s audltor and network firms for other semces
~ the audit of the accounts of the Companys subsidiaries pursuant te Ieglslatlon 23 23
- other services pursuant to such Ieg|slat|on 0.2 03
- gther services relating to taxation . 2.3 2.5
- pther services relating to corporate ﬁnance transactions ’ 0.2 0.3
5.6 5.8

Total auditor remuneration

in addition to the amounts shown above, the auditors received fees of £0.1m (2006 — £0.1m) for the audit of the main Group

pension scheme.

A description of the work of the Audit Committee is set aut in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 26 and

includes an explanation of how objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by

PricewaterbouseCoopers LLP.




Note 4 Employment costs, including Directors' remuneration

2007 2006
£m £m
Wages and salaries 3,794 3,473
50(|alsecur|ty costs o o ; ‘ 7 ) 377 o 271
Post-employment benefts_m o ‘ o . ' ' ) ' 215 335
Share-based payments expense - equit; scttled ) ’ o 209 ’ 190
4,595 4,269
The average number ¢of employees by geographical segment during the year was:
Average number Average number of
of employees full-time equivalents
2007 2006 2007 2006
uK ) 270,417 261,578 184,461 175,459
Rest of Europe T 74017 62925 67351 55,160
Asia T ege27 43,710 66,471 . 42,405
Total 413,061 368,213 318,283 273,024 i
Note 5 Finance income and costs
2007 2006
£m £m
Finance income
Bank|nteres-t_r;c.ewat::l_e_and 5If'ﬂl|al' mcome on casn and cash equrvalents ----- T T N 7 56 89
Net pension ﬁnance income (note 23) T T . 34 257
Total finance income (on historical cost basis) ’ g0 114
Finance costs
ﬂrre_rr_a_st-p_ayable an shart- terrn ba_nk_loar:s. a-n—d_r)_verdrafrs repayable wrthrn five yéars CT o (34) - t??)
Flnance charges payable unidcrvfrna“nfce Ieases a“r-r'd hlre purchase contracts o o o 7} (53
4% 525m GBP unsecured deep clgcal.rnt\ioankstockrmos @ T — - ST (5) ) (1 2)
6% 150m G3P Medium Term Note (MTN) 2006 T - @ @)
07% 50bn JPYMTN 2006 ST ) ST (- @
75% 258m GBPMTN 2007 o T ey (24)
6%125m GBPMTN 2008 T T TR an (15)
5.25% 500m EURMTN 2008 R ' S (18 (18)
5.125% 192m GBP MTN 2009 o ) T 3 (18)
6.625% 150m GBPMTN 2010 ’ o a0 (10
475% 750m EURMTN 2000 ' T @25 29
3.875% 500m EUR MTN 2041 T T [ i (12) -
4% RP| GBP MTN 2016 (5) T ' ) ' T T T 16 (15)
55% 350m GBPMTN 2019 R S T T (19 19)
5% 350m GBPMTN 2023 ST o ’ (16} -
5.3522%LPGBPMIN 2025 0 ' ’ ' S (15) (14)
6% 200m GBP MTN 2029 D T ' - 12 (12)
5.5% 200m GBP MTN 2033 T ) ' ' (11 (1)
2% RPI GBP MTN 2036 () T - o e T an -
5% 300m GBP MTN 2042 S T e ’ ' ' (14) -
OtherMTNs h S T T T - ‘ (11)“ (12)
Caprtalrsedrnterest ' T S T T ) ) ) 78 67
Total ﬁnance costs (on historical cost basis) ' (212) (232)
1AS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial rnstrumant; ZFairvalue remeasurements T o o i (4) 7 ) (9j
Total finance costs (216} (241)

(@} Interest payable on the 4% GBP unsecured deep discount loan stock 2006 includes £3m (2006 — £7m) of discount amartisation.
(b) Interest payable on the 4% RP| GBP MTN 2016 includes £7m (2006 — £6m) of RPI related amertisation.

() Interest payable on the 5.322% LPI GBP MTN 2025 includes £7m (2006 — £7m) of RPI related amortisation.

(d} Interest payable on the 2% RP| GBP MTN 2036 includes £7m (2006 — £nil) of RPI related amortisation.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 6 Taxation

Recognised in the Income Statement

2007 2006
£m £m
Current tax expense
UK corporation tax ) i 505 ) 555
Foreigﬁ tax . . B 88 59
Adjustments in respect of p.rior years ’ ) 61 50
532 664
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversalrof temporar); differencés - ) 147 (16)
Benefit of tax losses recogniséd ) - i 2 (2)
Benefit of.tax losses recognised — adj[:stments_ir: respect 6f ;-}r‘ior years. o : ) - (3)
Aajustments in respect ofprioryears‘ ’ o - g5 7
240 (14)
Total income tax expense from continuing and discontinued operations 712 650
Income tax on discontinﬁéd operatioﬁ {note '7)' ) T - {1
Total income tax expense from coniinuing operations 772 649

UK corporation tax is calculated at 30% (2006 ~ 30%) of the estimated assessable prcfit for the year. Taxation in other jurisdictions

is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Reconciliation of effective tax charge for continuing operations

2007 2006
- £m £m
Profit before tax 2,653 2,235
Effective tax charge at 30% (796) (670)
Effect of: - - i -
. (n_onfdeau-ctible E);p;en;es)lnolﬁ—-taxab.le Ii—r;co-r%e R - ) 22) 25
- differences in overseas taxatior; rates - o h i ) i 48 26
- adjusfme'nts in resped ofprior‘jear;‘ o S o (34) , 54)
- sh-are of results ofjo_intvénture‘s‘ar{dwass-oaaies o 32 24
Total incame tax charge for the year from continuing operations (772) (649)
Effective tax rate - 29.1% 29.0%

In 2007, the UK government announced its intention 1o propose that Parliament reduce the UK corporate income tax rate from 30%
to 28% with effect from 1 April 2008. As of 24 February 2007, the tax rate change was not substantively enacted. If this change had
been substantively enacted, the deferred tax liabtlity as at 24 February 2007 would have decreased by approximately £31m and the
deferred tax expense by approximately £15m, This would have resulted in a decrease in the effective tax rate from 29.1% to 28.5%.

Tax on items charged to equity

2007 2006
£m £m
Current tax credit/(charge) on:
—7foreign exchangermorvements ) ) o (20} ‘ 2
- 1AS 32 and IS 39 movement T T - - - &)
- share-bas:ed” baym_er;ts ’ - S i ) o 19 -
(1) (3)
Deferred tax credit/{charge) on:
- 1A5 32 and 1AS 39‘move;nent o - h ) i - 6)
. share-based payments . - o T B 47 ih
7—7pensians o o T o ) ) i (34) 131
13 136
Total tax on itemns credited to equity (note 25) 12 133




Note 6 Taxation cwontinued

Deferred tax

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and maovements thereon during the current
and prior year:

Accelerated Retirement Short-term
tax benefit Share-based timing IAS 32 and
depreciation obligation payments differences Tax losses IAS 39 Total
£m Em £m Em Em £m £m
At 26 February 2005 (7598) 214 72 27 3 28 (454)
(Chargelicredit to the Income Statement (35 19 22 3 s T T Ty
(Chargederedit to equiy -z a1 T T D T T T ey T s
Disposal c;fs::-t;siaiar); ) o i - . L 1 oo T T . 1
Foreign exchange differences (&) - - . T T ey
(837) 364 105 32 8 22 (306)
Dis_co_rﬁinu-ed-operati-on ) B -UMEE)J 0L o T T (2)
At 25 February 2006 839) 364 105 32 3 22 (308)
(Charge)f;redii to the Incomeisgartevrnent T 'F‘)-S) T _(4é) T 71_6) _____ i 1-_7'__ T (1.)— o _(1) ) (2400
(Eharge)n’rcrerdit‘to‘;equityi S T T T E343 - 4—7_ T T . ’ - 13
Acquisition of subsidiaries - L
Foreign exchange differences I e
At 24 February 2007 (1,019 284 136 51 24 21 (503)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset)
for financial reporting purposes:

2007 2006
£m fm
Deferred tax assets 32 12
Deferred tax liabilities T T ) o N ) D - L)
(503) (308)

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries and joint ventures, because the eamings

are continually reinvested by the Group and no tax is expected to be payable on them in the foreseeable future. The temporary
difference unrecognised at the year end amounied to £565m (2006 — £461m).

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items, because it is not probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits. -

2007 2006

. £m £m

Deductible temporary differences 1 3
Taxwloss‘es v T T S T s T 12 - 17
13 20

At the Balance Sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £131m (2006 — £96m) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £98m (2006 — £27m) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the remaining £33m (2006 — £69m) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of £10m (2006 — £ni) that will expire in 2011 and £22m (2006 — £nil) that will expire in 2027.
Other losses will be carried forward indefinitely.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 7 Discontinued operation and assets classified as held for sale

2007 2006

Em £m

Assets of the dispesal group - 114
Non-curre.nt assets ciassiﬁéd as.hem for séle ’ 408 54
Total nor-current assets classified as held for sale and assets of the dispasal group 408 168
Totat liahilities directly associated withllh;—d-islposal group o ' o - (856)
Total net assets classified as held for sale 408 82

Discontinued operation
On 31 May 2006, the Group sold its business operation in Taiwan to Carrefour as part of a transaction to acquire Carrefour's
Czech business.

The net result of the Taiwanese business has been presented as a discontinued operation in the Income Statement for both the
current and prioryears, and the net assets of the business were classified as a disposal group on the Balance Sheet as at 25 February 2006,

The table below shows the results of the Taiwan business that are included in results of the Group for the current and prior periods

" included within discontinued operation.,

Income Statement

2007 2006
£m £m

Revenue 45 134
Cost of sales ’ 7- o 7 7 (36) . (111)
Administrative expenses - - o S N ~ ) ) . - (14) (32}
Net finance costs ‘ ) 7 ] . - (1}
Share of profit of discontinued joint ventu.re_ - 1
Operating loss before tax of disEontinued operation (4) [E)]
Profit on disposal of discontinued‘operaticn ' S ) 22 -
Profit/(loss) before tax of discontinued cperation 18 [C)]
;Fax relating to operating loss ) - T ‘ 7 7 ) . [4)]
Profit/(loss} for the year from discontinued operation 18 (10
The table below shows the amounts relating to the discantinued operation that are included within the Group cash flows for
the year.
Cash Flow Statement

2007 2006

£m £m
Net cash flows from operating activities (7} (6)
Net cash flows from investing aEtivities o o o T ) (2} ~ (6)
Net cash flows from financing ;ctivities ) . ‘ o - ) 1" ’ 10
2 (2)




Note 7 Discontinued operation and assets classified as held for sale continued

The table below shows the net assets disposed of and consideration received.

Balance Sheet

31 May
2006
£m
Property, plant and equipment 39
Investment property ) 17
Investment in sixbéidiary’ ) 4
Investment in joini ventures and associate§ - . 10
Deferred tax asset 2
Inventories ) 7
Trade and other receivables . )
Cash and cash éqhivalents . 4
Bankloans and overdrafts i (18)
Trade and other payables ’ &7
Tax liabilities i M
et identifiable assets and liabilities disposed of ! 3
Consideration received, satisfied in cash 28
Costs associated witﬁ disposal (3}
Profit on disposal 22
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
2007 2006
£m £m
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 408 54

The non-current assets classified as held for sale consist mainly of properties hetd for sale, including the UK assets disposed of as
part of the post-balance sheet sale and leaseback transaction (see note 32).
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 8 Dividends

2007 2006 2007 2006
pencekhare pence/share Em £m

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity helders in the year:
Final dividend for the ptior ﬁnar;cial year 6.10 5.27 482 410
Interirn dividend for the current.ﬁnanciaW year 2.81 253 224 199
8.91 7.80 706 609
Preposed final dividend for the current financial year 6.83 6.10 542 482

The proposed final dividend was approved by the Board of Directors on 16 April 2007 and is subject to the approval of shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting. The proposed dividend has not been included as a liability as at 24 February 2007, in accordance
with I1AS 10 ‘Events after the balance sheet date”. It will be paid on 6 Juty 2007 to shareholders who are on the register of members

on 27 April 2007.

Note 9 Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year (adjusted for the effects of potentially dilutive options).

The dilution effect is calculated on the full exercise of all ordinary share options granted by the Group, including performance-based

options which the Group considers to have been eamed.

2007 2006
Potentially Potentially
dilutive dilutive
Basic share options Biluted Basic share pptions Diluted
Profit (£m)
Continuing operations ’ 1,874 - 1,874 1,580 - 1,580
Discontinued operation ' 18 - 18 (an - (o)
Total 1,892 - 1,892 1,570 - 1,570
Weighted average number of shares (million) 7,936 102 8,038 7,823 109 7,932
Earnings per share {pence)
Continuing operations ) i 23.61 (0.30) 23.31 20.20 (0.28) 19.92
Discontinued operation ’ 0.23 - 023 ©.13) - (0.13)
Total 23.84 (0.30) 23.54 20.07 0.28) 19.79

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of approval of these financial

statements which would significantly change the earnings per share calculations shown above.

Reconciliation of non-GAAP underlying diluted éarnings per share

2007 2006

£m pencefshare £m pencefshare
Profit
Earnings from continuing oper-ations 1,874 23.31 1,580 19.92
Adjustments for: ’
1AS 32 and IAS 39 'Finangial Instruments’ — Fair value remeasurements 4 G.05 g 0.11
Total IAS 1}9 Income Statemen.t charge for pensions 432 5.37 303 3.82
‘Mormal’ cash contributions fo} pensions (321 (3.99) (270) (3.40}
Pensions adjustment — Finance Act 2006 ’ (258) G.21) - -
Impairment of the Gerrards Cross site 35 0.44 - -
Tax effect of adjustments at the effective rate of tax (2007 - 29.1%; 2006 ~ 29.0%) h 3 0.39 (12) (0.15)
Underlying earnings from continuing operations 1,797 22.36 1,610 20.30




Note 10 Goodwill and other intangible assets

Internally Pharmacy
generated and Other
development software intangible
casts licentes assets Goodwill Teral
£m £m Em £m fm

Cost
At 25 February 2006 N 458 193 43 4,235 1929
ForéigH c-ur-n-ency translation 3] (2) o &3] (44) [€1))
Additions A B 129 a1 N 175
Acqu-is-;i&on-s through businéss combinatians - - 1 ‘493 494_
Reclassification across cate“go.ries . @ 1 N m I (i)
Disposais 7 - (3) @ i 4] EG)
At 24 February 2007 583 233 39 1,684 2,539
Accurmulated amortisation and impairment losses
At 25 February 2006 ) ) T194 09 3 98 404
Foreign currency translation B — (1 - - - (15
Amortisazidn f'or the;fear N ) _-69- i 22 o 2 - 93b
DisposaE- R B . (2) - T - (2;
At 24 February 2007 263 128 5 98 494
Net carrying value
At 24 February 2007 320 05 34 1,586 2,045
At 25 February 2006 ’ “264 84 40 1,137 1525
Cost
At 26 February 2005 395 194 59 1,192 1,788
Fareign ;t-_urr-ency translation ) o 1‘ 3 4 19 27
Additions ' 115 21 3 - 139
Acquis-it—io—ns through bu-sin—é's-s combinations - - ) I o -27 2:.{
Reclassification across categories i ) T 277 @3 @ 3
Dispo.sals_ ) T o s (2) - ) (55)
At 25 February 2005 458 193 43 1,235 1,929
Accumulated amertisation and impairment losses
At 26 February 2005 o 190 82 10 T 380
Foreign.curréﬁgy translation ) - 2 T — 2ﬁ
Amortisation for the year 756‘ 19 - 1 - ’ 76
Reclassiﬁ_cat‘ion ACross categories-. - 8 i (8) T -
Disposals 52 @ - - (54)
At 25 February 2006 194 109 3 98 404
Net carrying value
At 25 February 2006 264 g4 40 1137 1525
At 26 February 2005 203 62 49 1,094 1,408

There are no intangible assets, other than goodwill, with indefinite useful lives.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 10 Goodwill and other intangible assets continued

Impairment of goodwill

Goodwill arising on business combinations is not amaortised but is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently
if there are indications that goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of cash-
generating units according to the level at which management monitor that goodwill,

Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units are based on value in use, which is calculated from cash flow projections for five
years using data from the Group’s latest internal forecasts, the results of which are reviewed by the Board. The key assumptions
for the value in use calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in margins. Management
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the cash-generating units. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past experience and expectations
of future changes in the market.

The forecasts are extrapolated beyond five years based on estimated long-term average growth rates (generally 3%-4%),).

The pre-tax discount rates used to calculate value in use range from 10%-17% (2006: 9%-11%). These discount rates are derived
from the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of capital as adjusted for the specific risks relating to each geographical region.

In February 2007, 2006 and 2005 impairment reviews were performed by comparing the carrying value of goodwill with the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. Management determined that there
has been no impairment.

The components of goodwill are as follows:

2007 2006 2005

fm £m £m
UK . _ 501 466 463
Thailand ' ) 7 113 115 107
South Korea B o - ' 29 32 10
Japan : : ) T 115 133 135
China - ' T 346 - -
Malaysia ) ' ’ ’ 64 - -
Poland o _ 322 331 323
Czech Iiepublic ' 34 - -
Turkey ) S 47 55 a9
Other o CT 15 5 7

1,586 1,137 1,094




Note 11 Property, plant and equipment

Land and
buildings Cther (a) Total
£m £ £m

Cost
At 25 February 2006 7 ’ ' 15,563 a,707 20,270
Foreign currency translation h ) ’ ’ {176} (46) (222)
Additions () ' ’ ) T2 864 2,789
Acquisitions through business combi‘nations ' - ' ' 247 - 31 278
Reclassification across categories ’ o 7 ) (300 1 (99
Classified as held for sale - i S - o (391) ) l‘ (13 (40&)
Disposals - ' T 528 {155) (683)
At 24 February 2007 16,540 5,389 21,929
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
At 25 February 2006 T ’ ' o 1815 2573 4,388
Foreign curfeﬁd tral';siatlon ’ - 7 - (8 N (17} (25)
Charée for the year 7 . i -7 o 240 o 534 774
Reclassification across categories .- i o T o 2 ® m
Classified as held for sale i o - T (40} - M “4n
Disposals i ) T N N ) {15%)
Impairrmeant losses ’ . ) o T o 82 - 82
Reversal of i-m_pairrﬁent fosses o B B - T (63) - - (-63)
At 24 February 2007 ) 1,942 301 4,953
Net carrying value (c)(d)(e)
At 24 February 2007 - ' ' ' 14,508 2378 16,976
At 25 February 2006 i A o S T a3zas 2034 15,882
Capital work in progress included above (f)
At 24 February 2007 o T T o T g 1ss 1,030

{a) Other assets consist of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings and moter vehicles.

(b} Includes £78m (2006 - £67m) in respect of interest capitalised, principally relating to land and building assets. The capitzlisatian rate used to determine the amount
of finance costs capitalised during the year was 5.1% (2006 - 5.1%). Interest capitalised is deducted in determining taxable profit in the year in which it is incurred.

(c) Net camrying value includes;
(i) Capitalised interest at 24 February 2007 of £716m (2006 — £655m).
(ii) Assets held under finance leases which are analysed belfow:

2007 2006
Land and Land and
buildings Other {a) buildings Orther (a)
£m £m £m £m

Cost . i 91 662 otz 388
Accumulated depreciation '
and impairment losses (16) (480) (14) (367}
Net carrying value 75 182 8B 21

These assets are pledged as security for the finance lease liabilities.

(d) The net carrying value of land and buildings comprises:

2007 2006

£m £m

Freehald 13,267 12,616
Long \eés;E;]d-;_SO-yea-rs ar rmare o T 657 o m54-1 7

Short leasehold — less than 50 years o i T 674 T s

Net carrying value . 14,598 13,748

{e} Carrying value of land and buildings includes £8m (2006 - £9m) relating to the prepayment of lease prerniumns.
{f) Capital workin progress does not include land.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 11 Property, plant and equipment continued

Land and
buildings Other (a) Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 26 Febroary 2005 ’ 14,247 4,298 18,545
Foreign currency translation B 198 45 243
Additions (b B ) 1935 707 2,642
Acquisitions through business c})mbinati(;ns- . 20 i 3 23
Reclassification across categorig's i . (208) 11 (197)
Classified as held for sate 74) 15) 89)
Disposals (555) (342) (897)
At 25 February 2006 15,563 4,707 20,270
Accurmnulated depreciation and impairment losses
At 26 February 2005 ' B ’ 1,705 2,319 4,024
Fereign currency translation ) - 9 19 28
Charge for the year i o 250 503 753
Reclassification across categoriés m 1 -
Classified as held for sate o 5) ) G
Disposals - ) (139) (262) (401)
Impairment ‘Iosses : - 410 7 47
Reversal of impairment losses ) ) (44) 8) 52)
At 25 February.2006 1,815 2,573 4,388
Net carrying value (¢)(d)(e}
At 25 February 2006 ) 13,748 2,134 15,882
At 26 February 2005 12,542 1,979 14,521
Capital work in progress included above (f)
At 25 February 2006 ' ) : 699 82 781




Note 11 Property, plant and equipment continued

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group has determined that for the purposes of impairment testing, each store is a cash-generating unit. Cash-generating units
are tested for impairment if there are indications of impairment at the Balance Sheet date.

Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units are based on value in use, which is calculated from cash flow projections for five
years using data from the Group's latest internal forecasts, the results of which are reviewed by the Board. The key assumptions
for the value in use calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in margins. Management
estimaies discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the cash-generating units. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on oast experience and expectations of
future changes in the market.

The forecasts are extrapolated beyond five years based on estimated long-term growth rates {generally 3%-4%).

The pre-tax discount rates used to calculate value in use range from 10%-17% (2006: 9%-11%) depending on the specific
cenditions in which each store operates. These discount rates are derived from the Group's post-tax weighted average cost of capital.

The following amounts have been {charged)/credited to operating costs in the Income Statement during the current and prior year.

2007 2006
£m £m
Impairment losses
Uk”—_ T T o 7 - o (44). A(ZAQ;
Rest of Europe T T o o T G a8
ASI:a N R (3) -
82) 47
Reversal of impairment losses o T T T
LVIKi R S T ) T i I 17v 297
Rest of Europe. ST ST 26 3
Asia T T T - -
63 52
Net {impairment)/reversal of impairment losses (19) 5

The impairment losses relate to stores whose recoverable amounts (either value in use or fairvalue less costs to sell) do not exceed

the asset carrying values. In all cases, impairment losses arose due to stores performing below forecasted trading levels.

The reversal of previous impairment losses arose principally due to improvements in stores’ performances over the last year which

increased the net present value of future cash flows.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 12 Investment property

2007 2006
£m £m

Cost
At beginning of year ) 785 595
Foreign cuzrency transla'tion (32 " 36
Additions 26 2
Acquisitions through business combinations 32 -
Transfers o ) 10 194
Classified as held for sale i 4) (58)
Disposals o (2) . (3)
At end of year 906 785
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
At beginning of year . 40 30
Foreign currency translation {2) 2
Charge for th-e period T " ’ 9
Classified as held for sale - n
Transfers 1 -
At end of year 50 40
Net carrying value 856 745

The net carrying value at 26 February 2005 was £565m.

The estimated fair value of the Group’s investment property is £1,522m (2006 — £1,373m). This value has been determined by
applying an appropriate rental yield to the rentals earned by the investment property. A valuation has not been performed by

an independent valuer.




Note 13 Group entities .

Significant subsidiaries
The Group consolidates its subsidiary undertakings; the principal subsidiaries are:

Share of issued ordinary share Country of
Business activity capital, and voting rights incarporation
Tesco Stores Limited* Retail 100% England
Tesco Distribution lelted‘ i 7 Distribution . 10b% England
Tesco Property Holdmgs L|m|ted' . P Property - 100% England
Tesco Insurance Lm-uted’ N T Self—lnsurance . ) T 10b%- Guarnsey
Valiant Insurance Company Limited - ' Self—lnsurance i 100% Republic of lreland
One Stop Stores Limited B Retail 100% England
Tesco Ireland Lirr;ited* T . ’ T Retail ’ ) ) 100% 7 Republic of Ireland
Tesco Global Aruhazak Rt.* : -ReEaFI 99% Hungary
Tesco Polska Sp. z 0.0.* o - . ST - R_etail - o 1000/;——- h - Poland .
Tesco Stores € R a.5.* o . T Retail - "7 00;’/0 i Czev.:h Republic
Tesco Stores S R a. - * T ’ T Retail 100% Slovakia
Samsung Tesco Co. Limited* i S Retall - -239;% South Korea
Ek-Chai Distribution Syste.n'; Eo- Limited‘ ) ' i Retall ’ 9% - Thailand
Tesco Stores Malaysia Sdn Bhd* i Retail 70% Malaysra
Tesco Stores Hong Kong lelted‘ o - burchasfng ) 100% Hong Kong
C Two-Network Co. Limited* - . - - T Retal B --1 60:% Japan
Hymatl* . Reta|l 90%— ' Republic of China
dunnhumby Limited* T T Data Analysis - ’ S Tmaw England
Tesco Kipa A.5. N - 7 Retait S o3y o TurLey

* Held by an intermediate subsidiary. )
All principal subsidiary undertakings operate in their country of incorporation,

The accounting period ends of the subsidiary undertakings consolidated in these financial statements are on or around
24 February 2007, with the exception of Hymall which has an accounting period end of 31 December 2006 owing to its
acquisition by the Group at the end of Hymall's financial year.

A full list of the Group's subsidiary undertakings will be annexed to the next Annual Return filed at Companies House.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of subsidiary undertakings to transfer funds to the parent, other than those
imposed by the Companies Act 1985.

Interests in joint ventures and associates
The Group uses the equity method of accounting for joint ventures and associates. The following table shows the aggregate
movement in the Group's investment in joint ventures and associates:

22

Z0

g

Joint ventures Associates Total g o

£m Em £m gl

At 26 February 2005 409 20 429 "o

e ° e - o= - - _4 I

Additions . i ) o i 35 i 36 B m

Effect of change in forelgn exchange rates 19 1 20 g g

Share of profit/{loss) ofJomt ventures and assouales B5* ) (2) g3+ g g

Income received from Jomtventures and assomates 82) - (82) 3 o
Transferred to non-current assets teld for sa'.e [410) - (10
At 25 February 2006 456 ) 20 476
Addltlons 47 3 50
Effect of change in forelgn exchange rates (i4) - {14}
Share of profit of joint ventures and assooa{es 104 2 106
Income received from jaint ventures and assodates (123) m (124)
Disposals (a) - (14) (14)
Capital reduction (6) - 6)
Transferred to subsidiary undertakings (b (160} - (160)
At 24 Febeuary 2007 304 10 314

* Includes £1m profit on the discentinued joint veature, Taiwan Charn Yang Developments Limited,




Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 13 Group entities continued

{a) Disposals of associates

Greenergy
Grocerywaorks Fuels Limited Total
£m £m Em
Consrderauon receivedivalue of assets exchanged 35 4 39
Carrying value of investment drsposed of (13) m (14)

Profit on sale of investments in associates 22 3 25

The investment in Groceryworks was sold to its parent company, Safeway Inc.

During the year, the Group’s investment in Greenergy Fuels Limited was subject to an exchange transaction, whereby the Group
gave up its investment in Greenergy Fuels Limited and received a 21.3% investment in Greenergy Fuels Limited's parent company,
Greenergy International Limited.

The transaction has been treated as an exchange of fair values and the profit on sale recognised on this transaction represents the
difference between 3.7% of the net assets of Greenergy Fuels Limited given up and 21.3% of the additional net assets of Greenergy
International Limited acquired. Overall, the transaction was cash neutral.

{b) During the year, the Group purchased additional share capital in three of its joint ventures, namely dunnhumby Limited, Tesco
Home Shopping and Hymall, making them subsidiary entities which have been consolidated within the Group results from the
date of acquisition onwards. For further details see note 26.

Joint ventures
The Group’s principal joini ventures are:

Share of issued share Country of incorparation
capital, toan capital and and principal country
Business activity debt securities of operation
Shopping Centres Limited Property |nuestment 50% England
BLT Propertres anrted D T Property lnvestment ’ 750% o England
Tesco BL Holdings errted ) T Property rnvestment - 50% o . Englanvd
Tesco British Land Property Parmershlp1 ) Property |nvestment ) a 50% England
Tesco Property errted Partnershrp' T Property-investment 50% England
Arena {Jersey} Management errtedt T Prc;perty-lgvestment B -SUC';‘D Jersey
The Tesco Property {No. 2) errted Parmershrp? o - Property In.vestmem T 50% ' . Jersey
Tesco Red Limited Partnersh|p1 . i ) Prope‘rtyhloyestment ) 50%" - - England -
Tesco Personal Flnance Group lelted T Persor'raIPirrance T 50% - ’ Scotland o
Tesca Mobrle errtecﬁ T Telecom_r;onrcatrons T s0% ' England
Nu:rr Cenwres Limited! T . Complementary Medlcrnes " 50% i England )
Retall Property Company errtedt o . Property Investment 7 50% N - Thailand 7
Tesco Card Services Limitedt ” Personal Finance T som% 7 ’ Thailand

t Held by an intermediate subsidiary.
The accounting period ends of the joint ventures consolidated in these financial statements range from 31 December 2006 to

28 February 2007. Accounting period end dates different from those of the Group arise for commercial reasons and depend upon
the requiremenis of the joint venture partner as well as those of the Group.




Note 13 Group entities contnyed

The share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and profit of the joint ventures, which are included in the consolidated financial

statements, are as follows:

2007 2006

£m £m
Non-current assets 1,134 981
Current assets T T o B o 3956 4033
Current liabiliies T o ) G572) (3,667}
Non-current liabiliies o o T (G225 (1,082)
Goodwill o T ) ) 4 185
Cumule;ave unrecognised Iosses ----- - N ) o 7 ) 6

304 456
Revenue 638 586
Expensies o o T T B ) o (534)‘ (§O1i
Profit for the year 104 85

The unrecognised share of losses made by joint ventures in the year to 24 February 2007 was £1m (2006 — £3m).

Associates
At the Balance Sheet date, the Group's principal associate is:

Business activity

Share of issued capital,
loan capital and debt
securities

Country of incarparation
and principal country
of operaticn

Greenergy international Limited Fuel Supplier

21%

England

[
Although the Group only hotds a 21.3% non-voting shareholding in Greenergy International Limited it is treated as an associate as
the Board of Greenergy International Limited requires the consent of Tesco on certain reserve matters as specified in the company’s
Articles of Association.

The share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and profit of the Group’s associates, which are included in the consolidated financial
statements, are as follows:

2007 2006

£m £m

Assets 93 72
i_i_ai)-iﬁzs— o S T T T T ) S 7 {B5) 7 (;:')5]
Goodwillﬂw - 7 o T T T T T T 2 - 13“

' 10 20

Revenue 280 174
Proﬁl;'(los-s-).forAlheryear o o 7 T T T ’ 2 o - 2)

The accounting period ends of the associates consolidated in these financial statements range from 31 December 2006
to 31 January 2007. The accounting period end dates of the associates are different from those of the Group as they also depend
upon the requiremenis of the parent companies of those entities.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of associated undertakings to transfer funds to the parent, other than
thase imposed by the Companies Act 1985.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 14 Other investments

2007 2006
£m £m
Available-for-sale financial assets 8 4

Other investments are available-for-sale financial assets consisting of ordinary shares, and therefore have no fixed maturity date or
coupon rate. .

The fair value of the unlisted available-for-sale investments has been estimated using a valuation technigue based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates. The fairvalue of the listed available-for-sale investments is based on
quoted market prices at the Balance Sheet date.

The following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group's other investments during the year:

2007 2006
£m £m
At beginning of year 4 -
Additions ) ' 5 2
Revaluation through equity ’ n 2
At end of year 8 4
Note 15 Inventories
2007 2006
£m £m
Goods held for resale 1,911 1,457
Development properties . 20 7
1,931 1,464
Note 16 Trade and other receivables
2007 2006
£m Em
Prepayments and accrued income 128 86
Finance lease receivables (note 31) 12 17
Other receivables - 77 648
Amounts owed by joint venturejs and associates . ) 168 141
1,079 892
Included within trade and other receivables are the following amounts receivable after more than one year:
2007 2006
£m £m
Prepayments and accrued income 6 -
Fiﬁance lease receivables (note 51) ’ & 11
Other receivables : 136 118
Amouhts owed by joint venture; and associates 163 121

in 250




Note 17 Cash and cash equivalents

2007 2006

Em £m

Cash at bank and in hand 902 964
Short-ierr;r deposits - A T 140 ) 361
1,042 1,325

The effective rate of interest on short-term deposits is 4.8% (2006 — 3.9%) and the average maturity term is 4 weeks
(2006 — 2 weeks).

Note 18 Trade and other payables

Current
2007 2006
£m £m
Trade payabtes 3,317 2,832
Other taxation and social security ’ 203 216
Other payables T ) i 1,329 1,257
Amounts payable to joint ventures and associ‘ates 128 79
Accruals and deferred fncome o ) ’ ’ 1,062 693
Dividends o T o T T ' 7 6
6,046 5,083
Non-current
2007 2006
£m £m
Qzher payables 29 29
Note 19 Borrowings
Current
) Effective
interest rate
Effective  after hedging
interest rate transactions Maturity 2007 2006
Par value % % year £m Em
Bank toans and overdrafts 5.4 5.4 2007 1,052 1,004
Loan from jofht venture ) ) - - 2007 10 g
4% unsecured deep discount loan stock T £125m - - 2006 - 122.
6% Medium Term Note (MTN) R £150m - - 2006 - 158
0.7% MTN ) ' ¥50bn - - 2006 - 247
75%MIN @ ) £258m 16 58 2007 268 -
Other MTNs ) ’ 3.4 34 - 188 86
Finance leases (note 31) T 5.5 55 - 36 20
1,554 1,646

(a) The parvalue has been reduced from £325m in 2006 to £258m in 2007 by a buyback of part of the MTN.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 19 BOI‘I‘DWiI‘IgS continued

Non-current

Effective
interest rate
Effective after hedging

interest rate transactions Maturity 2007 2006

Parvalue % % year £m £m

Finance leases (note 31) - 9.2 9.2 - 147 B4
T5%MIN ' £325m - - - - 3
6% MTN (b) © £125m 6.0 5.9 2008 130 268
5.25% MTN i ' T &500m 53 60 2008 352 366
5425% MTNw@ i T f192m 54 58 2009 190 355
6.625% MTN ) T £150m 6.7 67 2010 153 153
a75% MTN i T €750m ag 62 2010 525 548
3875% MTN ’ T 77 &s00m 39 55 2011 340 -
4% RPIMTN (@ ’ " £238m T 6.6 2016 244 236
5.5% MTN o o h £350m 56 56 2019 349 349
5% MTN ) ’ o £350m 514 51 2023 361 -
3.322% LPI MTN (&) ’  p4Im 53 59 2025 a3 136
6% MTN ) T £200m 60 6.0 2029 198 214
5.5% MTN T © £200m 56 5.6 2033 197 213
2%RPIMIN ) ' ' © £204m 46 46 2036 206 000 -
5% MTN o ’ ' £300m 5.1 T s 2042 06 0000 -
OtherMTNs ) T - 176 278
Other loans ST - a9 29 2008 2 98
2,146 3,742

{b) The par value has been reduced from £250m in 2006 to £125m in 2007 by a buyback of part of the MTN.

(c) The parvalue has been reduced from £350m in 2006 to £192m in 2007 by a buyback of part of the MTN.

(d) The 4% RP] MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the Retail Price Index over the life of the MTN.

{e) The 3.322% LPI MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the RPI over the life of the MTN. The maximum indexation of the principal in any one year is 5%,
with a minimum of 09%.

Borrowing facilities
The Group has the following undrawn committed facilities available at 24 February 2007, in respect of which all conditions
precedent had been met as at that date:

2007 2006

£m £m

Expiring within one year . ) - -
Expiring between one and two ;'ears T N _ -
Expiring in more than two years a o } 7 1,750 - 1,750
1,750 1,750

All facilities incur commitment fees at market rates and would provide funding at floating rates.




Note 20 Financial instruments

An explanation of the objectives and policies for holding and issuing financial instruments is set out in the Operating and Financiat

Review,

Carrying values of derivative financial instrurments and other liabilities in the Balance Sheet:

2007 2006
Assals Liabilities Assets Liabilities
£m £m Em £m
Current
Interest ;ate swaps-and-éimilar instmmentsﬁ T T 12 (8} -1 17 1)
Forward foreign currencyﬁc;ntrarcts B i B - - A 96 (56) ) 59 (1 ?C')Jk
Futuré purchases of minority interests o ) ) - (23} . o -
108 (87) 70 (239
Nan-current
Interestﬂrate swaps and similar inétrum;ar;ts o i ’ - - {116) . (46)
Forward foreign currency contracts T ’ - - - - - (2)
Future ﬁurchases of minority interests - ‘ - (283) . - {246)
- (399 - (294)
Amounts shown as liahilities for the future purchases of minority interests refer to Samsung Tesco — £220m (2006 — £246m);
Hymall — £48m (2006 — £nil) and dunnhumby — £38m (2006 — £nil).
Fair values
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed below:
2007 2006
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
Em £m £m £m
Primary financial instruments held or issued to finance the Group’s operations:
Short-term borrowings o T a5 (1,509 (1,626} (1,641y
Long-term borrowings T T - T (3.999) 3.999) (3,658) (3,848}
Finance leases (Grouﬁ as lessor note 31_) T - 12 1z 17 17
Finance leases (Group as iessee = note 31) ) - {183) {183) ‘ (10;1) (104)
Cash and cash equivalents T ) oo © 1042 1,042 1325 1325
Derivat}\;e ﬁinancial ir-ust-ru;nents held torr‘ﬁa}‘a‘g—e tﬁé interes_t_rate and currency profile; i ) i 7
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments T o 1y ay (104) (104)
Forward foreign currency contracts S ’ - ' 40 a (113) 113}
Future purchases of minority interests T 7 (306) (306} . (246) (24é)
(5,024} {4,965) (4,509) 4,714)

The fair values of financial instuments and derivatives have been deiermined by reference to prices available from the markets on
which the instruments are traded. The fair value of all other items have been calculated by discounting expected future cash flows
at prevailing interest rates, The above table excludes trade and other receivables/payables, whizh have fairvalues equal to their

carrying value.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 20 Financial instruments continued

Analysis of interest rate exposure of financial assets and liabilities

By maturity date, the interest rate exposure of financial assets and liabilities of the Group, after taking into account the effect of
interest rate swaps, was:

Within More than

1year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years S years Total
As at 24 February 2007 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m,
Fixed rate (fair value interest rate risk)}
Finance lease receivables . 6 6 - - - - 12
Bank and other loans ’ (210) {42) .(85) (1en (19) (1,274) (1,791)
Finance lease payables 2 (10) 4) 3 (3) (54) (B6)
Floating rate {cash flow interest rate risk)
Cash and cash equivalents ) . 1 .0&2 - L - o - - 1,042
Bank and other loans . (1,308)- (511 (190) (532) (340} (845)' (3,720)
Finance lease payables ) Q4 an 20 (16) {13 ) ©97)

Within More than

1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years 5 years Total
As at 25 February 2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Fixed rate (fair value interest rate risk)
Finance lease receivables . 6 6 5 - - - 17
Bankand other loans ) (147 (161 - (98) (153) 861) (1,420)
Finance lease payables ) (20) an T ® 3 3) 59 (104)
Floating rate (cash flow interest rate risk)
Cash and cash equivalenis . ’ 1,325 - - - - - 1,325
Bank and other loans ) (1,479 (386) (662) (355) (555) (427) (3,864)

Hedging activities

Fair value hedges

The Group uses interest rate swaps and cross-currency swaps ta hedge the fair value of fixed rate bonds. The total notional amount of
outstanding swaps used for fair value hedging is £2,203m with various maturities out to 2033 (2006 - £2,710m; maturities o 2033).

The fixed rate bonds are hedged against changes to their fair value resulting from changes in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates.

The fairvalue of swaps used for fairvalue hedging at the Balance Sheet date was a liability of £107m (2006 ~ £100m liability).
Cash flow hedges

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts and currency options to hedge the cost of future purchases of goods for resale,
where those purchases are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the purchasing company. The hedging

instruments are primarily used to hedge purchases in Euros and US Dollars. The cash flows hedged will occurwithin one year of the
Balance Sheet date.

At the Balance Sheet date, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to which the Group has
committed was £764m (2006 — £548m).

The fair value of curréncy derivatives that are designated as effective cash flow hedges was a liability of £24m (2006 — £4m asset).
This amount has been deferred as a component of equity.

Also in place at the Balance Sheet date were interest rate swaps, designated as cash flow hedges, to hedge the interest cost of debt
instruments issued in March 2007 (for details, see note 32). The fairvalue of the interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges
was a liability of £8m (2006 — £nil). This amount has been deferred as a component of equity.

Net investment hedges

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts, currency denominated borrowings and currency options to hedge the exposure
of a proportion of its non-Sterling denominated assets against changes in value due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The total
notional amount of ret investment hedging contracts at the Balance Sheet date was £4,250m (2006 - £3,463m).

The fairvalue of these instruments at the Balance Sheet date was an asset of £56m (2006 — £150m liability).

The Group has a Korean Won denominated liability relating 10 the future purchase of the minority shareholding of its subsidiary,
Samsung Tesco Co. Limited. This liability has been designated as a net investment hedge of a proportion of the assets of Samsung
Tesco Co. Limited. The casrying value of the liability at the Balance Sheet date was £220m {2006 — £246m).




Note 20 Financial instruments continued

The Group has a Chinese Yuan denominated liability relating to the future purchase of the minority shareholding of its subsidiary,
Hymall. This liability has been designated as a net investment hedge of a proportion of the assets of Hymall. The carrying value of
the liability at the Balance Sheet date was £48m (2006 — £nil).

Financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting
The Group has a number of financial instruments which do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting.

These instruments include forward foreign exchange contracts, currency options, caps, collars and interest rate swaps. The fairvalue
of these instryments at the Balance Sheet date was a asset of £11m (2006 — £5m liability).

The Group has a liability relating to the future purchase of the minerity shareholding of its subsidiary, dunnhumby Limited. The
carrying value of the liability at the Balance Sheet date was £38m (2006 — £nil).

Note 21 Provisions

Preperty

provisions

£Em

At 25 February 2006 3 7
Additions i ) -
Acquisitions through business combinations 28
Amount credited in the year [(3))
At 24 February 2007 29

Property provisions comprise future rents payable net of rents receivable on oneraus and vacant property leases, provisions for
terminal dilapidations and provisions for future rents above market value on unprofitable stores. The majerity of the provision is
expected to be utilised over the period to 2020.

The balances are analysed as follows:

2007 2006

£m £m

Current . 4 2
Non-cun:enmt - CT - . - - 25 5
29 7
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Notes to the financial statements continued

S

"Note 22 Share-based payments

The Group has not taken advantage of the transitional provisians of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment' in respect of equity-settled
awards but instead applied IFRS 2 retrospectively 1o all awards granted, but not vested, as at 28 February 2004,

The total Income Staternent charge for the year recognised in respect of share-based payments is £209m (2006 - £190m} which
is made up of share option schemes and share bonus payments,

a)

Share option schemes

The Company had eight share option schemes in operation during the year, all of which are equity-settled schemes:

)

ii)

i)

i)

v)

Vi)

The savings-related share option scheme (1981) permits the grant to employees of options in respect of ordinary shares linked
to a building saciety/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from employees of an
amount between £5 and £250 per four-weekly periad. Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three or
five-year period at a subscription price not less than 80% of the average of the middle-market quotations of an ordinary share
over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date.

The Irish savings-related share option scheme (2000) permits the grant to trish employees of options in respect of ordinary
shares linked to a building society/bank save-as-you-earn contract far a term of three or five years with contributions from
employees of an amount between €12 and €320 per four-weekly period. Options are capable of being exercised at the end
of the three o five-year period at a subscription price not less than 80% of the average of the middle-market quotations of
an ardinary share over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date.

The approved executive share option scheme (1994) was adopted on 17 October 1994, The exercise of options granted under
this scheme will narmally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the growth in
earnings per share over a three-year period. No further options will be granted under this scheme and it has been replaced by
the discretionary share option plan (2004), There were no discounted options granted under this scheme.

The unapproved executive share option scheme (1996) was adopted on 7 June 1996. This scheme was introduced following
legislative changes which limited the number of options which could be granted under the previous scheme. The exercise of
options granted under this scheme will normally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related
to the growth in eamings per share over a three-year period. Na further options will be granted under this schermne and it has
been replaced by the discretionary share option plan (2004). There were no discounted options granted under this scheme.

The international executive share option scheme (1994) was adopted on 20 May 1994, This scheme permits the grant to selected
non-UK executives of options 1o acquire ordinary shares on substantially the same basis as their UK counterparts. The exercise of
options granted under this scheme will normally be conditional on the achievernent of a specified performarnce target related to
the growth in eamnings per share over a three-year period. No further options will be granted under this scheme and it has been
replaced by the discretionary share aption plan (2004). There were no discounted options granted under this scheme.

The executive incentive plan (2004) was adopted on 4 July 2004. This scheme permits the grant of options in respect of
ordinary shares to selected executives. Options are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant
for nil consideration.

vii) The performance share plan (2004) was adopted on 4 July 2004. This scheme permits the grant of options in respect of

ordinary shares to selected executives. Options are normally exercisable between four and ten years from the date of grant for nil
consideration. The exercise of options will normally be conditional on the achievement of specified performance targets related
to the return on capital employed over & three-year period.

viii) The discretionary share option plan (2004) was adopted on 4 July 2004. This scheme permits the grant of approved,

unapproved and international options in respect of ordinary shares to selected executives. Options are normally exercisable
between three and ten years from the date of grant at a price not less than the middle-market guotation or average middle-
market quotations of an ordinary share for the dealing day or three dealing days preceding the date of grant. The exercise of
options will normally be conditional on the achievement of a specified performance target related to the annual percentage
growth in earnings per share over a three-year period. There will be no discountéd options granted under this scheme.,




Note 22 Share-based payments coniinued

The following tables reconcile the number of share options outstanding and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP):
For the year ended 24 February 2007

Savings-related Irish savings-related Approved Unapproved  International executive Mil cost
share option scheme share option scheme share option scheme share opticn scheme share option scheme share options
Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Cptions WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP
Cutstanding at

25 February

2006 181,166,780 211.42 4,705,023 217.96 17947537 248B.1% 95519321 242,28 28,097,456 25169 3,459,458 0.00
Granted 38,895,396 307.00 1,532,291 307.00 5,166,957 316.87 18,751,718 320.22 11,538,336 318.60 2,350,549 0.00
Forfeited (10,898,678) 219.50 (508,283} 215.69 (931,795) 293.25 (3,090,496) 278.00 (1,352,164) 24971 - -
Exercised {36,060,390) 193.52 (801,622) 190,99 (5,327,666) 220.10 (28,653,628) 216.21 (5,155,523) 221.25 - -
Qutstanding at i

24 February

2007 173,103,108 236.12 49827409 25027 16,855,033 276.19 82526915 267.70 33,128,105 280.68 5,810,007 0.00
Exercisable as at

24 February

2007 5,320,960 196.51 215648 195.70 5674314 226.02 27,295331 21890 8,386,290 214.42 - -
Exercise price 165.00 to 195.00 w0 197.50 w0 164.00 10 176.70 to

range {pence} 198.00 198.00 259.00 259.00 259.00 Nil
Weighted average

remaining

contractual

life (years) 0.20 0.20 4.42 4.73 4.39 -
For the year ended 25 February 2006

Savings-related frish savings-related Approved Unapproved  International executive Nil cost
share option scheme share option schame share option scheme share option scheme share eption scheme share options
Options WAEP QOptions WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP
Qutstanding at

26 February \

2005 186,022,500 194,78 4,895,103 190.80 21,290,693 22210 97,655342 22708 23,025,502 227.10 1,126.257 0.00
Granted 44,347,668 248.00 1,673,357 24800 4,401,080 312,75 17,483,188 31275 8,989,071 30954 2,333201 0.00
Forfeited (11,451,171} 200.07 (416,444) 19211 (1,316,210) 233.62 (4,543,756)_23?.06 {1,086,847) 240.94 - -
Exercised (37,752,217y 17582 {1,446,993) 168.25 (6,428,026) 209.19 (15,115,453) 226.56 (2,830,270) 239.54 - -
Quistanding a1

25 February

2006 181,166,780 21142 4,705,023 217.96 17947537 24811 65,519,321 242.28 28,097,456 25169 3,459,458 0.00
Exercisable as at

25 February

2006 5,204,791 196.90 ) 2_27,107 169.95 7,721,_660 231.70 28,646,347 _232.85 7,958,413 22475 - -
Exercise price 159.00 o 159.00 10 205.00 to 164.00 to 176.70 to

range (penc_e} 198.00 198.00 259.00 259.00 259.00 Nil
Weighied average

remaining

contractual

life (years) 0.19 0.19 5.02 4,97 4.73 -
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 22 Share-based payments continued

Share options were exercised on a regular basis throughout the year. The average share price during the year to 24 February 2007
was 369,70 pence (2006 - 317.79 pence).

The fairvalue of share options is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following table
gives the assumptions applied to the options granted in the respective periods shown. No assumption has been made to
incorporate the effects of expected early exercise.

2007 2006

Savings- Savings-
related Executive Ni} cost related Executive Nil cost
share option share option option share option share option optien
schemes schemes schemes schemes schemes schemes
Expected dividend yield (%) 2.7% 3.0% 2.7% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Expected volatility (%) ) ' © 28% 28% 28% 28% 28% 28%
Risk-free interest rate (%) . T aswm 4.7% 4.6% 4.4% 4.2% 4.2%
Expected life of option (years) - ) ] - Jors 6 6 Jors 7 6 &
Weighted average fairvalue of options granted (pence)  122.02 81.63 282.97 93.55 77.24 256.75
Probability of forfeiture (%) O 20:25% 10% 0% 20-25% 10% 0%
Share price (pence) ' 383.80 318.60 332.74 3100 312.80 307.38
Weighted average exercise pricé {pence) ) 307.00 318.60 0.0 248.00 312.75 - 0.0

Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a price is expected to fluctuate during a period. The measure of volatility used in Tesco
PLC option pricing models is the annualised standard deviation of the continuously compounded rates of return on the share over a
period of time. In estimating the future volatility of the Company's share price, the Board consider the historical volatility of the share
price over the most recent period that is generally commensurate with the expected term of the option, taking into account the
remaining contractual life of the option.

b) Share bonus schemes

Eligible UK employees are able to participate in Shares in Success, an all-employee profit sharing scheme. Each year, shares are
awarded as a percentage of earnings up to a statutory maximum of £3,000.

Senior management also participate in performance-related bonus schemes. The amount paid to employees is based on a
percentage of salary and is paid partly in cash and partly in shares. Banuses are awarded to eligible employees that have completed
a required service period and depend on the achievement of corporate targets. The accrued cash element of the bonus at the
“Balance Sheet date is £17m,

The Executive Directors participate in short-term and long-term bonus schemes designed to align their interests with those of
shareholders. Full details of these schemes can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

The fair value of shares awarded under these schemes is their market value on the date of award. Expected dividends are not
incorporated into the fair value.

The number and weighted average fair value (WAFV) of share bonuses awarded during the period was:

2007 2006

Shares WAFV Shares WAFV

tlumber Pence Number Pence

Shares in Success ) ) 24,062,964 319.65 22,337,747 309.75

Executive incentive scheme 13,559,635 316.88 13,283,243 300.88




Note 23 Post-employment benefits

Pensions

The Group operates a variety of post-employment benefit arrangements, covering both funded defined contribution and funded
and unfunded defined benefit schermes. The most significant of these are the funded defined benefit schemes for the Group’s
employees in the UK and the Republic of Ireland.

Defined contribution plans
The contributions payable for defined contribution schemes of £7m (2006 — £7m) have been fully expensed against profits in the
current year.

Defined benefit plans

United Kingdom

The principal plan within the Group is the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme, which is a funded defined benefit pension scheme in the UK,
the assets of which are held as a segregated fund and administered by trustees. Watson Whyatt Limited, an independent actuary,
carried out the latest triennial actuarial assessment of the scheme as at 31 March 2005, using the projected unit method.

At the date of the last actuarial valuation the actuarial deficit was £153m. The market value of the schemes’' assets was £2,632m
and these assets represented 95% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected increases in eamings
and pensions in payment.

The One Stop Senior Executive Pension Scheme is a funded defined benefit scheme open to senior executives and certain other
employees at the invitation of the company. An independent actuary, using the projected unit method, carried out the latest
actuarial assessment of the scheme as at 5 April 2004.

Overseas
The most significant overseas scheme is the funded defined benefit scheme which operates in the Republic of Ireland. An independent
actuary, using the projected unit method, carried out the latest actuarial assessment of the scheme as at 1 April 2004,

The valuations used for IAS 19 have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations and updated by Watson Wyatt Limited to
take account of the requirernents of IAS 19 in arder to assess the liabilities of the schemes as at 24 February 2007. The schemes’
assets are stated at their market values as at 24 February 2007, Buck Consultants (Ireland) Limited have updated the maost recent
Republic of Ireland valuation, The liabilities relating to retirement healthcare benefits have also been determined in accordance with
IAS 19, and are incorporated in the following tables.

Principal assumptions

The valuations used have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations and updated by Watson Wyatt Limited to take account
of the requirements of 1AS 19 in order to assess the liabilities of the schemes as at 24 February 2007. The major assumptions, on a
weighted average basis, used by the actuaries were as follows:

2007 2006 2005

% % %

Rate of increase in salaries 4.5 4.0 39
Rate of_in-crease in p-ensi-d;s— in paymentr ) ) o T 3.0 ) 2.7 o 2.6
Rate of Fr;rea;e in deferr-ec-l_pensio‘ns i - - ) ) 30 _ 27 2.6
R'ate_é}_irjér;a'se in career average benefits T ) i T e 27 ) : 26
Discount rate o ) o ) - T ) 5.2 48 5.4
Price inflation T T T h . 0 27 26

The main financial assumption is the real discount rate i.e. the excess of the discount rate over the rate of price inflation. if this
assumption increased/decreased by 0.1%, the UK defined benefit obligation would decreasefincrease by approximately £105m and
the annual UK current service cost would decreasefincrease by between £12m and £13m.

UK mortality assumptions

Following analysis of the mortality trends under the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme in the UK, which was carrfed out as part of the
formal valuation of the Scheme as at 31 March 2003, it was decided to alter the mortality assumptions used in the formal valuation.
The updated mortality tables as at 31 March 2005 were PMA92C00 for male members and PFAS2C00 for female members.
Similar to last year, this change has been carried through into the calculation of the pension liabilities in the Balance Sheet as

at 24 February 2007 for the main UK fund.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 23 Post-employment benefits continued

The following table illustrates the expectation of life of an average member retiring at age 65 at the Balance Sheet date and
a member reaching age 65 at the same date +25 years.

At 24 Feb At 25 Feb
2007 ) 2006
Inyears in years
Retiring at Reporting date at age 65: Male 17.5 175
i Female ) 219 218
Retiring at Reporting date +25~years at age 65: Male - 7 ’ 18.4 18.4
) Female ' 23.0 23.0
Rates of return on scheme assets

The assets in the defined benefit pension schemes and the expected rates of return were:
2007 2006 2005
Long term Market Long term Market Leng term Market
rate of return value rate of retum value rate of return value
% £m % £m % fm
Equities 8.1 2,420 81 2,134 8.2 1,908
Sonds ) ‘ 5.2 812 t8 656 5.4 560
Property ' 6.7 343 6.4 253 6.8 183
Other (alternative assets) . 8.1 384 BA 282 - -
Cash ) 40 a8 . 37 123 35 67
Total market value of assets 4,007 3,448 2,718

The expected rate of return on assets is a weighted average based on the actual plan asseis held and the respective returns
expected on the separate asset classes. The expected rate of return on equities and cash have both been set with reference to the
expected median return over a ten year period, as ¢alculated by the Company’s independent actuary. The median return over a
longer period than ten years was not expected to be materially different. The expected rate of return on bonds was measured
directly from actual market yields for gilts and corporate bond stocks. The rate above takes into account the actual mixture of UK
gilts, UK corporate bonds and overseas bonds held at the Balance Sheet date.

Movement in pension deficit during the year
Changes in the fair value of defined benefit pension plan assets are as follows:

2007 2006

£m £m

Opening fair value of plan assets 3,448 2,718

Expected retumn ’ ) 255 209

Actuarial gains ) 82 309
Caoniributions by emptoyer ’ 321 270 )

Actual member contributions ' - ' 7 &

Foreign currency translation dif}erences (2) -
Benefits paid (104) (64)

Closing fair value of plan assets 4,007 3,448




Note 23 Post-employment benefits continued

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:

2007 2006

£m Em

QOpening defined benefit obligation (4,659} (3,453}
Current service cost ) ) ) ' (466) (328)
Interest cost 7 . {221) (1-84)
Gainfloss) on change of assumptions ' ’ 71 {(727)
Experience losses ' ’ ' (41) (24)
Foreign currency translation differences ' o 4 m
Benefits paid ’ i ' 104 64
Actual member contributio‘ns- ) i ) ) (6}
Past service gains - ) - 258 -
Closing defined benefit cbligation (4,957) {4,659)

The amounts that have been charged to the Income Statement and Statemnent of Recognised Income and Expense for the year
ended 24 February 2007 are set out below:

2007 2006
£m £m
Analysis of the amount (charged)/credited to operating profit:
Current service cost ’ 7 (466) (328)
Past service gains i - 258 -
Total charge to operating profit (208) (328)
Analysis of the amount credited/{charged) to finance income:
Expected return on ;Jension schemes' assets ) ’ 7 255 209
interest on pension schemes’ liabilities . ' o ) (221} (184)
MNet pension finance income {note 5} 34 25
Total charge to the Income Statement (172) {303)

In line with changes to the Finance Act 2006, the scheme rules were amended from 6 April 2006 to allow employees to commute
(convert) a larger proportion of their pension for a cash lump sum at retirement. Accordingly, the assumptions made in calculating
the Group’s defined benefit pension liability have been revised, resulting in a gain of £250m being recognised in Group operating
profit, Future revisions to this assumption will be reflected in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense. Changes to
scheme rules in the Republic of Ireland affecting early retirement have reduced pension liabilities by a further £8m, which is also
shown as a past service gain in the Income Statement.

2007 2006 2005 -

Fm £m fm = g

Analysis of the amount recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense: :zb ;
Actual return less expected rewrn On-pension ;bchemes‘rassets i ) 82 309 66 2 ‘_’:
Experience losses arising on the schemes’ qub[lities 4an (24} (14) ; 2
Currency gain/(loss} . . ) 2 m - E T
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the schemes’ liahilities 71 (727) (282) E S
Total gain/(loss) recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense 114 (443) (230 g 8
A0

The cumulative losses recognised through the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense since the date of transition to IFRS .
are £559m (2006 — £673m}.




Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 23 Post-employment benefits continued

Summary of movements in deficit during the year

2007 2006 2005
£m £m £m
Deficit in schemes at beginning of the year (1,211 {735) 674)
Current service cost - i i (466) (328) 272
Past service gains i o 258 R -
Other finance income ) 34 25 4
Contributions 321 270 437+
Foreign currency trénslation dim;rence; o ) B 2 7 (W] -
Actuarial gain/(loss) . 112 {442) (230)
Deficit in schemes at end of the year (9509 {(1,211) (735)

* Includes additional contribution of £200m paid in February 2005.

History of movements

The histarical movement in defined benefit pension schemes assets and liabilities and history of experience gains and losses are

as follows:
2007 2006 2005 2004
Em £m £m £m
Total market value of assets B 4,007 3,448 2,718 1,979
Present value of liabilities relating to unfunded schemesr ) 27 (17 (12) (5)
Present value of liabilities relating to partially funded schemes (4,930) (4,642) (3,441) (2,648)
Pension deficit {950) (1,211) (735) (674)
Experience gains on scheme assets 82 309 66 192
Experience losses on plan liabilities (41) 24) {14) (48)

Post-employment benefits other than pensions

The Company operates a scheme offering retirement healthcare benefits. The cost of providing these benefits has been accounted

for on a similar basis to that used for defined benefit pension schemaes.

The liability as at 24 February 2007 of £11m (2006 — £10rm) was determined in accordance with the advice of independent actuaries.
In 2006/07, £0.5m (2006 — £0.5m) has been charged to the Income Statement and £0.6m (2006 - £0.7m) of benefits were paid.

A change of 1.0% in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effect:

2007 2006

£fm £m

Effect on the annual service and interest cost 0.1 0.1
Effect an defined benefit obligations 1.3 1.0

Expected contributions

The Group expects to make contributions of approximately £352m to defined benefit pension schemes in the year ending

23 February 2008.




Note 24 Called up share capital

2007 2006
Ordinary shares of 5p each Ordinary shares of 5p each
Number £m Number £m
Authorised:

At beginning of year 10,700,000,000 535 10,600,000,000 530
Authorised during the year 7 158,000,000 8 ’ 100,000,000 5
At end of year 10,858,000,000 543 10,700,000,000 535

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
At beginning of year 7,894,476,917 395 7,783,169,542 389
Scrip dividend election ) 75,205,082 3 53,639,219 3
Share options 75,994,892 4 57,668,156 3
Share buyback (98,327,533) o - -
At end of year 7,947,349,558 397 7.894,476,917 395

During the financial year, 151 million (2006 ~ 111 million} shares of 5p each were issued for aggregate consideration of £395m
(2006 — £290m), which comprised £239m (2006 — £167m) for scrip dividend and £156m (2006 — £123m) for share options.

During the year, the Company purchased and subseguently cancelled 98,327,333 shares of 5p each (representing 1% of the called
up share capital) at an average price of £3.89 per share. The total consideration, including expenses, was £385m. The excess of the
consideration aver the nominal value has been charged to retained earnings.

Between 25 February 2007 and 16 April 2007, options over 3,263,739 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the
savings-related share option scheme (1981) and the lrish savings-related share option scheme (2000}. Between 25 February 2007
and 16 April 2007, options over 2,242,269 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the executive share option
schemes {1994 and 1996) and the discretionary share option plan (2004).

As at 24 February 2007, the Directors were authorised to purchase up to a maximurn in aggregate of 790.5 million (2006 -
778.7 million) ordinary shares.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time-to-time and are entitled to one vote per share
at the meetings of the Company,

Share buyback liability

Insider trading rules prevent the Group from buying back its own shares in the market during specified close periods (including the
period between the year end and the annual results announcement). However, if an irrevocable agreement is signed beween the
Group and a third party, they can continue to buy back shares on behalf of the Group. Two such arrangements were in place at the
year end and in accordance with 1A5 32, the Group has recognised a financial lisbility equal to the estimated value of the shares
purchasable under these agreements. A liability of £90m (2006 — £nil) has been recognised within ather creditors for this amount.

Capital redemption reserve
Upon cancellation of the shares purchased as part of the share buyback, a capital redemption reserve is created representing the
nominal value of the shares cancelled. This is a non-distributable reserve.
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Notes to the financial staternents continued

Note 25 Statement of changes in equity

Total
QOther . . equity
reserves Retazined earnings attributable
Issued Capital to equity
share Share Merger redemption  Hedging Translation  Treasury  Retained holders of Minority
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve shares  earnings the parent  interests Total
Em £m Em £m £m Em £Em £m £m fm Em
At 25 February 2006 395 3,988 40 - 5 i8 {49) 4,963 9,380 64 9,444
Foreign currency translation
differences - - - - - (59) - - 59 (6) (63)
Actuarial gain on defined
benefit schemes - - - - - 2 - 112 114 - 114
Tax on items taken directly to
or transferred from equity - - - - - (20) - 32 12 - 12
Decrease in fairvalue of
available-for-sale financial assets - - - - - - - () {1 - {1
Losses on cash flaw hedges - - - - (38) - - - (38) - (38)
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - (105) - (105) - (105)
Share-based payments - - - - - - - 185 185 - 185
Issue of shares 7 388 - - - - - - 395 - 395
Share buyback (5) - - 5 - - - (475) (475) - (475)
Future purchases of mingrity interests - - - - - - - (88) (88) - (88)
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 1,892 1,892 7 1,899
Equity dividends authorised
in the year - - - - - - - (7086) (706) - (706)
At 24 February 2007 397 4376 40 5 (33) (G99 (154) 5914 10,506 65 10,571
Total
equity
Other . ) attributable
lssued reserves Retained earnings equity
share Share Merger  Hedging Translation  Treasury Retained holders of  Minority
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve shares  earnings the parent interests Jotal
£m £m £m £m Em £m Em £m fm £m
At 26 February 2005 389 3,704 40 (34) 11 {87 4266 8,289 51 8,340
Foreign currency translation differences - - - - 26 - - 26 7 33
Actuarial loss on defined
benefit schemes - - - - m - (442) (443) - (443)
Tax on items taken directly to
or transferred fram equity - - - - 2 - 131 133 - 133
Increase in fair value of available-for-sale .
financial assets - - - - - - 2 2 - 2
Gains on cash flow hedges - - - 39 - - - 39 - 39
Net movernent relating to
share-based payments - - - - - 38 45 83 - 83
Issue of shares 6 284 - - - - - 290 - 290
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1,570 1,570 6 1,576
Equity dividends authorised
in the year - - - - - - (609) {609) - (609)
At 25 February 2006 395 3,988 40 5 38 (49 4,963 9,380 %] 9,444




Note 25 Statement of changes in equity continued

Share premium account
The share premium account is used to record amounts received in excess of the nominal value of shares on issue of new shares,

Translation reserve

The translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries, It is also used to record the movements in net investment hedges.

Treasury shares

During the year, the qualifying employee share ownership trust (QUEST) subscribed for 1.5 million shares from the Company,

a negligible percentage of called-up share capital as at 24 February 2007 (2006 — 10 million, 0.1%}). There were no contributions
(2006 - £12m) to the QUEST from subsidiary undertakings.

The employee benefit trusts hold shares in Tesco PLC for the purpose of the various executive share incentive and profit share
schemes. At 24 February 2007, the trusts held 57.0 million shares (2006 — 48.4 million), which cost £184m {2006 — £140m) and
had a market value of £254m (2006 — £163m).

Merger reserve

The merger reserve arose on the acquisition of Hillards PLC in 1987.

Other

The cumulative goodwill written-off against the reserves of the Group as at 24 February 2007 amounted to £718m (2006 - £758m).
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 26 Business combinations

The Group has made a numiber of acquisitions in the year, of which the material acquisitions have been disclosed separately and
the remainder shown in aggregate.

The net assets and results of the acquired business are included in the consolidated accounts of the Group from the date of
acquisitioh. Acquisition accounting has been applied and the goodwill arising has been capitalised and is subject to annual
impairment testing.

The goodwill acquired in the business combinations listed below has been allocated to the single group of cash-generating units
represented by the acquired businesses, as this is the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored internaily.
Goodwill arising on acquisitions in the year is attributable mainly to custormer loyalty, the assembled workforce and the synergies
expected to be achieved.

The fair values currently established for acquisitions made in the year to 24 Febnuary 2007 are provisional. Fair values will be reviewed
based on additional information up to one year from the date of acquisition. The Directors do not believe that any net adjustments
resulting from such a review would have a material effect on the Group.

Had all the combinations listed below taken place at the beginning of the financial year, the operating profit of the Group would
have been £2,626m and revenue from continuing operations would have been £43,306m. The pro forma information is provided for
comparative purposes only and does not necessarily reflect the actual results that would have occurred, nor is it necessarily indicative
of future results of operations of the combined companies.

Carrefour Ceska Republika s.r.o
On 31 May 20086, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Carrefour Ceskd Republika s.r.o, a retailer in the Czech Republic,
as part of an asset swap deal for our Taiwanese business (see note 7).

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Carrefour Ceska Republika s.r.o as at the date of acquisition were:

Pre-acquisition Recognised
carrying Fairvatue values on
amounts adjustments acquisition
£m £m Em
Property, plant and equipment 88 (3) 85
Investment proper-ty ’ N o ) 30 R 30
Deferred tax asset ) - 18 18
Inventories ) ) 7 - o o 17 7 10
Trade and other receivables ’ 7 B N i T 69 i -(5] 64
Cash and cash equival-ents 13 - 13
Trade and other payables ) ) o (166) (16} (182)
Net assets acquired 51 (13) i
Goodwill arising on acquisiticn 7 32
70

Consideration:
Cash consideration 67
Costs associated v;rith the acqui.siaion - N i i 3
Total consideration : 70

From the date of acquisition, the acquired business has contributed £151m to revenue and £8m of operating losses to the Group.




Note 26 Business combinations continued

Makro
On 24 January 2007, Tesco Stores Malaysia Sdn Bhd acquired 100% of the share capital of Makro Cash & Carry Distribution (M}
5dn Bhd, which operates a chain of.eight stores in Malaysia.

The fair value of the identifiabte assets and liabilities of Makro Cash & Carry Distribution (M) Sdn Bhd as at the date of acquisition were:

Pre-atquisition Recognised

carrying Fairvalue values on

amounts adjustments acquisition

Em £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 31 (10) 21
Inveszm-ent property B ) T 2 — 2
Inventaries S i 10 ) 9
Tirat‘ieiandrotvher rece;i;abtes - - T - o ) 5 7 6 117
Triad‘e and other pé;abtes - T o o o ) -(32) o (35]
Provisions ’ m - 1)
Net assets acguired 15 (5) i0
G_c-m_d-will -arismg on a-cq-uisition o T - o i N ) 6.3
73

Consideration:

Cash consideration 72
Cos-ts associated WEH the ar.quisilrionA - ) ' h o - 1
Total consideration 73

From the date of acquisition, the acquired business has contributed £12m to revenue and £nil to the operating profit of the Group.

Hymall
On 12 December 2006, the Group acquired a further 40% of the share capital of its joint venlure, Hymall, a retail chain in China,
giving the Group control of the entity, making it a subsidiary entity.

On the same day, the minority shareholders of Hymall entered into an agreement 1o sell their remaining share of the business to
Tesco by 2009. Under IAS 32, the net present value of the future payments are shown as a financial liability, the value of which was
£48m at 24 February 2007,

The fairvalue of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Hymall as at the date of acquisition were:

Pra-acquisition Recognised
carrying Fair value values on
amounts adjustments acquisition
£m Em £m
Praperty, plant and equipment a5 - 95
Deferred tax asset ) ’ i 4 _ 4
Inveniories - ’ 59 - 39
Trade and other receivables i ) 49 - 49
Cash and cash equiﬁélents o T N ' C o 33' - 33
Traae and other payé{;les ' ) (2'19) - 219)
Provisions ' ' - ’ @3) - (23)
Net liabilities (22) - {22)
Mino}ity interest C ) i 2
Transferred from investment in joint ventures . - 11
Net liabilities acquired 9
Goodwill arising on acquisitian of additional shares (in addition to previously held goodwill of £156m) ) 190
181
Consideration:
Cash consideration 180
Cnsts- associated with the acquisition ’ h ’ - - 1
Total consideration 181

As Hymall was acquired towards the end of their financial year, it has continued to be treated as a joint venture in 2006/07. However,
the net liabilittes of Hymalt have been consolidated as a subsidiary within the Group Balance Sheet as at 24 February 2007. From
the start of 2007/08, Hymall's net result will be consolidated with that of the Group.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 26 Business combinations ccntinued

Leadér Price .
On 30 November 2006, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Leader Price Polska Sp. z.0.0, which operates a chain of
146 stores in Poland.

The fairvalue of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Leader Price Polska Sp. 2.0.0 as &t the date of acquisition were:

Pre-acquisition Recognised
camrying Fair value values on
amounts adjustments acquisition
£m Em £m
Property, plant and equipment 81 (14) 67
Intangible assets 7 ) - ) 1 m -
Deferred tax asset ) - - ) ) - 8 8
Inventories - . ’ ) i 10 (2) 8
Trade and other receivables - o - 14 (1 ’ 13
Cash and cash equ-i‘valents A i ' 4 - 4
Trade and other pajables ' ) - (83) 7 el
Provisions - ) o o - @ @)
Net assets acquired 27 2% 6
Goodwill arising on acquisition . ) 7 ‘ 4
10

Consideration:
Cash consideration 7
Costs associated v;'ifh the acqui;ition . ) ) 3
Total consideration . 10

From the date of acquisition, the acquired business has contributed £31m to revenue and £4m of operating losses to the Group.




Note 26 Business combinations continued

dunnhumby Limited
0On 19 April 2006, the Group acquired a further 31% of the share capital of one of its joint ventures, dunnhumby Limited, a data analysis
group incorporated in the United Kingdom, making it a subsidiary entity.

On the same day, the minority shareholders of dunnhumby entered into an agreement to sell their remaining share of the business
to Tesco in two tranches by 2011, The purchase price will reflect the valuation of these shares on the purchase dates. Under IAS 32,

the net present value of the future payments are shown as a financial liability, the value of which was £38m at 24 February 2007.

The fairvalue of the identifiable assets and lizbilities of dunnhumby Limited as at the date of acquisition were:

Pre-acquisition Recognised

carrying Fairvalue valqe‘sron

amounts adjustments acquisition

£m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 4 - 4

Intangible assets. ’ i 1 - —1-
Invesm:aer;t in joint ventu-re' N ) T o S 3 - 3_
Deferred income tax asset - T C 1 . 1

Trade and other receivables ’ 16 - 16

Cash ana caéh eqx;ivalenis_-'—- o T ) i - -12 i T 12
Trade a_r;d_o{h-e-r payables o T S T S M(;n 9) - ) {1 9)—

Nei assets 18 - 18
Minorityaieresl T T . o T ) - (-3_)
Transferre_d from investn:e;; in jéimventures ————— - T i T i ’ (-1—0)-

Net assets acquired 5
Goodwill arising on acquisition of additional shares (in addition to previously held goodwill of £10m) ) . 75

30

Consideration:

Cash consideration 30
Costs ass_t)‘ciated with the acqﬁisinion- . ST T ’ N o —

Total consideration 30

From the date of acquisition, the acquired business has contributed £32m ta revenue and £5m of operating profit to the Group.

Other acquisitions

The other acquisitions in the year include the share capital or the trade and assets of Edeka, Hikso Limited, Maintenance One
Limited and Tesco Home Shopping Limited. The companies acquired undertake activities including retailing, software develoepment

and maintenance services.

The book and fairvalues of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition are disclosed in the table below:

Pre-acquisition Recognised

carrying Fair value values on

amounts adjustments acquisition

£m £m £m

‘Property, plant and equipment 6 - 6
Inventories - ) B ) ) h 2 - 2 )
Bank loans and overdrafts I o 3) - (35-
Trade and cther payables o 2 - (2]‘

Net assets 3 - 3

Transferre_d -from investrt:ueﬁg_in joint ventures T o . T h 2

Net assets acquired 5

Goodwill arising on acguisition i 1‘3

18

Consideration:

Cash consideration 18

Costs asso-ciazed with Lhe;équisition T 7 i T S o -

Total consideration 18

The post-acquisition contribution of the other acquisitions to the Group was £33m to revenue and £2m of operating losses.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

¢

Note 27 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are
not disclosed in this note. Transactions between the Group and its joint ventures and associates are disclosed below:

i) Trading transactions

Sales to Purchases from Arnounts owed by Amounts owed to

related parties related parties related parties related parties

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Em £m £m £m £m Em £m £m

Joint ventures 144 95 190 195 5 19 45 -
Associates 3 - 658 502 - - 83 79

Sales to related parties consists of services/management fees and loan interest.

Purchases from related parties include £107m (2006 — £104m) of rentals payable to the Group’s joint ventures, including those joint
ventures formed as part of the sale and leaseback programme.

ii) Non-trading transactions

Sale and Loans to Loans from Injection of

leaseback of assets related parties related parties eguity funding

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

£m £m £fm £m £m £m £m £m

Joint ventures 527 529 163 122 10 9 47 35
Associates - - - - - - 3 1

Transactions between the Group and the Group’s pension plans are disclosed in note 23,

Tesco Stores Limited is a member of ane or more partnerships to whom the provisions of the Partnerships and Unlimited
Companies (Accounts) Regulations 1993 {'Regulations') apply. The accounts for those partnerships have been consolidated
into these accounts pursuant to regulation 7 of the Regulations.

On 20 December 2006, the Group formed a property joint venture with British Airways Pension Fund. The limited partnership
contains 16 superstares which have been sold from and leased back to Tesco. The Group sold assets for net proceeds of £454m
{approximating to market value) to the joint venture which had a net book value of £233m. 50% of the resulting profit has

been recognised within profit arising on property-related items with the remaining percentage deferred on the Balance Sheet in
accordance with [AS 31 ‘Interests in Joint Ventures', Another smaller transaction was completed during the year with Morley where
£73m of assets werte transferred.

iii) Transactions with key management personnel

Only members of the Board of Directors of Tesco PLC are deemed to be key management personnel. it is the Board who have
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. Key management personnel compensation

is disclosed in the audited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report. ’

During the year, there were no other material transactions or balances between the Group and its key management personnel
or members of their close family.




Note 28 Reconciliation of profit before tax to net cash generated from operations
2007 2006
£m £m
Profit befare 1ax 2,653 2,235
Net finance costs T ’ C ’ - ‘ 126 127
Share of post-tax pr;)fits of joint ventur-es and‘associates - . - (106) 82)
Profit on sale of investments in associates 7 ' ‘ (25) . -
Operating profit ) 2,648 2,280
Opéra[ing loss of discontinued operation ’ ) {4) 9
Depretiation and amortisation o ) - ) ) 378 338
Prof:nt arising on property-rg@ted items . | ) - (92} . . an
Loss on disposal of non-propert;_a_ssets : ’ - - 4
Net impairmentl(réversal o? impai_rrﬁent] of pl’:JDEF[y, plant and equipment T 19 (5)
Adjustment for non-ca-sh élerﬁé?ﬁ of pensionsicharge o 7 (113) 58
Share-based payrﬁ;ants o ) a - I ) 185 142
Iﬁcrease in inventories S o 7 (420) (146)
Increase in trade and othe:r receiva-blés ) a1 (38)
Increase in trade énd other payables ) ) | 512 ) 365
Decrease in working capital 7 ' oo 7 1 181
Cash generated from operations 3,532 3,412
Note 29 Analysis of changes in net debt
Other
At 25 Feb non-cash At 24 Feb
2006 Cash flow maovements 2007
£m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 1,325 (265) (18) 1,042
Financ.e -le:ase receivét;.es T ’ 7 17 (E)L i - 12
Derivative financial instru-men-ts o i . o ) 70 --(61-] 99 108
Cash and receivables 1,412 (331) 81 1,162
Bank and other borrowings {1,626) 442 (334) {1,518)
Finance lease payables i ) - (20) 7 (23} (36}
Derivative ﬁnancial- instrnjments aﬁd_other Iiabi[ities ) (239) 232 - (80) (87
Debt due within one year {1,885) 681 (437 (1,641)
Bank and other barrowings (3,658) 819) 478 (3.999)
Finance lease payables ; (84) (86) 23 (147)
Derivative financial instruments and other liabilities N ) (294 ETRE (127 399)
Debt due after one year (4,036) (88%) 374 (4,545)
{4,509) (533) 18 (5,024)

=z
Z0
23
Zm
Nwn
-
- QO
W
43T
>
m &y
=
mQ
Zc
—
A




Notes to the financial statements continued

Note 30 Commitments and contingencies

Capital commitments

On 24 February 2007 there were commitments for capital expenditure contracted for, but not provided, of £2,003m (2006 — £1,578m),
principally relating to the store development programme,

Contingent liabilities

The Company has irrevocably guaranteed the liabilities, as defined in section 5(c) of the Republic of Ireland (Amendment Act) 1986,
of various subsidiary undertakings incorporated in the Republic of Ireland.

Tesco Personal Finance, in which the Group owns a 50% joint venture share, has commitments, as described in its own financial
statements as at 31 December 2006, of formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments to lend, totalfing £5.5bn
{2006 - £6.0bn). The amount is intended to provide an indication of the volume of business transacted and not of the underlying
credit or other risks.

For details of assets held under finance leases, which are pledged as security for the finance lease liabilities, see note 11.

There are a number of contingent liabilities that arise in the narmal course of business which if realised are not expected to result
in a material liability to the Group. In connection with the railway tunnel collapse at Gerrards Cross, the Group is Currently assessing
a number of potential claims. Due to the nature of those claims it is not currently possible to assess any liabilities or potential
recoveries, therefore no provision has been made. The final outcome is not expected to be material to the Group.

Note 31 Leasing commitments

Finance lease commitments — Group as lessee
The Group has finance leases for various items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fiitings. There are also a small number of buildings
which are held under finance leases. The fairvalue of the Group’s lease obligations approximate to their carrying value.

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchase contracts, tegether with the present value of the net
minimum lease payments are as follows:

Present value of

Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments

2007 2006 2007 2006

£m £m £m £m

Within one year ] 38 23 36 20

Greater than one year but less‘tﬁan five years ) ) a 109 7 37 90 27

Aﬁer five years T T o 130 i 132 57 57

Total minimum lease payments 277 192 183 104
Less future finance charges . 7 T o (94) - (88)
Present value of minimum lease payments 183 104

Analysed as:

Current finance lease payable; 7 - o 36 - 20
Non-current finance lease payé—]bh?s ) ) 147 . 84
183 104

Finance lease receivables — Group as lessor

In 20086, the Group entered into finance leasing arrangements with UK staff for certain of its electrenic equiprment as part of the
Computers for Staff scheme. The average term of finance leases entered into was three years. The interest rate inherent in the leases
is fixed at the contract date for all of the lease term. The average effective interest rate contracted approximates to 4.0% (2006 -
4.6%) per annum. The fairvalue of the Group's finance lease receivables at 24 February 2007 is estimated at £12m (2006 — £17m).




Note 31 Leasing commitments continued

Future minimum lease receivables under finance leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease receivables
are as follows:

Present value of

Minimum jease receivables minimum lease receivables
2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m fm
Within one year 7 7 6 6
Greater than one year but less than five yea_rs+ N - h 6 ' 12 ) 6 1
Total minimum lease receivables 13 19 12 17
Less unearned finance income T - N 2
Net lease receivables 12 17
Analysed as:
Current ﬁnance lease receivables T T ) 6 T 6
Non- curr:n; Fnance lease recervables T ’ ’ . 6 "
12 17

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessee
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2007 2006

Emn £m

Within one year ) 379 315
Greatér t_h;n one year but less than five years‘ ’ - o ’ h ) 1,444 1,105
After five years i T o ) T ) ) 4,838 3,795
Total minimum lease payments - 6,661 5215

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its retail, distribution and office properties and other
assets such as motor vehicles. The leases have varying terms, purchase options, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

Operating lease commitments with joint ventures

Since 1988, the Group has entered into several joint ventures and sold and leased back properties to and from these joint ventures.
The terms of these sale and leasebacks vary, however, common factors include: the sale of the properties to the joint venture at
market value, options at the end of the lease for the Group to repurchase the properties at market value, market rent reviews and
20-25 year lease terms. The Group reviews the substance as well as the form of the arrangements when making the judgement as
10 whether these leases are operating or finance leases; the majority of the leases under these arrangements are operating leases.

Operating lease receivables - Group as lessor
The Group both rents out its investment properties and also sub-lets various leased buildings under operating leases. At the Balance

m

Sheet date, the following future minimum lease payments are contractually receivable from tenants: )E’ 3

2 m

2007 2006 A

Em £m ,2 o

Within one year 123 84 “ :‘:'
. - . 5

Greater than one year but less than five years 260 234 o g

After five years 268 283 =23

mo

Total minimum lease payments 651 601 f %
v

Note 32 Events after the balance sheet date

©n 20 March 2007, the Group formed a property joint venture with The British Land Company PLC. The limited partnership contains
21 superstores which have been sold from and leased back to Tesco. The Group sold assets to the joint venture with a fair value of
approximately £650m and a net bookvalue of approximately £350m; 50% of the resulting profit will be recognised within profit
arising on property-related items with the remaining percentage deferred on the Balance Sheet in accordance with I1AS 31 ‘Interests
in Joint Ventures’.

In March 2007, the Group issued two bonds: £500m paying interest at 5.2%, matunng in 2057 and €600m paying interest at
5.125%, maturing in 2047.




Five year record

UK GAAP IFRS
2003 2004 2005 2005 2006 2007
53 wks
Financial statistics
Group sales (including VAT) (£m) 28,280 33,557 37,070 36,957 43,137 46,611
Revenue (excluding VAT) (£m) '
UK 21,309 24,760 27,146 27,146 29,990 32,665
Rest of Europe 2,664 3,385 3,818 3,818 5,095 5,559
Asia 2,031 2,669 3,010 7 2,902 4369 4417
26,004 30,814 33,974 33,866 39,454 42,641
Operating profit2 (Em)
UK 1,289 1,486 1,666 1,556 1,788 2,083
Rest of Europe 134 171 249 243 263 324
Asia 69 121 149 153 229 241
Total Group 1,492 1,778 2,064 1,952 2,280 2648
Operating profit margin2
UK 6.0% 6.0% 6.1% 5.7% 6.0% 6.4%
Rest of Europe 5.0% 5.1% 6.5% 6.4% 5.2% S.8%
Asia 3.4% 4.5% 5.0% 5.3% 5.2% 5.5%
Total Group 57% 5.8% 6.1% 5.8% 5.8% 6.2%
Goodwill amortisation (Em) {23) (54) 67) - - .
Share of results of joint ventures and associates? (£m) 42 59 69 ' 74 B2 106
Profit an sale of investment in associates - - - - - 25
Net finance costs3 (£m) ' (166) (209) {136) (132) (127 (126)
Profit before tax (£rm) 1,345 1,574 1,930 1,894 2,235 2,653
Taxation3 (Em) (399) (472) [5615 {541) (649) (772)
Minority interests (£m) - 2) (3) (3) )] N
{Loss)/profit for the period from discontinued operation (Em) - . - ®) (10) 18
Profit for the financial year attributable to
equity holders of the parent (Em} 946 1,100 1,366 1,344 1,570 1,892
Underlying profit = UK GAAPS (Em) 1,401 1,708 2,029 Nfa Nfa Nia
Underlying profit — IFRSS (£m}) Nia Nfa Nia 1,925 2,277 2,545

+ Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 include 52 weeks for the UK and RO) ang 14 months for the majority of the remaining International businesses.

2 Qperating profit includes integration costs and profiv{loss) arising on sale of fixed assets, Operating margin is based upon revenue excluding VAL

3 Share of results of joint ventures and asspciates is stated net of the interest and tax of the Group's joint ventures and associates. The Group's charges far interest and tax have

been reduced by these amounts.

4 Consists of the net result of the Taiwanese business which was sold during the year.
5 UK GAAP underlying profit excluded net profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets, integration costs and gaodwil! amortisation. IFRS underlying profit exchudes IAS 32 and 1AS 39
‘Financial Instruments’ - Fair value remeasurements, and the 145 19 Income Statement charge, which is replaced by the ‘normal’ cash contributions for pensions. For further
details of this measure, see page 54. For the years 2003 to 2005 the above information is presented under UK GAAP as previously published. If IFRS had been applicable for

these years the main agjustments would have been IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment’, IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations' and IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits™.




UKGAAP IFRS
2003 2004 2005 2005 2006° 2007
53 wks

Enterprise values (£m) 16,896 23,866 27,853 27,910 30,841 40,469
Basic eamings per share? T © 9354p 15.05p T97.72p 17.52p 20.20p 23.61p
Diluted earnings per share? - T 4zap 1493 17.50p 17.30p 19.92p 23.31p
Dividend per share8 T "7 8200 ®8&p  7156p  1.5Bp 8.63p 964p
Return on shareholders' funds? o 22.3% 21.8% 27%  232% 24.9% 26.7%
Return on capital employed?© S ' 102%  10.4% 11.5% 11.8% 12.7% 13.6%15
Group statistics
Number of stores T 2,291 2,318 2,334 2,334 2,672 3,263
Total sales area — 000 sq ft1) T ' 39,944 45,402 29,135 49,135 55,215 68,189
Average employees T T T T 270800 310411 335,750 355,750 368,213 413,061
Average full-time equivalent employees 188,182 223,335 242,980 242,980 273,024 318,283
UK retail statistics
Number of stores ST qesr T 1878 C 4780 1,780 1898 1,988
Total sales area - 000 sq fti! T 21,829 23,291 24,207 24,207 25,919 27,785
Average store size (sales area — sq fo12 29455 30,890 31,677 31,677 32,816 34,209
Average full-time equivalent employees 133,051 152,408 163,006 163,006 175,459 184,461
UK retail productivity (£)
Revenue per employeeld T T 180,157 162,459 166,534 166,534 170,923 177,084
Profit per employee’ T 9688 9750 10,220 9,564 10,190 11,292
Weekly sales per sq ft!4 ) T 218 2248 23.89 23.89 25.06 75.48

& Market capitalisation plus net debt,

7 Basic and diluted earnings per share are on a continuing operations basis.
2 Dividend per share relating to the interim and proposed final dividend.

9 Profit before tax divided by average shareholders’ funds.

10 The numerator is profit befare interest, less tax. The denominator is the calculated average of net assets plus ret debt plus dividend creditor less net assets held for sale.

11 Store sizes exclude lobby and restaurant areas.
12 Average store size excludes Express and Gne Stop stores.

13 Based an average number of full-time equivalent empioyees in the UK, revenue exclusive of VAT and aperating profit.

" Based an weighted average sales area and sales excluding praperty development,

15 Includes one-off gain from ‘Pensions A-Day', without this one-off gain ROCE was 12.6%.
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Tesco PLC — Parent Company Balance sheet 24 rebrary 2007

20067 2006
notes £m £m
Fixed assets
Investments in subsidiaries an& j.ointv_entu;'es - o T 5 B,373 7 i 7,382
Current assets
Derivati\fe ﬁnanéial instrumentsr o ) o B T 0 108 )
Debtors ) B - T s 5,514 4,857
Current asset investments - N T - i 7 3 90
5,625 5017
Creditors — amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings o ST ) T s ®3) (1,008
Derivative financiat instrument's. o B T ) T T 10 (64) o (239
Other creditors T o T ] 6 @510 (1,397
(3,397) (2,644)
Net current assets 2,228 2,373
Total assets less current liabilities 10,601 9,755
Creditors — amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings T T - S . 39700 (3,560)
Derivative financial instruments. T T S 10 (118) N (48)
(4,086) (3,608)
Met assets 5,515 6,147
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital S s T ) ) 13 397 - 395
Share premium accc;unt ) T o 14 4376 7 3,988
Profit and Ioss: reserve o N ) o 14 1,742 1,764
6,515 6,147

Total equity

Accounting pelicies and notes forming part of these financial statements are on pages 101 to 108.

Sir Terry Leahy
Andrew Higginson

Directors

The Parent Company financial statements on pages 100 to 108 were authorised for issue by the Directors on 16 April 2007 and are
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 29 June 2007.




Notes to the Parent company financial statements

Note 1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared under UK
GAAP using the historical cost convention modified for the
revaluation of certain financial instruments and in accordance
with applicable accounting standards and the Companies
Act 1985,

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies
are set out below.

Exemptions

The Directors have taken advantage of the exemption available
under section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 and not
presented a Profit and Loss Account for the Company alone.

The Company has also taken advaniage of the exemption from
preparing a Cash flow statement under the terms of FRS 1
‘Cash Flow Staternent’, The cash flows of the Company are
included in the Tesco PLC Group financial statements.

The Company is also exempt under the terms of FRS 8
‘Related Parties’ from disclosing related party transactions
with entities that are part of the Tesco PLC Group.

Recent accounting developments

FRS 29 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ and amendments
to 1AS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements — Capital
Disclosures' were issued in August 2005 and are effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.
These amendments revise and enhance previous disclosures
required by FRS 25 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ and
FRS 13 ‘Derivatives and other financial instruments:
Disclosures’. The adoption of FRS 29 will have no impact upon
the results or net assets of the Company.

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective for
2006/07 with no significant impact on the Company:

The following standards, amendments and interpretations are
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after

1 January 2006, however, their implementation has not had a
significant impact on the results or net assets of the Company:

* Amendment to FRS 23 ‘Net investment in foreign
operation’

* Amendments to FRS 26 ‘Financial Instruments;
Recogniticn and Measurement’ on Financial Guarantee
Contracts, the fair value option and cash flow hedge
accounting of forecast intragroup transactions

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective
but not expected to have a significant impact on the Company:
* UITF 41 'Scope of FRS 20

» UITF 42 '‘Reassessment of embedded derivatives’

» FRS 5 ‘Application Note F — private finance and
similar contracts'

Standards, amendments and interpretaticns not yet effective
and under review as to their effect on the Company:
= UITF 45 ‘Liabilities arising from participating in a specific
market — waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE)
— effective from 1 July 2007 (date fram which the WEEE
Directive is applicable in the UK)

b

¢ UITF 44 ‘Group and treasury share transactions’ — effective
for periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007

Money market deposits

Money market deposits are stated at cost. All income from
these investments is included in the Profit and Loss Account
as interest receivable and similar income.

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
Investments ini subsidiaries and joint ventures are stated at cost
less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.

Foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities in fareign currencies are translated into
Pounds Sterling at the financial year end exchange rates.

Share-based payments

Employees of the Company receive part of their remuneration
in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby
employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over
shares (equity-settled transactions).

The fairvalue of employee share option plans is calculated at
the grant date using the Black-5choles model. In accordance
with FRS 20 ‘Share-based payment’ the resulting cost is
charged to the Profit and Loss Account over the vesting perfod.
The value of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected and
actual levels of vesting.

Where a subsidiary awards options over the shares of the
Company, this is treated as a capital contribution.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
Company's Balance Sheet when the Company becomes a party
to the contraciual provisions of the instrument.

Debtors

Debtors are non interest-bearing and are recognised initially at
fairvalue, and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method, reduced by appropriate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts.

Current asset investments

Investments are classified as either held for trading or
available-for-sale, and are measured at subsequent reporting
dates at fairvalue. For held for trading, gains and losses arising
from changes in fairvalue are recognised in the Profit and Loss
Account. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
for available-for-sale investments are recognised directly in
equity, until the security is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired; at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is included in the net result for the period,

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into, An equity instrument is any contract that gives a
residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting
all of its liabilities.
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Notes to the Parent company financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded
at the value of the amount received, net of attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between cost and redermption value being recognised
in the Profit and Loss Account over the period of the
borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Creditors
Creditors are non interest-bearing and are stated at
amortised cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge
its exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising
from operating, financing and investment activities. The
Company does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes, however if derivatives do not
qualify for hedge accounting they are accounted for as such.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised and stated at
fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial
instruments are stated at fair value. The fair value of derivative
financial instruments is determined by reference to market
values for similar financial instruments, or by discounted

cash flows or by the use of option valuation models. Where
derivatives do not gualify for hedge accounting, any gains or
losses on remeasurement are immediately recognised in the
Profit and Loss Account. Where derivatives gualify for hedge
accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on

the nature of the hedge relationship and the item being hedged.

In order to gualify for hedge accounting, the Company is
required to document from inception the relationship between
the item being hedged and the hedging instrument. The
Company s also required to document and demonstrate an
assessment of the relationship between the hedged item and
the hedging instrument, which shows that the hedge will be
highly effective on an ongoing basis. This effectiveness testing
is performed at each period end to ensure that the hedge
remains highly effective.

Financial instruments with maturity dates of more than one
year from the Balance Sheet date are disclosed as falling due
after more than one year. '

Fair value hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value
hedges when they hedge the Company's exposure to changes
in the fairvalue of a recognised asset or liability. Changes in the
fairvalue of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair
value hedges are recorded in the Profit and Loss Account,
together with any changes in the fairvalue of the hedged item
that is attributable to the hedged risk.

f |

Derivative financial instruments qualifying for fairvalue hedge
accounting are principally interest rate swaps (including cross-
currency swaps).

Cash flow hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow
hedges when they hedge the Company's exposure to variability
in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability, or a highly
probable forecasted transaction.

The effective element of any gain or loss from rerneasuring
the derivative instrument is recognised directly in equity.

The associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from
equity and recognised in the Profit and Loss Account in the
same pericd or periods during which the hedged transaction
affects the Profit and Loss Account. The classification of the
effective portion when recognised in the Profit and Loss
Account is the same as the classification of the hedged
transaction. Any element of the remeasurement of the
derivative instrument which does not meet the criteria for
an effective hedge is recognised immediately in the Profit
and Loss Account.

Derivative instruments gualifying for cash flow hedging
are principally forward foreign exchange transactions and
currency options.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting. At that point in time, any cumulative
gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity

is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If

a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net
cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is transferred to
the Profit and Loss Account.

Net investment hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as net
investment hedges when they hedge the Company’s net
investment in an overseas operation. The effective element
of any foreign exchange gain or loss from remeasuring the
derivative instrument is recognised directly in equity. Any
ineffective element is recognised immediately in the Profit
and Loss Account. Gains and losses accumulated in equity
are included in the Profit and Loss Account when the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Derivative instruments qualifying for net investment hedging
are principally forward foreign exchange transactions and
currency options.

Pensions

The Company participates in the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme
which is a multi-employer scheme within the Tesco Group and
cannot identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities
of the scheme, Accordingly, as permitted by FRS 17 ‘Retirement
Benefits’, the Company has accounted for the scherne as a
defined contribution scheme, and the charge for the period

is based upon the cash contributions payable.




Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Taxation

Corporation tax payable is provided on the taxable profit for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the
Balance Sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences
that have originated but not reversed at the Balance Sheet
date and would give rise to an obligation to pay more or less
taxation in the future.

Note 2 Auditor remuneration

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that they are
recoverable. They are regarded as recoverable to the extent that
on the basis of all available evidence, it is regarded as more
likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from
which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences
can be deducted. .

Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the
timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws that
have been substantively enacted by the Batance Sheet date.

2007 2006

£m £m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Parent Company and consolidated annual accounts 0.6 0.4
Note 3 Employment costs

2007 2006

£m Em

Wages and salaries 13 10

Social security costs i ) 10 8

Pension costs ! :

Share-based payment expense - equfty 5ettled‘ 19 15

43 35

The average number of employees (all Directors of the Company) during the year was: 15 (2006 — 15).

The Schedule VI requirements for Directors’ Remuneration are included within the Directors’ Rermuneration Report

on pages 27 to 40.

Note 4 Dividends

For details of equity dividends see note 8 in the consolidated Group financial statements,

Note 5 Fixed asset investments

Shares in Group Shares in
undertakings  joint ventures Total
£m £m £m
As at 25 February 2006 7,220 162 7,382
Additions - . o 1,032 - 1,032
Dispo;als i i ’ N (41j - (4_1j
As at 24 February 2007 8,211 162 8,373
For a list of the Carnpany’s principal aperating substdiary undertakings and joint ventures see note 13 in the Group financiat
statermnents.
Note 6 Debtors
2007 2006
£m £m
Amounts ewed by Group undertakings 5337 4,710
Amotjnts owed byjoin;ver-\tures and assoc}étes-(a) o ) - 135 ’ 97
Other debtors ) 13 20
Deferrerd tax asset (b)_ T i i ) 19 . 30 -
Total 5514 4,857

(a) The amounts due from joint ventures and associates of £135m (2006 — £97m) are due after more than one year.
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Notes to the Parent company financial statements continued

Note 6 Debtors continued

b) The deferred tax asset recognised by the Company, and the movements thereon, during the year are as foilows:

Share-based FRS 25 Other timing
payments and RS 26 differences Totat
£m Em £m Em

At 26 February 2006 2 24 4 30
Charge ta profit or lass for the y;aar 7 o T 1 2) - M
At 24 February 2007 3 22 4 29
Note 7 Current asset investments

2007 2006

£m Em

Bonds and certificates of deposit 3 a0
Note 8 Other creditors

2007 * 2006

£m £m
Amounts falling due within one year:
Corporation tax ) ’ T o ) o 7 125 122
Other tax and social security ’ ' o i T o 1 ~
Amot'mts owed to aroup under:u;kings o - - ‘ 7 i 2,163 1,252
Other liabilisies i o ) ’ o o 214 2
Accruals and deferred income ’ ﬁ o ) o 7 24
2,510 1,397
Note 9 Borrowings
Effective

interest rate

Effective  after hedging
Parvalue inerest rate transactions Maturity 2007 2006
% year £m £m
Bank loans and overdrafts - 5.4 5.4 2007 357 386
Loan f;omjoin:vénfure - i - - 2007 10 ) 9
4% unsecured deep discount 1;an stock ) £125m ) - - 2006 - 122
6% Medium Term Notes (MTN} o £150m = . 2006 - 158
0.7% MTN ) ) ¥50bn - T L 2006 - 247
7.5% MTN (3} £258m T 76 5.8 2007 268 344
6% MTN (b) £125m 6.0 5.9 2008 130 268
5.25% MTN €500m T 53 6.0 2008 352 366
5.125% MTN () £192m 54 5.8 2009 190 355
6.625% MTN £150m C 67 6.7 2010 153 153
4.75% MTN €750m " 48 6.2 2010 525 548
3.875% MTN €500m 39 59 201 340 -
4% RP! MTN () £238m 6.6 6.6 2016 244 236
5.5% MTN £350m 5.6 56 2019 349 349
5% MTN £350m 5.1 5.1 2023 361 -
3.322% LPI MTN (o) £241m T s9 5.9 2025 243 736
6% MTN £200m 60 60 2029 198 214
5.5% MTN £200m 56 5.6 2033 197 213
2% RP MTN £20am 46 46 2036 206 .
5% MTN £300m 5.0 5.1 2042 306 -
Other MTNs - Y 2.8 - 364 364
4,793 2,568

(a) The parvalue has been reduced from £325m in 2006 to £258m in 2007 by a buyback of part of the MTN.
(b) The parvalue has been reduced from £250m in 2006 to £125m in 2007 by a buyback of part of the MTN.
(¢} The parvalue has been reduced from £350m in 2006 to £192m in 2007 by a buyback of part of the MTN.
(d) The 4% RPI MTN is redeemabhle at par, indexed for increases in the Retail Price Index over the life of the MTN.
(e) The 3.322% LPI MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the Retail Price Index over the life of the MTN. The maximum indexation period of the principal in any

one year is 5%, with a minimum of 0%.




Note 9 Borrowings continued

2007 2006
£m Em

| Repayment analysis:
Ani'lro-urnls %aTIi;EHL;Q{thIn one year T i T i | 823 o 1,008
A;nour;g ﬁamrllg‘é:;befw;é;l one and ;wo y;;E - i 524 ) 477
| Amounts falling due between two and five years T S 1,327 1795
| Amounts falﬁng due after more than five ;éa?—" o o - ’ i T ) 2,119 - 1,288
4,793 4,568

Note 10 Derivative financial instruments

An explanation of the objectives and policies for holding and issuing financial instruments is set out in the Operating and Financial
Review.

Carrying values of derivative financial instruments in the Balance Sheet:

2007 2006
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
£m Em £m £m
Current
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments S ' 12 @ n (69
Ié(-)rwa_rd fo_r_eign cuﬁncy contracts_ T T o 95 (56) . 59 (170}
108 (64) 70 (239)
Ngn-current
Interest rate ;\;a;;aga similar instruments - - o ) - (116} - - ) (46)
Forward foréig} eﬁgnée ;:ontracts c 0 T ’ - - T (2)
- {116} - (48)
Fair values
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed below:
2007 2006
Carrving Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
£m £m fm £m
Primary financia! instruments held or issued to finance the Company’s operations:
Short-term borrowings o T ) (823) ®13) {1,008) (1,003)
Long-term borrowings. - [ « X7 1) G920y (3,560 (3,665)
Déri\;étiv'ewﬁnancial ;nsf‘rur;lent-s h:ld _t;:)_ma_n;_g—e_ tﬁe interest rate a_l:ld—currency profile: - ' )
Jnterest rate swaps and similar instruments o ' (12) (112) (04 {104)
Forward foreign_c_u}ré_nc-y contracts T - o 40 o (113) (113)
(4,865) (4,805) {4,785) {4,885)
The fair value of financial instruments and derivatives has been determined by reference to prices available from the markets an
which the instruments are traded. The fairvalue of all other items has been calculated by discounting expected future cash flows
at prevailing interest rates,
Analysis of interest rate exposure of financial assets and liabilities
The interest rate exposure of financial assets and liabilities of the Company as at 24 February 2007, after taking into account the
effect of interest rate swaps, was:

Mare than
Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-d years 4-5 years 5 years Total
Em Em £m Em Em £m Em
Fixed rate (fair value interest rate risk)
Bank and other loans 210 (42) (85) (161) 19 (1.,274) (1,791}
Floating rate (cash flow interest rate risk)
Bank and other loans (613) {482) (190} (532) (340) (845} (3.002)
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Notes to the Parent company financial statements continued

Note 10 Derivative financial instruments continued

Hedging activities

Fair value hedges )

The Company uses interest rate swaps and cross-currency swaps to hedge the fairvalue of fixed rate bonds. The total notional
amount of outstanding swaps used for fairvalue hedging is £2,196m with various maturities out to 2033 (2006 — £2,703m;
maturities to 2033).

The fixed rate bonds are hedged against changes to their fairvalue resulting from changes in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates.

The fairvalue of swaps used for fair value hedging at the Balance Sheet date was a liability of £107m (2006 — £100m liability).

Cash flow hedges

The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts and currency options to hedge the cost of future purchases of goeds for
resale, where those purchases are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the Company. The hedging
instruments are primarily used to hedge purchases in Euros and US Dollars. The cash flows hedged will occur within one year of
the Balance Sheet date.

At the Balance Sheet date, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to which the Group has
committed was £764m (2006 — £548m).

The fair value of currency derivatives that are designated as effective cash flow hedges was a liability of £24m (2006 — £4m asset).
This amount has been deferred as a component of equity.

Also in place at the Batance Sheet date were interest rate swaps, designated as cash flow hedges, to hedge the interest cost of debt
instruments issued in March 2007. The fair value of the interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges was a liability of £8m
(2006 — £nil). This amount has been deferred as a compeonent of equity.

Net investment hedges

The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts, currency denominated borrowings and currency options to hedge the
exposure of a proportion of its non-Sterling denominated assets against changes in value due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
The total notional amount of net investment hedging contracts at the Balance Sheet date was £4,250m (2006 — £3,463m).

The fairvalue of these instruments at the Balance Sheet date was an asset of £56m (2006 — £117m liability).

Financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting

The Company has a number of financial instruments which do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting. These instruments
include forward foreign exchange contracts, currency options, caps, collars and interest rate swaps. The fair value of these
instruments at the Balance Sheet date was an asset of £11m (2006 — £5m liability).

Note i1 Share-based payments

Tesco PLC's equity settled share-based payment schemes comprise various share option schemes designed to reward Executive
Directors. For further information on these schemes, including the valuation models and assumptions used, see note 22 to the
Group financial statements.

The number of options and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of share option schemes relating to Tesco PLC's employees are:

For the year ended 24 February 2007

Savings-related Approved Unapproved Nil cost
share option scheme share aption scheme share option scheme share options
Optians WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Cptions WAEP
Qutstanding at
25 February 2006 42,474 203.95 43,965 272,93 12,068,027 245.83 3,459,458 0.00
Granted 7,462 307.00 9,416 318.60 2,664,782 318.60 2,350,549 0.00
Exercised (7,687) 198.00 - 0.00 (3,432,462) 219.84 - -
Qutstanding at
24 February 2007 42,249 223.23 53,381 280.99 11,300,347 270.90 5,810,007 0.00
Exercisable as at
24 February 2007 - - 15,189 - 3,726,996 - - -
Exercise price range (pence) - - - 197.50 - 164.00 to - Nil
259.00

Weighted average remaining
contractual dife {years} - - - 6.16 - 4.58 - -




Note 11 Share-based payments continued
For the year ended 25 February 2006

Savings-related Approved Unapproved Hil cost
share aption scheme share gption scheme share option scheme share cptions
Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Opticns WAEP
Qutstanding at
; 26 February 2005 43,206 194.83 278,079 114.42 10,667,969 230.95 1,126,257 0.00
' Granted 7,788 248.00 28,776 312.75 2,405,116 312,75 2,333,201 0.00
Exercised (8,520) 198.00 (262 ,890) 109.62 (1,005,058} 248.02 - -
Qutstanding at
25 February 2006 42,474 203.95 43,965 27293 12,068,027 24583 3,459,458 0.00
Exercisable as at
25 February 2006 - - - - 4,185,280 - - -
Exercise price range (pence) - - - - 7 - 164.00 to - Nil
259.00
Weighted average remaining
contractual life {years} - - - - - 536 - - ‘

Neote 12 Pensions

The total cost of the Pension scheme to the Group was £167m (2006 — £292m). Further disclosure relating to the Tesco PLC Pension
Scheme can be found in note 23 of the Group financial statements. .

Note 13 Called up share capital

2007 2006
Ordinary shares of 5p each Ordinary shares of Sp each
Number fm Number £m
Authorised:
At beginning of year ) 10,700,000,000 535 10,600,000,000 530
Autharised during the year ’ 158,000,000 8 100,000,000 5
At end of year 10,858,000,000 543 10,700,000,000 535
Allotted, called up and fully paid:
At beginning of year 7,894,476,917 395 7,783,169,542 389
Scrip dividend election ’ 75,205,082 3 53,639,219
Share options ) 75,994,892 4 57,668,156
Share buyback T (98,327,333) ) - -
At end of year 7,947,349,558 397 7,894,476,917 395

During the financial year, 151 million (2006 — 111 million) shares of 5p each were issued for aggregate consideration of £395m.
(2006 ~ £290m), which comprised £239m (2006 - £167m) for scrip dividend and £156m (2006 — £123m) for share options.
During the year, the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 98,327,333 shares of 5p each (representing 1% of the
called up share capital) at an average price of £3.89 per share. The total consideration, inciuding expenses, was £385m. The
excess of the consideration over the nominal value has been charged to retained earnings.

Between 25 February 2007 and 16 April 2007, options over 3,263,739 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of
the savings-related share option scheme (1381) and the Irish savings-related option scheme {2000). Between 25 February 2007
and 16 April 2007, options over 2,242,269 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the executive share option
schemes (1994 and 1996) and the discretionary share option plan (2004). :

As at 24 February 2007, the Directors were authorised to purchase up to a maximum in aggregate of 790.5 million
(2006 - 778.7 millien) ordinary shares.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to received dividends as declared from time-to-time and are entitled to one vote
per share at the meetings of the Company.
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Notes to the Parent company financial statements continued

Note 13 Called up share capital continued

Share buyback liability

Insider trading rules prevent the Group from buying backits own shares in the market during specified close periods (including the
period between the year end and the annual results announcement). However, if an irrevocable agreement is signed beween the
Group and a third party, they can continue to buy back shares on behalf of the Group. Two such arrangements were in place at the
year end and in accordance with FRS 25, the Group has recognised a financial liability equal to the estimated value of the shares
purchasable under these agreements. A liability of £90m (2006 - £nil) has been recognised within other creditors for this amount.

Capital redemption reserve

Upon cancellation of the shares purchased as part of the share buyback, a capital redemption reserve is created representing the

nominal value of the shares cancelled. This is a non-distributable reserve.

Note 14 Reserves

2007 2006
£m Em
Share premium account o
At the start of the year R 3,988 3,704
Prel:r\ium an is-sué-of 5hares WIES-S:\‘;)SB” T T oo T 152 T —120
Scrip dividend election T - T T T T 36 164
At the end of the year . 4376 3,988
Profit and loss reserve o
At the sta;éFtﬁeTéér o T ) ' 1,764 o 1,7?1 '
Géin on foreign ct_Jrrency net iﬁ\;éétrl';eﬁis T T T T ' - 17
FRS 20 ‘Share-based payment’ T 7 - © 205 186
Dividend o S s e - (?06)- a (609)
Decreasé in lfaif\;a‘iixe of availamb"'le_-for-;ake—ﬁa-aﬁ-ci—al-;ss_ets-_ o o T ) N (1 '_ -
Share buyback e - a7s) -
Share buyback - capital redemption T s -
Losses an Eash flow hedges T T o o - 7 38) -
Profit after tax Eor thé 3;eér T T T s T e T 988 h 399
At the end of the year 1,742 1,764




Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tesco PLC

We have audited the Parent Company financial statements of
Tesco PLC for the year ended 24 February 2007 which comprise
the Balance Sheet and the related notes. These Parent
Company financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein, We have also audited the
information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is
described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements
of Tesco PLC for the year ended 24 February 2007.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report,
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Parent Company
financial siatements in accordance with applicable law and
United Kingdem Accounting Standards {(United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the
Statement of Directors' Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Parent Company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited in accordance with relevant tegal and regulatory
requirements and Internaticnal Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared
for and only for the Company's members as a body in
accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and
for no other purpose, We do not, in giving this opinion, accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent

in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Parent
Company financial statements give a true and fair view and
whether the Parent Company financial staterments and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the
infermation given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with
the Parent Company financiai statements. The information
given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific information
presented in the Operating and Financial Review that is

cross referred from the Business Review section of the
Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received alt
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
informaticn specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration
and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Parent
Company financial statements. The other information
comprises only the Directars’ Report, the unaudited part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Operating and
Financial Review. We censider the implications for our report

if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the Parent Company financial statements.
Our respensibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
Parent Company financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes
an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the Directors in the preparation of the Parent
Company financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances,
censistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and perfeimed our audit so as to obtain ali the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the Parent Company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the Parent Company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

¢ the Parent Company financial statements give a true and
fairview, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the
Company’s affairs as at 24 February 2007,

» the Parent Company financial statements and the part of
the Directors’” Remuneration Report to be audited have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985; and

+ the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the Parent Company financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London 16 April 2007
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